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About Mohawk
Mohawk Industries is the world’s largest 

ooring anu a turer  with ull  integrated 
o erations in orth eri a  uro e  

atin eri a and ustralasia  er the 
ast two de ades  Mohawk has e ol ed 

ro  a ni he  ar et anu a turer 
to a glo al residential and o er ial 
su lier with leading ositions in all a or 

rodu t ategories  era i  oor and 
wall tile  ar et and rugs  la inate and 
wood  and lu ur  in l tile  and sheet 
in l  he o an ’s rodu t line has 

e anded to in lude uart  and natural 
stone ounterto s  or elain sla s  anels 
and insulation rodu ts  Mohawk rodu es 
goods in nineteen ountries and has sales 
in a ro i atel   nations



As the global flooring leader, 
we have more ways to drive 
greater sales and profitability.

ro  geogra hi  di ersit  to a o rehensi e rodu t ort olio  to industr leading 
inno ation  to su ess ul relationshi s a ross sales hannels  to a o it ent to 
sustaina ilit  Mohawk has an  ad antages to sei e signi ant growth o ortunities 
in residential and o er ial new onstru tion and re odeling  ter e tended 
e osure to high in ation and rising interest rates  we elie e our arkets will re ound 
when rates de line  as histori al nor s rein or e ulti ear growth a ter downturns  

ith low housing a aila ilit  aging sto k and greater household or ation  we elie e 
de and in our arkets will a elerate as soon as we enter a ore a ora le interest 
rate en iron ent
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MORE Market Potential
In our regions  higher interest rates and in ation ha e led to de erred 
re odeling and redu ed residential onstru tion  hen interest rates 
all  we elie e ore o ortunities will e erge as housing arkets 

re ound and ent u  de and dri es in reased reno ation and new 
onstru tion or an e tended eriod  or ears  new ho e onstru tion 

has trailed household or ations  lea ing a si a le de it in a aila le 
units  lo all  illions o  ho es entering their eak re odeling ears 
will re uire signi ant in est ents to retain their alue and o ort  e 
also e e t greater o entu  in o er ial a ti it  though the lead 
ti e o  ro e ts ro  on e tion to o letion akes the ti ing o  

o er ial growth ore di ult to redi t



MORE Innovation
o grow our usiness  we are deli ering ore inno ati e rodu t 

designs and eatures that ro ide o elling reasons to u grade 
residential and o er ial s a es  e are introdu ing ore 
di erentiated rodu ts that o and a higher retail ri e and deli er 
su erior argins   rinted or elain sla s that re li ate natural 
stone  renewa le ol er ore  resilient ooring  water roo  
la inate with ultrarealisti  isuals  and so histi ated ar et olle tions 

ade to withstand a ti e a ilies with ets  eo le want to li e  work 
and la  in eauti ul s a es  and we are o itted to e eeding their 
e e tations with rodu ts that e ite and ins ire  
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MORE  
Ways to Grow
Mohawk is a leader in the world’s ost 
desira le arkets  o e tend our resen e  
we e and our sales distri ution  nd new 
o ortunities with e isting usto ers and 

ursue olt on a uisitions  In atin eri a  
or instan e  we roughl  dou led our 

arket shares in ra il and Me i o through 
the  a uisitions o  li a eth and 

itro e  res e ti el  ross our arkets  
we onstantl  le erage our artnershi s 
with e isting usto ers to introdu e 
new rodu t ategories or to ro ote 
di erentiated rodu ts that reate new 
o ortunities or sales growth and argin 
e ansion  ur e anding rodu t o ering 
allows us to e lore new hannels  su h as 
selling or elain a ers in garden enters 
and through lands a ing design r s and 
urnishing e terior or elain ladding or 
o er ial onstru tion ro e ts



MORE Optimization
Mohawk has ore so histi ated anu a turing and logisti s assets 
and industr leading talent  whi h reates a o etiti e ad antage  e 
le erage our o erational strengths to dri e si li it  lower osts and 
enhan e rodu tion  uring  in uro e and the  we rationali ed 
older  less e ient assets and on erted anu a turing lines to reate 

rodu ts etter aligned with urrent onsu er re eren es  e ha e also 
in ested in our re ent a uisitions to i ro e their o erational ro esses 
and enhan e their rodu t o erings  e ontinue to e and talent 
de elo ent rogra s that o er our tea  e ers o ortunities to 

a i i e their otential and deli er su erior results or the usiness
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MORE Commitment
s a glo al sustaina ilit  leader  we are o itted to itigating 
li ate hange  hrough green energ  in est ents and energ  
onser ation  we are working to redu e our ar on oot rint  e also 

lower water intensit   re ling illions o  gallons o  water during 
era i  rodu tion and lowering onsu tion in the ar et d eing 
ro ess  e enhan e rodu t ir ularit   redu ing onsu tion  

in or orating illions o  ounds o  re led and re lai ed ontent 
into our rodu ts and ro iding end o li e re ur osing or aterial  

ro  a so ial ers e ti e  we in est in eo le to i ro e their ualit  
o  li e  o using on res e t ul work la es  sa et  health and well

eing  and o ortunities or ersonal and ro essional growth  



Financially and organizationally, 
we are well positioned to manage 
current conditions and emerge 
stronger from this economic 
cycle when the rebound occurs.” 

Jeffrey S. Lorberbaum 

To Our  
Shareholders:

t Mohawk  we ha e alwa s elie ed there 
is roo  or ore  ur histori  er or an e 
re e ts a long ter  ursuit o  ore growth  

ore inno ation  ore arket e ansion 
into new regions and rodu t ategories  

ore o erational e e ti eness and ore 
sustaina le hoi es that ene t our usiness 
and the lanet we all share  e re ain 
o itted to these strategies
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ur outlook or Mohawk’s long ter  uture is 
relentlessl  o ti isti  e ause an  o ortunities 
e ist or us to le erage the unda ental strengths 
o  our usiness when interest rates de line and 
onsu ers regain on den e in aking large 

in est ents  he s o e and s ale o  our glo al 
o erations  our industr leading rodu t o ering 
and our strong relationshi s a ross sales hannels 
reate o etiti e ad antages that we intend 

to o ti i e in the residential and o er ial 
se tors as arkets re ound  inan iall  and 
organi ationall  we are well ositioned to anage 
urrent onditions and e erge stronger ro  this 

e ono i  le when the re ound o urs

2023 Results & Drivers

or the ear  Mohawk’s net sales were a ro i atel   
 illion  down  as re orted or  on a 

onstant asis  and our diluted ad usted earnings 
er share  was  as redu ed arket 

olu es led to low industr  utili ation rates and 
aggressi e o etition in the arket la e  e 

losed the ear with de t le erage o   ti es   
ree ash ow o   illion and a aila le li uidit   

o   illion

ast ear  entral anks raised interest rates to the 
highest le els in a generation  reating hallenges 
or our industr  whi h is highl  sensiti e to rate 
u tuations  hough Mohawk has a di ersi ed 

geogra hi  oot rint  all o  our arkets were 
a e ted  weak industr  onditions  nder the 
i a t o  these rate in reases  e isting ho e sales 
de lined su stantiall  an  re odeling ro e ts 
were ost oned and onsu ers who in ested in 
ho e i ro e ents traded down to rodu ts 
that t their udgets  ew ho e onstru tion 
also de lined  as rising interest rates and a weak 
housing arket redu ed housing starts through 
the ear  he o er ial se tor re ained 
stronger than residential a ross our geogra hies  
though in est ents egan to slow later in the ear 
as interest rates in reased and lending tightened  

ll o  these a tors redu ed glo al industr  
de and  with argins under ressure ro  
una sor ed o erhead  te orar  shutdown osts 
and la or in ation  s arket o etition or 
olu e in reased  our industr  redu ed selling 
ri es  as we assed through de lining osts in 

energ  and aterials  
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In this en iron ent  we o used on o ti i ing 
our re enues and lowering our osts through 
restru turing a tions and anu a turing 
enhan e ents  e in ested in sales resour es  
ad an ed er handising s ste s and new 

rodu ts with inno ati e eatures to ins ire 
onsu ers to ur hase ooring  e aggressi el  
anaged in entor  le els  whi h redu ed our 

working a ital  o er  illion  e luding 
a uisitions  er the ast eighteen onths  we 
ha e initiated an  a tions a ross the o an  to 
i ro e our ost stru ture  anage lower olu e 
and integrate our re ent a uisitions  e ha e 
losed our anu a turing a ilities and a nu er 

o  higher ost rodu tion lines  onsolidated 
ad inistrati e un tions and redu ed head ount 
in an  areas  hen o lete  we elie e these 
a tions will olle ti el  de rease our o erating 
osts annuall   a ro i atel   illion  with 

a out hal  o  this a ount reali ed last ear  

 Managing Near-Term Conditions 

ith industr  de and su ressed  our usinesses 
are o used on ontrolling osts  redu ing 
o erhead and restru turing o erations to ada t 
to resent onditions  e ontinue to res ond 
to o etiti e arket ressures to o ti i e 
our olu es while anaging our in entor  e 
anti i ate te orar  shutdowns will ontinue in the 
near ter  as we align rodu tion with de and

In di ult arket onditions  our di erentiated 
rodu ts ro ide us with an ad antage  and our 

in est ents in inno ation are entral to our a tions 
to in rease sales and i ro e i  or instan e  
as  ontinues to out a e the o erall ooring 

arket  we ha e reated the ne t generation o  the 
ategor  with our olid e h re ier™ olle tion  

whi h le erages ad an ed te hnolog  to enhan e 
isuals with higher de nition olor and te ture  

e also ha e introdu ed a new ooring ategor  
alled ure e h™ that is a ree alternati e to 

traditional  ure e h is ra ted around  
a renewa le ol er ore that is ade with  

 re led ontent while retaining the 
water roo  ad antages o  resilient ooring  

o enhan e the realisti  look o  natural stone 
and wood in our or elain tiles  we de elo ed 
our ro rietar   Ink™ ro ess  the latest 
enhan e ent to our industr leading digital 

rinting te hni ues   Ink o ines o ti al 
re ognition and re ision rinting to reate 
un re edented realis  with uni ue te ture and 
design ossi ilities  e ha e also introdu ed 

u li e n ™ te hnolog  that o ines high 
de nition rinting and aterial stru ture  adding 
greater de th and ri hness to the isuals  

conditions, our 
differentiated products 
provide us with an 
advantage...”
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2023 FREE CASH FLOW

ur industr leading o it ent to sustaina ilit  
also la s a ital role in our o erational 

er or an e  e are enhan ing re led ontent  
in aterial or ulations  onser ing energ  and 
water  in esting in green energ  and redu ing our  
waste strea  all o  whi h ene ts the en iron ent  
and our otto  line  In  we were re ogni ed 
as one o  eri a’s li ate eaders  USA Today   

s we ha e enhan ed and e anded our oli ies 
and ra ti es  Institutional hareholder er i es’ 
I   or orate atings now la es Mohawk 

in the to   o  our se tor or en iron ental 
easures and in the to  third or so ial easures  

arlier this ear  Newsweek re ogni ed how our 
work or e irrors the o unities where we 
o erate  ranking Mohawk a ong eri a’s 

reatest ork la es  or oth wo en and  
di ersit  dditional details a out our sustaina ilit   

rogress and initiati es a ross our usiness  
an e ound at ohawksustaina ilit o  

s we take a tions to anage the te orar  
a roe ono i  headwinds that ha e i a ted 

our industr  we re ain o used on how we 
an ositi el  i a t our re enue  In  and 

 we o leted se en olt on a uisitions  
in luding itro e  in Me i o and li a eth in 

ra il  hese transa tions ha e olle ti el  added 

a ro i atel   illion to our annual sales  s 
we integrate these re ent a uisitions around the 
world  we are in esting to i ro e their o erations 
and rodu t o ering  hroughout the ear  we 
o used a ital e enditures on rodu t inno ation 

and ost redu tion  as well as rodu t ategories 
that should ha e the highest growth as e ono ies 
i ro e in our regions  In  we are redu ing 
a ital s ending elow our de re iation le el  
ri aril  o leting e isting ro e ts  deli ering 

additional rodu t inno ation  i ro ing e ien  
and aintaining o erations

Longer-Term Opportunities 

e elie e that our results should i ro e in the 
se ond hal  o  this ear as we e erge ro  the 

otto  o  the urrent e ono i  le and ene t 
ro  our a tions to strengthen o erations  e 

anti i ate that entral anks will lower interest 
rates  whi h we elie e will ontri ute to in reased 
ho e sales  residential re odeling and o er ial 

ro e ts  he a e o  i ro e ent o  the ooring 
ategor  will e de endent on in ation rates  
onsu er on den e and the strength o  ho e 

sales  e elie e the  and atin eri an 
arkets ould i ro e sooner than uro e  gi en 

urrent geo oliti al ressures  

SCALE 
AND 
SCOPE

~$600M
ADDITIONAL ANNUAL 
SALES FROM SEVEN 
2022-2023 BOLT-ON 
ACQUISITIONS

$11.1B
NET SALES

19
COUNTRIES WITH 
MANUFACTURING

$716M1

~170
COUNTRIES  
WITH SALES

32
ACQUISITIONS (2013-2023)

~43,3002

TEAM MEMBERS
WORLDWIDE

1 1
2 1 2 2



i all  re odeling a ti it  has led the ooring 
industr  out o  ast downturns  ollowed  new 
ho e onstru tion  with o er ial ro e ts 
taking longer  gi en the ti e re uired to lan 
and o lete  ter ast housing re essions  our 
industr  has e anded with in reased sales and 

argins or ulti le ears  due to higher olu es  
i ro ed i  and greater asset utili ation  whi h 
su orts stronger rodu ti it  ith a histori al 
ga  etween household or ations and a aila le 
dwellings  along with aging housing sto k  the need  
or new onstru tion and residential re odeling 
reates roo  or ore growth  ikewise  the 
o er ial se tor ro ides roo  or ore 

o ortunities with our e ansi e rodu t ort olio  

ur restru turing a tions  in est ents in leading
edge te hnologies  targeted e ansions and 
re ent a uisitions will ena le us to na igate 
the industr ’s urrent state while re aring our 

usiness to enhan e its uture er or an e  
 in esting in rodu t inno ation  ad an ed 
anu a turing te hnologies and talented eo le  

we will e tend our osition as the industr ’s 
re erred ro ider  deli ering e e tional st le  
alue and ser i e to our usto ers  whi h will 
urther enhan e our results  

oda  Mohawk o erates in nineteen ountries on 
e ontinents  sells in a ro i atel   nations 

and o ers the industr ’s ost o rehensi e 
rodu t ort olio  hrough ast e ono i  

les  we ha e ne er wa ered ro  our ision 
o  ro ta l  growing the usiness  e anding 
our rodu t o ering and geogra hies  er 
three de ades  that ision has led us ro  eing 
a ni he  ar et o an  to e o ing the 
world’s largest ooring anu a turer  e elie ed 
that there was roo  or ore when we laid out 
our growth strateg  and we ontinue to a ti el  

ursue that goal toda  ith all o  our strengths 
as the glo al leader in ooring  we are uni uel  

ositioned to i ro e our long ter  results as the 
arket re o ers

e a re iate the ontinued su ort o  our 
shareholders  e lo ees  usto ers and 

o unities as we work to deli er the est 
ossi le returns or the urrent ear and osition 

oursel es or long ter  ro ta le growth  

in erel

 
e re   or er au  
hair an and hie  e uti e er

2023 Sales by Business Segment

39% 
lo al  
era i

34% 
Flooring  

orth eri a

27% 
Flooring  

est o   
the World

2023 Sales by Geography

54%
nited  
tates

30%
uro e

7% 
Latin  

eri a

9% 
ther
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Mohawk  
At-A-Glance

GLOBAL GLOBAL 
CERAMICCERAMIC

he world s largest anu a turer o  
era i  tile and natural stone sur a es

Products 
era i  tile  or elain sla s  uart  and natural  

stone ounterto s  or elain e terior ladding  
and lands a ing a ers

Brands 
altile  eri an lean  Mara i  agno  
ai  ilgrou  ru o altile  itro e  
rko  liane  e or iles  li a eth  and 
era a Mara i

2023 Highlights 
   o leted a uisition o  li a eth in ra il   

taking leading era i  osition in world’s  
third largest arket  

   o leted a uisition o  itro e  in Me i o  
ore than dou ling sales in ke  arket

   anded or elain sla  a a it  in Ital  to eet 
growing de and

   e uted restru turing ro e ts in Ital  to 
rationali e higher ost  less e ient assets  

PERCENTAGE  
OF TOTAL SALES 

39%
TOTAL 
SALES 

$4.3B
ADJUSTED 
OPERATING INCOME

$302M1
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FLOORING  FLOORING  
NORTH AMERICANORTH AMERICA

ne o  the largest orth eri an 
ooring su liers  with leading ositions 

a ross all a or ategories

Products 
ar et  ar et tile  rugs  la inate  lu ur  in l tile  

sheet in l and wood ooring

Brands 
Mohawk  arastan  od re  irst  ui k te   

ergo  Mohawk rou  urkan  laddin 
o er ial  Mohawk o e  and Foss

 2023 Highlights 
   In reased rodu tion a a it  o  re iu   

la inate and L  to i ro e ser i e and enhan e 
rodu t o ering  

   Full  integrated two  a uisitions non wo en 
rodu ts  ooring a essories

   o leted restru turing initiati es to 
enhan e rodu ti it

   Introdu ed a ree resilient rodu t ategor  
with a ore ade with  re led ontent

FLOORING  FLOORING  
REST OF THE WORLDREST OF THE WORLD

ne o  the largest su liers o  ooring outside 
o  orth eri a and a leading anu a turer 
o  anels and insulation rodu ts in uro e

Products 
La inate  lu ur  in l tile  sheet in l  ar et  wood 

ooring  anels  e anine ooring  roo ng s ste s 
and insulation rodu ts

Brands 
ui k te  ergo  Moduleo  Leoline  Lente  
nilin Insulation  nilin anels  od re  irst   

 o er ial  Felte  and ed ook

2023 Highlights 
   rew sheet in l sales a ross regions as a re erred 

alue alternati e  
   In reased insulation usiness with higher

er or an e rodu t o ering
   ransitioned e i le L  anu a turing to  

rodu e rigid olle tions  aligning with  
onsu er re eren es

   Full  integrated three  olt on a uisitions 
sheet in l  wood eneer  e anine oors

PERCENTAGE  
OF TOTAL SALES 

34%
TOTAL  
SALES 

$3.8B
ADJUSTED 
OPERATING INCOME

$206M1

PERCENTAGE  
OF TOTAL SALES 

27%
TOTAL  
SALES 

$3.0B
ADJUSTED 
OPERATING INCOME

$348M1
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BOARD OFBOARD OF
DIRECTORSDIRECTORS

Karen A. Smith Bogart, PhD
resident  ith ogart onsulting 

For er hair erson and resident reater sia   
ast an odak o an

Bruce C. Bruckmann
Managing ire tor  ru k ann  osser  herrill  o  In

Jerry W. Burris
resident and hie  e uti e er  Midwest an o an

John M. Engquist
e uti e hair an   ui ent er i es  In

Jeffrey S. Lorberbaum
hair an and hie  e uti e er  Mohawk Industries  In

Joseph A. Onorato
For er hie  Finan ial er  hlin  In

William H. Runge III
Managing ire tor  l are  and Marsal

Bernard Thiers
For er resident  Flooring est o  the World

W. Christopher Wellborn
resident and hie  erating er  
resident  lo al era i   Mohawk Industries  In

EXECUTIVE  EXECUTIVE  
OFFICERS OFFICERS 

Jeffrey S. Lorberbaum
hair an and 
hie  e uti e er

W. Christopher Wellborn
resident and 
hie  erating er 
resident  lo al era i

James F. Brunk
hie  Finan ial er

William W. Harkins
hie  ounting er and 
or orate ontroller

R. David Patton
eneral ounsel and
i e resident  usiness trateg

Paul De Cock
resident  Flooring  
orth eri a

Wim Messiaen
resident  Flooring  
est o  the World

Malisa Maynard
hie  ustaina ilit  er

Claudio Coni
hie  In or ation 
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For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023

OR
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Non a elerated iler  elerated iler 

 I  an e erging growth o an  indi ate  he k ark i  the registrant has ele ted not to use the e tended transition eriod or 
o l ing with an  new or re ised inan ial a ounting standards ro ided ursuant to e tion a  o  the hange t  

 Indi ate  he k ark whether the registrant has iled a re ort on and attestation to its anage ent’s assess ent o  the e e ti eness o  
its internal ontrol o er inan ial re orting under e tion  o  the ar anes le  t     the registered u li  
a ounting ir  that re ared or issued its audit re ort  
 I  se urities are registered ursuant to e tion  o  the t  indi ate  he k ark whether the inan ial state ents o  the registrant 
in luded in the iling re le t the orre tion o  an error to re iousl  issued inan ial state ents  
 Indi ate  he k ark whether an  o  those error orre tions are restate ents that re uired a re o er  anal sis o  in enti e ased 

o ensation re ei ed  an  o  the registrant’s e e uti e o i ers during the rele ant re o er  eriod ursuant to  
 Indi ate  he k ark whether the egistrant is a shell o an  as de ined in ule  o  the t  es  No 
 he aggregate arket alue o  the o on to k o  the egistrant held  non a iliates o  the egistrant  shares  on ul   

 the last usiness da  o  the egistrant’s ost re entl  o leted is al se ond uarter  was  he aggregate arket alue 
was o uted  re eren e to the losing ri e o  the o on to k on su h date
 Nu er o  shares o  o on to k outstanding as o  Fe ruar     shares o  o on to k   ar alue  Mohawk 
Industries  In  o on sto k trades on the New ork to k hange under s ol M

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
ortions o  the de initi e ro  tate ent or the  nnual Meeting o  to kholders art III
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PART I

Item 1. Business

nless this For   indi ates otherwise or the onte t 
otherwise re uires  the ter s we  our  us  Mohawk   
or the o an  as used in this For   re er to  
Mohawk Industries  In

General
Mohawk is a leading glo al ooring anu a turer that reates 

rodu ts to enhan e residential and o er ial s a es around 
the world  he o an ’s erti all  integrated anu a turing 
and distri ution ro esses ro ide o etiti e ad antages in 

ar et  rugs  era i  tile  la inate  wood  stone  lu ur  in l tile 
L  and sheet in l ooring  he o an ’s industr leading 

inno ation de elo s rodu ts and te hnologies that di erenti
ate its rands in the arket la e and satis  all ooring related 
re odeling and new onstru tion re uire ents  he o an ’s 

rands are a ong the ost re ogni ed in the industr  and 
in lude eri an lean  altile  e ortiles  urkan  

liane  li a eth  Felte  od re  irst  I  o er ial  
I  o e  arastan  era a Mara i  Mara i  Moduleo  
Mohawk  ergo  ui k te  nilin  and itro e  

uring the ast two de ades  the o an  has trans or ed 
its usiness ro  an eri an ar et anu a turer into the 
world’s largest ooring o an  with o erations in ustralia  

ra il  anada  uro e  Mala sia  Me i o  New ealand  ussia  
the nited ingdo  and the nited tates  he o an  had 
annual net sales in  o   illion  ro i atel   o  
this a ount was generated  sales in the nited tates and 
a ro i atel   was generated  sales outside the nited 

tates  he o an  has three re orting seg ents  lo al 
era i  Flooring North eri a Flooring N  and Flooring 
est o  the World Flooring W  with their  net sales 

re resenting   and  res e ti el  o  the o an ’s 
total re enue  ele ted nan ial in or ation or the three 
seg ents  geogra hi  net sales and the lo ation o  long li ed 
assets are set orth in Note  Segment Reporting

lo al era i  designs  anu a tures  sour es  distri utes 
and arkets a road line o  era i  or elain and natural 
stone tile rodu ts used or oor and wall a li ations in 
residential and o er ial hannels or oth re odeling and 
new onstru tion  In addition  lo al era i  anu a tures  
sour es and distri utes other rodu ts  in luding natural 
stone  or elain sla s and uart  ounterto s  as well as 
installation aterials  lo al era i  arkets and distri utes 
its rodu ts under arious rands  in luding the ollowing  

eri an lean  altile  e ortiles  liane  li a eth  
il rou  I  era a Mara i  Mara i  agno  and 

itro e  he eg ent sells its rodu ts through ho e 
enters  o an owned ser i e enters and stores  oor 
o ering retailers  era i  tile s e ialists  e o er e retail

ers  residential uilders  inde endent distri utors  o er ial 
ontra tors and o er ial end users  lo al era i  

o erations are erti all  integrated ro  the rodu tion o  raw 
aterial or od  and gla e re aration to the anu a turing 

and distri ution o  era i  and or elain tile and ounterto s

Flooring N  designs  anu a tures  sour es  distri utes and 
arkets a road range o  oor o ering rodu ts in a ariet  o  

olors  te tures and atterns or oth residential and o er
ial re odeling and new onstru tion hannels  he eg ent’s 
rodu t lines in lude roadloo  ar et  ar et tile  rugs and  
ats  ar et ad  la inate  ediu densit  er oard M F   

wood ooring  L  and sheet in l  Flooring N  arkets 
and distri utes its ooring rodu ts under arious rands  
in luding the ollowing  laddin o er ial  urkan  Foss  
I  arastan  Mohawk  Mohawk rou  Mohawk o e  

ergo  orti o  and ui k te  he eg ent sells its 
rodu ts through oor o ering retailers  ho e enters  ass 
er handisers  de art ent stores  e o er e retailers  sho  

at ho e  u ing grou s  residential uilders  inde endent 
distri utors  o er ial ontra tors and o er ial end 
users  Flooring N  o erations are erti all  integrated ro  
the rodu tion o  raw aterial to the anu a turing and 
distri ution o  the eg ent’s rodu t lines  

Flooring W designs  anu a tures  sour es  distri utes 
and arkets a wide ariet  o  la inate  L  and sheet in l  
wood ooring  roadloo  ar et and ar et tile olle tions 
used in residential and o er ial arkets or oth 
re odeling and new onstru tion  In addition  Flooring W 

anu a tures roo ng anels  insulation oards  e anine 
ooring  M F and hi oards ri aril  or the uro ean 
arket  he eg ent also li enses ertain atents related to 

ooring anu a turing throughout the world  he eg ent 
arkets and distri utes its rodu ts under arious rands  

in luding the ollowing  Felte   o er ial  od re  
irst  ra t  I  o er ial  I  o e  Lente  

Leoline  Moduleo  ergo  ui k te  ed ook  and 
nilin  he eg ent sells its rodu ts through oor retailers  

wholesalers  ho e enters  o an o erated distri utors  
residential uilders  inde endent distri utors  o er ial 

ontra tors and o er ial end users  Flooring W 
o erations are erti all  integrated ro  the rodu tion o  
raw aterial to the anu a turing and distri ution o  the 

eg ent’s rodu t lines

Business Strategy
Mohawk’s usiness strateg  ro ides a onsistent ision or 

the organi ation and o uses e lo ees around the glo e 
on ke  riorities  he strateg  is as aded down through the 
organi ation with an e hasis on e ke  oints

• ti i ing the o an ’s osition as the industr ’s 
re erred ro ider  deli ering e e tional alue  

to usto ers
• reating e lo ees airl  to retain the est organi ation
• ri ing inno ation in all as e ts o  the usiness
• aking reasona le  well onsidered risks to grow the  

business; and
• nhan ing the o unities in whi h the o an  

o erates

he Mohawk business strateg  ro ides ontinuit  or 
the o an ’s o erating rin i les and ensures a o us on 
e eeding usto er e e tations
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Strengths
Market Position

Mohawk’s ashionable and inno ati e rodu ts  su ess ul 
arti i ation in all sales hannels  reati e arketing tools 

and rogra s and e tensi e sales resour es ha e enabled 
the o an  to build arket leadershi  ositions in ulti le 
geogra hies  ri aril  North eri a  uro e  Latin eri a 
and ustralasia  as well as to e ort rodu ts to a ro i atel   

 ountries  In North eri a  Mohawk’s largest arket
la e  the o an  has le eraged its brands  broad o ering 

and award winning er handising to build strong ositions 
a ross all rodu t ategories  In uro e  si ilar ad antages 
ha e su orted arket leadershi  in era i  tile  re iu  
la inate and sheet in l  he o an  also has established 
a strong osition in the ast growing L  arket in the  
and uro e ollowing the  a uisition o  I  and subse

uent in est ents to e and a a it  and align the rodu t 
o ering with arket trends  he  a uisition o  od re  

irst ro ided the o an  with the largest arket osition 
in ar et in ustralasia to o le ent the leading hard 
sur a e resen e that the o an  had grown through its 
earlier a uisitions o  national distributors in both ustralia 
and New ealand  In  the o an  a uired liane  a 
leading era i  tile anu a turer in ra il  the world’s third 
largest era i  arket  he liane brand is highl  regarded 
or inno ati e design and strength in high end or elain 
oor and wall tile  In  the o an  urther e anded 

its resen e in ra il through the a uisition o  li abeth 
e esti entos  a leading ra ilian era i  tile business 

with our anu a turing a ilities strategi all  lo ated 
throughout ra il  In  the o an  also a uired 

itro e  a leading Me i an era i  tile business with our 
anu a turing a ilities strategi all  lo ated throughout 

Me i o  urther solidi ing the o an ’s osition in the 
Me i o era i  tile arket

Product Innovation
Mohawk dri es er or an e through inno ation and 

ro ess i ro e ents a ross all rodu t ategories  In 
era i  this in ludes ro rietar  e eal I aging  rinting 

that re li ates the a earan e o  other sur a es  su h as long 
lanks with the isuals and te ture o  natural wood as well  

as tiles that i i  natural stone  e ent  te tiles and other 
alternati es  he o an  has ioneered an inno ati e 

era i  tile te hnolog  alled te Wise™ that is in used 
into our to ualit  or elain tile to signi antl  i ro e sli  
resistan e  i en the re uent use o  era i  tile in kit hens 
and baths  the o an  has also introdu ed nu erous 

olle tions eaturing anti i robial treat ent that be o es 
a er anent art o  the rodu t  In Ital  and ussia  the 

o an  anu a tures large s ale or elain slabs that an 
re li ate the look o  natural stone but are harder and ore 
durable  In addition to satis ing de and or their do esti  

arkets  or elain slabs rodu ed in uro e are also 
e orted to North eri a  where along with the o an ’s 

uart  ounterto  and natural stone slab o erings the  
ro ide usto ers with a o rehensi e arra  o  sur a e 

o tions  In ar et  the o an ’s uni ue ir o™ uni ed 
so t sur a e olle tion integrates a ol ester ad into tu ted 

ol ester ar et  o ering onsu ers a h oallergeni  and 
oisture resistant alternati e to traditional ar et  he 
o an  has also laun hed an inno ati e ar et ba king 
alled e o er™ that is h oallergeni  late  and  ree 

and is easier to install and sea  he o an ’s ro rietar  
ber te hnologies in lude art trand  and its brand e ten

sions  whi h are ade in art with annuall  renewable lant
based aterials and were the rst su er so t stain resistant 

rodu ts on the arket as well as the atented ontinuu ™ 
ro ess that adds bulk and so tness to ol ester ber  di er

entiating the o an ’s rodu ts in this ast growing o
onent o  the ar et arket  hese ber ad antages ha e 

been e tended into the o an ’s rug rodu tion  as well  
adding lu urious eel and er or an e enhan e ents to the 

o an ’s design leadershi  In la inate  the o an ’s 
atented ni li  installation te hnolog  re olutioni ed 

the ategor  and has been ada ted into the L  and wood 
ategories  as well  he o an  ontinues to deli er new 

inno ations su h as uni ue dro eal™ water resistan e that 
has e tended the la inate ategor  into kit hens and baths  

ore realisti  isuals with enu dge  ressed be el edges 
and sur a e e bossing in register that re isel  re reates 
the a earan e o  wood  s onsu er re eren e or water

roo  ooring has in reased  the o an  has introdu ed 
a ro riet  te hnolog  alled Wet rote t™ that akes the 
oints o  installed la inate and L  water tight and re ents 

li uid s ills ro  rea hing the sub oor  his te hnolog  has 
been uni uel  a lied to wood ooring with ltraWood™  
whi h also eatures an ad an ed water roo  nish in addition 
to i ro ed s rat h  wear and dent resistan e  and to 

ure e h™  a new sustainable alternati e to water roo  
ooring that in ludes  re led ontent and is ree ro  

 lasti  he o an ’s in l o erings re e t signi ant 
in est ents in leading edge te hnolog  that ield in redibl  
realisti  re rodu tions o  stone  wood and other aterials 
with e bossed nishes that reate ore realisti  isuals  o 

o le ent the beaut  o  its L  olle tions  the o an  
has also enhan ed the er or an e o  its re iu  rigid 

rodu ts with a solid stone lasti  o osite ore and an 
enhan ed la uer nish to ro ide a dent roo  s rat h resis
tant sur a e that an withstand toda ’s a ti e a il  ho es  

Operational Excellence
Mohawk’s highl  e ient anu a turing and distribution 

assets ser e as the oundation or su ess ul growth   
le eraging ontinuous ro ess i ro e ent and auto ation   
the o an ’s o erations dri e inno ation  ualit  and 

alue  hrough its o it ent to sustainabilit  ra ti es  
the o an  has also o ti i ed natural resour es and raw 

aterials  he o an  has in ested to e and a a it  
introdu e di erentiated new rodu ts and i ro e e ien ies   
In arti ular  the o an ’s a ital in est ents ha e 
i ro ed re entl  a uired businesses b  u grading their 

rodu t o erings  e anding their distribution and i ro ing 
their rodu ti it  Forbes has designated Mohawk as one o  
the est Large  lo ers and raining aga ine ranked 
the o an ’s training and de elo ent rogra s a ong 
the best or ore than teen ears



Sustainability
Mohawk’s sustainabilit  strateg  is ounded on three 

illars  etter or eo le  etter or the lanet  and etter 
or er or an e  hrough the etter or eo le illar  the 
o an  o uses on e lo ee engage ent  health and 

well being  work or e de elo ent  a Zero-Harm Workplace 
and o unit  engage ent initiati es  ighlights o  this 

illar in lude Mohawk rou ’s ArtLifting partnership working 
with artists with disabilities to in lude their designs in 

o er ial ooring olle tions  and an e tensi e internal 
training initiati e ro  the plant oor to the suite  In the  
and Me i o  the o pan  operates on site  near site or irtual 

ealth  Li e enters to assist e plo ees and their eligible a il   
e bers with anage ent o  hroni  onditions as well as 

treat ent o  a ute illness  hrough the etter or the lanet 
pillar  Mohawk o uses on a li ate positi e uture through 
energ  onser ation  water restoration and produ t ir u
larit  in luding waste redu tion and responsible sour ing  

he o pan  uses e tensi e re led ontent in an  o  its 
produ ts  in luding trans or ing billions o  dis arded plasti  
bottles annuall  to reate pol ester arpet ber and illions 
o  pounds o  tires annuall  to produ e de orati e ru b 
rubber ats  he o pan  also produ es energ  through 
solar panels  wind ills and a waste to energ  progra  using 
s rap wood aterial  hrough the etter or er or an e pil
lar  the o pan  o uses on sustainabilit  initiati es  ethi s  
data se urit  and pri a  in luding reating and aintaining 
sustainabilit related poli ies  he sustainabilit  se tion o  
Mohawk’s orporate website sets orth the o pan ’s initiati es  
with respe t to these pillars and is updated throughout ea h 
ear but is not in orporated into this do u ent

Sales and Distribution
Global Ceramic

lobal era i  designs  arkets  anu a tures  distributes 
and sour es a broad line o  era i  tile  por elain tile and  
natural stone produ ts  in luding natural stone  por elain slabs 
and uart  ountertops  rodu ts are distributed through 
arious hannels  in luding ho e enters  o pan owned 

ser i e enters and stores  oor o ering retailers  era i  
tile spe ialists  e o er e retailers  residential builders  
independent distributors  o er ial ontra tors and o

er ial end users  he business is organi ed with dedi ated 
sales or es to address the spe i  usto er needs o  ea h 
distribution hannel

he o pan  pro ides usto ers with one o  the era i  
tile industr ’s broadest produ t lines a o plete sele tion 
o  gla ed oor tile  gla ed wall tile  osai  tile  por elain tile  

uarr  tile  por elain lands aping pa ers  por elain roo ng  
stone produ ts  por elain slabs  uart  ountertops and 
installation produ ts  In addition to produ ts anu a tured 
b  the o pan ’s era i  tile business  the o pan  also 
sour es produ ts ro  other anu a turers to enhan e its 
produ t o ering

lobal era i  arkets its produ ts under the eri an 
lean  altile  e ortiles  liane  li abeth  il roup  I  
era a Mara i  Mara i  agno and itro e  brand na es  
hese brands are supported b  a ull  integrated arketing 

progra  displa s  er handising boards  literature  atalogs 
and websites  Inno ati e design  ualit  and response to 

hanges in usto er pre eren e enhan e re ognition in 
the arketpla e  he o pan  is o used on sales growth 
opportunities through inno ati e produ ts and progra s 
in both the residential and o er ial hannels or both 
re odeling and new onstru tion  

lobal era i  utili es arious distribution ethods 
in luding regional distribution enters  ser i e enters  dire t 
shipping and usto er pi k up ro  o pan  a ilities  he 

eg ent’s sales or es are organi ed b  produ t t pe and 
sales hannels in order to best ser e ea h t pe o  usto er  

he o pan  belie es its distribution ethods or lobal 
era i  pro ide high ualit  usto er ser i e and enhan e 

its abilit  to plan and anage in entor  re uire ents   

Flooring NA
hrough Flooring N  the o pan  designs  arkets  

anu a tures  distributes and sour es broadloo  arpet  
arpet tile  arpet pad  rugs  la inate  L  sheet in l and 

wood ooring in a broad range o  olors  te tures and 
patterns  Flooring N  positions produ t lines in all pri e 
ranges and e phasi es ualit  st le  per or an e and 
ser i e  Flooring N  arkets and distributes its produ t 
lines to oor o ering retailers  ho e enters  ass er

handisers  depart ent stores  e o er e retailers  shop 
at ho e  bu ing groups  residential builders  independent 
distributors  o er ial ontra tors and o er ial end 
users  o e produ ts are also arketed through pri ate 
labeling progra s  ales to usto ers o used on residential 
produ ts represent a signi ant portion o  the total industr  
and the a orit  o  the eg ent’s sales

he o pan  has positioned its brand na es a ross all 
pri e ranges  arastan  Foss  Mohawk  Mohawk o e  ergo  

orti o and ui k tep are positioned to sell in the residential 
ooring arkets  laddin o er ial and Mohawk roup 

are positioned to sell in the o er ial arket  whi h is 
ade up o  orporate o e spa e  edu ational a ilities  

institutional a ilities  health are assisted li ing a ilities and 
retail spa e  he o pan  also sells into the o er ial 
hospitalit  spa e hotels  restaurants  ga ing a ilities  et  
under its urkan brand

he eg ent’s sales or es are generall  organi ed b  
sales hannels to best ser e ea h t pe o  usto er  rodu t 
deli er  to independent dealers is a ilitated predo inantl  
on Mohawk tru ks operating ro  a strategi all  positioned 
national network o  warehouses and ross do ks that 
re ei e inbound produ t dire tl  ro  the o pan ’s 

anu a turing operations
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Flooring ROW
Flooring W designs  arkets  anu a tures  li enses  

distributes and sour es la inate  L  sheet in l  wood 
ooring  broadloo  arpet and arpet tile  It also designs  
anu a tures  arkets and distributes roo ng panels   

insulation boards  M F  hipboards  de orati e sur a es  
and e anine oors  rodu ts are sold through separate 
distribution hannels  onsisting o  oor retailers  wholesalers   
ho e enters  o pan operated distributors  residential 
builders  independent distributors  o er ial ontra tors and 
o er ial end users  he business is organi ed to address the 

spe i  usto er needs o  ea h distribution hannel

Flooring W arkets and sells la inate  L  sheet in l  
broadloo  arpet  arpet tile and wood under the Felte  

 o er ial  od re  irst  ra t  I  o er ial  
I  o e  Lente  Leoline  Moduleo  ergo  ui k tep 
and edbook brands  Flooring W also sells pri ate label 
la inate  wood and in l ooring produ ts  he o pan  
belie es ui k tep and ergo are leading brand na es in the 

uropean ooring industr  and that od re  irst and Felte  
are leading brand na es in the ustralasian ooring arket  
In addition  in urope  Flooring W arkets and sells 
insulation boards and roo  panels under the nilin Insulation 
brand and M F hipboards and high pressure la inate 

L  panels under the nilin anels brand  he eg ent 
also li enses its intelle tual propert  to ooring anu a turers 
throughout the world

he o pan  uses regional distribution enters and dire t 
shipping ro  anu a turing a ilities to pro ide high ualit  

usto er ser i e and enhan e the o pan ’s abilit  to plan 
and anage in entor  re uire ents

Advertising and Promotion
he o pan ’s brands are a ong the best known and 

ost widel  distributed in the industr  he o pan  
igorousl  supports the alue and na e re ognition o  its 

brands through traditional ad ertising hannels  in luding 
nu erous trade publi ations and uni ue pro otional e ents 
that highlight produ t design and per or an e  as well as 
so ial edia initiati es and Internet based ad ertising  he 

o pan  has in ested signi antl  in websites that edu ate 
onsu ers about the o pan ’s produ ts  helping the  to 
ake in or ed de isions about pur hases  and that identi  

lo al retailers that o er the o pan ’s olle tions  he 
o pan  o ers its usto ers the award winning ni ™  

an Internet plat or  that auto ati all  s n s updated 
produ t and sales in or ation between the o pan  and 
its  aligned retailer websites  ensuring that onsu ers 
ha e a ess to the ost a urate and ti el  in or ation 
and reating a aster onne tion between the onsu er and 
lo al retailers

In North eri a  the o pan  a ti el  supports well 
known progra s su h as usan  o en  breast an er 
resear h  abitat or u anit  housing or low in o e 
a ilies  peration Finall  o e  housing or disabled 
eterans  water org  a essibilit  to lean  sa e water  
rtLi ting  opportunities or artists with disabilities and 

nan ial instabilit  and lasti ank  re o ering and  
re ling plasti  waste ro  o eans  whi h in lude arketing 
partnerships that show ase the o pan ’s produ ts and 
highlight its orporate alues  he o pan  also sponsors 
a uropean ling tea  to pro ote its ui k tep brand 
through logo pla e ents and use o  the tea  in its ad ertising 
and point o sale displa s

he o pan  introdu es new produ ts  er handising 
and arketing a paigns through parti ipation in regional  
national and international trade shows as well as at e lusi e 
dealer on entions  he o pan  supports sales with its 
retail usto ers through ooperati e ad ertising progra s 
that e tend the rea h o  the o pan ’s pro otion as well 
as with inno ati e er handising displa s that highlight the 

o pan ’s di erentiated produ ts and pro ide sa ples to 
onsu ers  he ost o  pro iding er handising displa s  

produ t sa ples and point o  sale pro otional arketing   
is partiall  re o ered b  the pur hase o  these ite s b  the 

o pan ’s usto ers

Manufacturing and Operations
Global Ceramic

he o pan ’s era i  tile anu a turing operations are 
erti all  integrated ro  the produ tion o  raw aterial or 

bod  and gla e preparation to the anu a turing and distri
bution o  era i  and por elain tile and uart  ountertops  

he o pan  belie es that its anu a turing organi ation’s 
leading edge te hnolog  o ers o petiti e ad antages due 
to its abilit  to reate a di erentiated produ t line onsisting 
o  one o  the industr ’s broadest o erings o  si es  shapes  

olors  te tures and nishes  as well as the industr ’s largest 
o ering o  tri  and de orati e pie es  In addition  lobal 

era i  also sour es a portion o  its olle tions to enhan e 
its produ t o erings  lobal era i  ontinues to in est 
in e uip ent that utili es the latest te hnologies  whi h 
supports the o pan ’s e orts to in rease anu a turing 

apa it  i pro e e ien  eet the growing de and or  
its inno ati e produ ts and de elop new apabilities  

Flooring NA
he o pan ’s arpet and rug anu a turing operations 

are erti all  integrated and in lude the e trusion o  trie ta  
n lon  pol ester and pol prop lene resins  as well as re led 
post onsu er plasti s  into ber  Flooring N  is also erti all  
integrated in arn pro essing  arpet ba king anu a turing  
tu ting  wea ing  d eing  oating and nishing  

he eg ent is also erti all  integrated with signi ant 
anu a turing assets that produ e la inate ooring  high 

densit  ber board  wood ooring  berglass sheet in l and 
lu ur  in l tile  Flooring N  ontinues to in est in apital 
e penditures  su h as the e pansion o  the o pan ’s 
North eri an L  and pre iu  la inate anu a turing 

apa it  ther in est ents in state o the art e uip ent 
support arket growth  in rease anu a turing e ien  
and i pro e o erall ost o petiti eness



Flooring ROW
he o pan ’s la inate ooring anu a turing operations  

in urope are erti all  integrated  he o pan  belie es 
Flooring W has ad an ed e uip ent that results in 

o petiti e anu a turing in ter s o  ost and e ibilit  
In addition  Flooring W has signi ant anu a turing 

apabilit  or wood ooring  L  and sheet in l  he  
a uisition o  od re  irst established erti all  integrated 
broadloo  arpet and arpet tile operations in ustralia and 
New ealand  in luding the produ tion o  wool arn  Flooring 

W is also erti all  integrated in arpet anu a turing  
in luding tu ting  wea ing  d eing  oating and nishing

Flooring W ontinues to in est in apital e penditures 
su h as L  utili ing the latest ad an es in te hnologies to 
in rease anu a turing apa it  i pro e e ien  and 
de elop new apabilities in luding state o the art  ull   
integrated produ tion that will le erage the o pan ’s pro en 
re ord o  bringing inno ati e and high ualit  produ ts to its 

arkets  he anu a turing a ilities or roo ng panels   
insulation boards  M F and hipboards in Flooring W are 
all on gured or ost e ient anu a turing and produ tion  

e ibilit  and are o petiti e in the uropean arket

Inputs and Suppliers 
Global Ceramic

he prin ipal raw aterials used in the produ tion o  
era i  tile are la  tal  eldspar  industrial inerals and 

gla es  he o pan  has long ter  la  ining rights in  
North eri a  ussia  ulgaria and ra il that satis  a portion 
o  its la  re uire ents or produ ing tile  he o pan  
also pur hases a nu ber o  di erent grades o  la  or the 

anu a ture o  its tile  la es are used on a signi ant  
per entage o  anu a tured tiles  la es onsist o  rit 
ground glass  ir on  stains and other aterials  with rit 

being the largest o ponent  he o pan  anu a tures 
a signi ant a ount o  its rit re uire ents  he o pan  
belie es that there is an ade uate suppl  o  all grades o  la  
tal  and industrial inerals that are readil  a ailable ro  a 
nu ber o  independent sour es  I  these suppliers were unable 
to satis  the o pan ’s re uire ents  the o pan  belie es 
that alternati e suppl  arrange ents would be a ailable  

Flooring NA
he prin ipal raw aterials used in the produ tion o  

arpet and rugs are pol ester  trie ta  n lon  pol prop lene  
aprola ta  re led post onsu er plasti s  s ntheti  

ba king aterials  late  and arious d es and he i als  the 
a orit  o  whi h are petroleu based  he o pan  uses 

wood hips  wood eneers  lu ber  paper and resins in its  
produ tion o  la inate and wood produ ts  In its in l ooring  
operations  the o pan  uses glass ber  plasti i ers and 
pol in l hloride  resins  Ma or raw aterials used in 
the o pan ’s anu a turing pro ess are a ailable ro  
independent sour es  and the o pan  obtains ost o  its 
raw aterials ro  a or suppliers that pro ide inputs to 
ea h a or produ t ategor  I  these suppliers were unable 

to satis  the re uire ents  the o pan  belie es that alter
nati e suppl  arrange ents would be a ailable  he arket 
or raw aterials is sensiti e to te porar  disruptions  

Flooring ROW
he prin ipal raw aterials used in the produ tion o  boards  

la inate and wood ooring are wood  paper and resins  he 
wood suppliers pro ide a ariet  o  wood spe ies  pro iding 
the o pan  with a ost e e ti e and se ure suppl  o  raw 

aterial  In its in l ooring operations  the o pan  uses 
glass ber  plasti i ers and  resins  Ma or raw aterials used 
in the o pan ’s anu a turing pro ess are a ailable ro  
independent sour es  and the o pan  has long standing 
relationships with a nu ber o  suppliers  he prin ipal raw 

aterials used in the produ tion o  broadloo  arpet and 
arpet tile are wool  pol ester  trie ta  n lon  pol prop lene  
aprola ta  re led post onsu er plasti s  s ntheti  

ba king aterials  late  and arious d es and he i als  the 
a orit  o  whi h are petroleu based  I  these suppliers were 

unable to satis  the re uire ents  the o pan  belie es that 
alternati e suppl  arrange ents would be a ailable  he arket 
or raw aterials is sensiti e to te porar  disruptions  

Industry and Competition
he o pan  is the largest ooring anu a turer in 

a rag ented industr  o posed o  a wide ariet  o  
o panies ranging ro  s all  pri atel held r s to large 
ultinationals  In  the  oor o ering industr  

reported  billion in sales  up appro i atel   o er 
’s sales o   billion  In  the pri ar  ategories 

o  ooring in the  based on sales  were arpet and rugs 
 resilient onsisting o  L  sheet in l and arious 

other resilient ategories  era i  tile  wood 
 stone  and la inate  In  the pri ar  

ategories o  ooring in the  based on s uare eet sold  
were resilient onsisting o  L  sheet in l and arious other 
resilient ategories  arpet and rugs  era i  
tile  wood  la inate  and stone  

a h o  these ategories is in uen ed b  the residential and 
o er ial onstru tion and residential and o er ial 

re odeling end use arkets  hese arkets are in uen ed 
b  an  a tors in luding hanging onsu er pre eren es  

onsu er on den e  spending or durable goods  interest 
rates  in ation  a ailabilit  o  redit  turno er in housing and 
the o erall strength o  the e ono

he prin ipal ethods o  o petition within the oor 
o ering industr  generall  are produ t inno ation  st le  
ualit  pri e  per or an e te hnolog  and ser i e  In ea h 

o  the arkets  pri e and arket o erage are parti ularl  
i portant when o peting a ong produ t lines  he 

o pan  a ti el  seeks to di erentiate its produ ts in 
the arketpla e b  introdu ing inno ati e produ ts with 
pre iu  eatures that pro ide a superior alue proposition  

he o pan ’s in est ents in anu a turing te hnolog  
o puter s ste s and distribution networks  as well as the 
o pan ’s arketing strategies and resour es  ontribute 

to its abilit  to o pete on the basis o  per or an e  ualit  
st le and ser i e  rather than pri e
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Global Ceramic
loball  the era i  tile industr  is signi antl  rag ented   

ertain regions around the world ha e established su ient  
apa it  to allow the  to eet do esti  needs in addition to 

e porting produ t to other arkets where their ost  design 
and or te hni al ad antages a  dri e onsu er pre eren es  

o e ature arkets ha e seen industr  onsolidation dri en 
b  ergers and a uisitions; howe er  ost arkets are  

o prised o  an  relati el  s all anu a turers all working 
with si ilar te hnologies  raw aterials and designs  uring 

 the esti ated global apa it  or era i  tile was  
 billion s uare eet  down  ro  the prior ear 

pri aril  due to in ation  an energ  risis and slowing 
de and or ooring in the se ond hal  o    with selling 
pri es ar ing widel  based on an  a tors  in luding 
suppl  within the arket  aterials used  si e  shape and 
design  While the o pan  operates era i  anu a turing 
a ilities in eight ountries  the o pan  has le eraged 

ad antages in te hnolog  design  brand re ognition and 
arketing to e tend e ports o  its produ ts to appro i atel  

 ountries  s a result o  this global sales strateg  the 
o pan  a es o petition in the era i  tile arket ro  

a large nu ber o  oreign and do esti  anu a turers  all o  
whi h o pete or sales o  era i  tile to usto ers through 

ultiple residential and o er ial hannels  he o pan  
belie es it is the largest anu a turer  distributor and  

arketer o  era i  tile in the world  he o pan  also 
belie es it is the largest anu a turer  distributor and 

arketer o  era i  tile in spe i i  arkets  in luding the 
 urope and ussia  as well as aintaining leading 

positions in the Me i an and ra ilian arkets  he o pan  
has le eraged the ad antages o  its s ale  produ t inno ation 
and uni ue designs in these arkets to solidi  its leadership 
position  howe er the o pan  ontinues to a e pressures 
in these arkets ro  i ported era i  produ ts as well as 
alternate ooring ategories

Flooring NA
he North eri an ooring industr  is highl  o petiti e  

with an in reasing ariet  o  produ t ategories  shi ting  
onsu er pre eren es  suppl  hain disruptions and 

pressures ro  i ported produ ts  parti ularl  in the rug 
and hard sur a e ategories  ased on industr  publi ations  
in  the  ooring industr  had arpet and rug sales 
o  appro i atel   billion out o  the o erall  billion 

arket  ased on its  net sales  the o pan  belie es 
it is the largest produ er o  rugs and the se ond largest 
produ er o  arpet in the world  he o pan  di erentiates 
its arpet and rug produ ts in the arketpla e through 
proprietar  ber s ste s  state o the art anu a turing 

te hnologies and uni ue st ling as well as le eraging the 
strength o  so e o  the oldest and best known brands in 
the industr  he o pan  also belie es it is the largest 

anu a turer and distributor o  la inate ooring in the  
as well as the produ er o  the industr ’s rst waterproo  
wood ooring  he o pan ’s leading position in la inate 

ooring is dri en b  the strength o  its pre iu  brands 
as well as te hni al inno ations su h as water resistan e  
realisti  isuals  be eled edges  deepl  e bossed in register 
sur a es and patented installation te hnologies  he  
resilient industr  is highl  o petiti e  and a ording to  
industr  publi ations  grew ore than  in  ased 
on industr  publi ations  in  L  sheet in l and other  

arious resilient ategories generated sales o   billion 
out o  the  billion total  ooring arket  he o pan   
belie es that it is one o  the largest anu a turers and 
distributors o  L  and sheet in l in the  he o pan ’s 
sheet in l operations produ e berglass ba ked produ ts  
whi h ha e pro en ore popular with onsu ers in the past 
se eral ears due to superior per or an e and durabilit  

he o pan  has e panded its resilient produ t port olio 
to in lude a renewable pol er ore  ategor  that is 
a ree alternati e to traditional resilient produ ts while 

aintaining waterproo  apabilities and e eeding the 
s rat h resistan e o  traditional L

Flooring ROW
he o pan  a es o petition in the non  la inate  

wood  L  and sheet in l ooring business ro  a large 
nu ber o  do esti  anu a turers as well as pressures  
ro  i ports  he o pan  belie es it is one o  the largest 

anu a turers and distributors o  la inate ooring in 
the world  with a o us on pre iu  produ ts  whi h the 

o pan  supplies under so e o  the best known and 
ost widel  arketed brands in its regions  In addition  

the o pan  belie es it has a o petiti e ad antage in 
its la inate ooring arkets as a result o  the o pan ’s 
industr leading water resistan e  realisti  isuals and 
e bossed in register sur a es as well as patented 
installation te hnologies  all o  whi h allow the o pan  to 
di erentiate its produ ts in the areas o  design  per or an e  
installation and asse bl  In wood ooring  the o pan  
has e tended the strength o  its well known la inate 
brands and its installation te hnologies to add alue to 
its wood olle tions  he o pan  a es o petition in 
the non  in l ooring hannel ro  a large nu ber o  
do esti  and oreign anu a turers  but belie es it has a 

o petiti e ad antage in its L  and sheet in l arkets 
due to industr leading design  patented te hnologies  
brand re ognition and erti al integration  he o pan  
has ele ated the per or an e o  its sheet in l olle tions 
and is now aggressi el  pla ing the produ t in o er ial 
appli ations  ter initiall  e tending its geographi  ootprint 



b  a uiring national hard sur a e distributors in ustralia 
and New ealand  the o pan  a uired od re  irst  

aking the o pan  the largest anu a turer o  arpet in 
both ountries  he o pan  has integrated its so t and 
hard sur a e businesses to pro ide a o prehensi e o ering 
to residential and o er ial usto ers in the region  In 

ustralia and New ealand  the o pan  a es o petition 
ro  a large nu ber o  do esti  and oreign anu a turers  

but belie es it has a o petiti e ad antage in its arpet 
and hard sur a e o ering due to industr leading design  
patented te hnologies  brand re ognition and erti al 
integration o  anu a turing and distribution  hrough the 
a uisitions o  trather  and o  all ther  the o pan  
has e tended its insulation business to the nited ingdo  
and Ireland while e panding sales in its ore enelu  egion  

he o pan  also e panded its uropean wood panels 
business b  a uiring er an based erghoe  and tto 

hneider e anine ooring  and Fren h based anneau  
e orr e M F  he o pan  also e tended its sheet 

in l business with the a uisition o  olish based Lente   

Patents and Trademarks
Intelle tual propert  is i portant to the o pan ’s  

business and the o pan  relies on a o bination o   
patent  op right  trade ark and trade se ret laws to  
prote t its interests

he o pan  uses se eral trade arks that it onsiders 
i portant in the arketing o  its produ ts  in luding 

eri an lean  altile  e ortiles  urkan  liane  
li abeth  il roup  Felte  Foss  od re  irst  I  
o er ial  I  o e  arastan  era a Mara i  Lente  

Leoline  Mara i  Moduleo  Mohawk  Mohawk roup  
Mohawk o e  ergo  ui k tep and nilin  hese 
trade arks re e t inno ations in design  per or an e and 
installation  whi h represent o petiti e ad antages and 
pro ide di erentiation ro  o peting brands in the arket

Flooring W owns a nu ber o  patent a ilies in urope 
and the  so e o  whi h the o pan  li enses to anu
a turers throughout the world  he o pan  ontinues to 

e plore additional opportunities to generate re enue ro  
its patent port olio

Major Customers
uring  no single usto er a ounted or ore than 
 o  the o pan ’s total net sales  and the top  usto ers  

a ounted or less than  o  the o pan ’s total net sales  
he o pan  belie es the loss o  one a or usto er would 

not ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on its business

Human Capital
he o pan ’s anage ent tea  re ogni es the i por

tan e o  its e plo ees to the o pan ’s o erall long ter  
su ess  he o pan  prioriti es its e plo ees b  o using 
on a nu ber o  hu an apital ob e ti es  in luding re ruit

ent  de elop ent  engage ent and retention  and sa et  
health and well being  

he o pan ’s talent de elop ent initiati es enter on 
the edu ation  e posure and e perien e o  its e plo ees  
and the o pan ’s o it ent to di ersit  he o pan  
prioriti es the de elop ent o  earl in areer inorit  
talent to build and e pand uture generations o  inorit  
leadership  he o pan  is also dedi ated to building 

o unit  partnerships and le eraging its e plo er brand 
to ield an appli ant pool that re e ts the di ersit  o  the 

o unities in whi h the o pan  operates  he o pan  
re ains o itted to pro oting all aspe ts o  di ersit  
e uit  and in lusion in its hiring pra ti es and talent  
de elop ent ra ework

he o pan  is dedi ated to reating a working en i
ron ent that is ree ro  ha ards  pro oting e plo ee 
well being and prioriti ing sa et  at e er  le el  he o pan  
osters a ollaborati e partnership with its e plo ees to 

uphold sa e and se ure workpla es a ross the globe  a h o  
the o pan ’s business seg ents prioriti es enhan e ent 
o  sa et  easures within their respe ti e a ilities  with a 
heightened o us on e uip ent aintenan e  a hine guards 
and peer to peer eedba k   onsolidating sa et  data ro  
all business seg ents  the o pan  al ulates its orporate 
re ordable in ident rate  whi h ser es as a ke  indi ator o  
our o erall sa et  per or an e

s o  e e ber   the o pan  e plo ed 
appro i atel   persons  onsisting o  appro i atel  

 in the nited tates and anada  appro i atel  
 in urope and appro i atel   in other ountries  

he a orit  o  the o pan ’s uropean anu a turing 
e plo ees are e bers o  unions  he o pan  has not 
e perien ed an  a or strikes or work stoppages in re ent 

ears and belie es that its relations with its e plo ees  
are good

Governmental Regulations
s a global anu a turing o pan  the o pan ’s oper

ations are sub e t to nu erous ederal  state and lo al laws 
and regulations  both within and outside the  in areas 
su h as en iron ental prote tion  international trade  data 
pri a  ta  onsu er prote tion  go ern ent ontra ts  

li ate hange and others  he o pan  is sub e t to 
i port and e port ontrols  tari s  and other trade related 
regulations and restri tions in the ountries in whi h it 
has operations or otherwise does business  he o pan  
belie es that it is in o plian e  in all aterial respe ts  with 
presentl  appli able laws and regulations
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he o pan  o plies with all laws and regulations 
regarding prote tion o  the en iron ent  and in an  

ases where laws and regulations are less restri ti e  the 
o pan  has established and is ollowing its own standards  
onsistent with the o pan ’s o it ent to en iron ental 

responsibilit  hese o plian e re uire ents align with the 
o pan ’s o us on sustainabilit  initiati es  he o pan  

belie es that it is in o plian e  in all aterial respe ts  with 
presentl  appli able go ern ental pro isions relating to en i
ron ental prote tion in the ountries in whi h the o pan  
has anu a turing operations  o plian e with these 
en iron ental laws and regulations did not ha e a aterial 
e e t on apital e penditures  earnings  or the o pan ’s 

o petiti e position during  and is not e pe ted to be 
aterial in 

Available Information
he o pan ’s Internet address is https www ohawkind

o  he o pan  akes a ailable the ollowing reports 
it les on its website  ree o  harge  under the heading 
In estors

• annual reports on For  ;
• uarterl  reports on For  ;
• urrent reports on For  ; and
• a end ents to the oregoing reports

he oregoing reports are ade a ailable on the 
o pan ’s website as soon as pra ti able a ter the  are 
led with  or urnished to the e urities and hange 
o ission  In addition to our website  the  
aintains an Internet site that ontains our reports  pro  

and in or ation state ents  and other in or ation that we 
ele troni all  le with  or urnish to  the  at www se go  

Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other in or ation pro ided in this 
For   the ollowing risk a tors should be onsidered 
when e aluating an in est ent in shares o  the o pan ’s 

o on to k  I  an  o  the e ents des ribed in these risks 
were to o ur  it ould ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on  
the o pan ’s business  nan ial ondition and results  
o  operations

T e oor co erin  in ustr  is sensiti e to c an es in eneral  
economic con itions  suc  as consumer con ence  income 
an  s en in  cor orate an  o ernment s en in   
interest rate le els  a ailabilit  of cre it an  eman  for 

ousin . i ni cant or rolon e  eclines in t e . .  
or lobal economies coul  a e a material a erse effect 
on t e Com an s business.

ownturns in the  and global e ono ies negati el  
i pa t the oor o ering industr  and the o pan ’s  
business  uring ti es o  e ono i  un ertaint  or de line  
end onsu ers tend to spend less on re odeling their ho es   
whi h is how the o pan  deri es a a orit  o  its sales  
Likewise  new ho e onstru tion  and the orresponding 
need or new ooring aterials  tends to slow during  
re essionar  periods  li al e ono i  downturns ha e 

aused  and ould ontinue to ause  the industr  to so ten 
globall  or in the lo al arkets in whi h the o pan  
operates   signi ant or prolonged de line in residential or 

o er ial re odeling or new onstru tion a ti it  ould 
ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on the o pan ’s business 
and results o  operations

T e Com an  faces intense com etition in t e oorin  
in ustr  t at coul  ecrease eman  for t e Com an s 

ro ucts or force it to lo er rices  ic  coul  a e a 
material a erse effect on t e Com an s business.

he oor o ering industr  is highl  o petiti e  he 
o pan  a es o petition ro  a nu ber o  anu a turers  

and independent distributors  o e o  the o pan ’s 
o petition is ro  o panies lo ated outside o  the a or 
arkets in whi h the o pan  parti ipates  and these 

o petitors a  bene t ro  lower input osts or state 
subsidies  lso  trade tari s a  i pa t both the o pan  
and its o petitors in di erent and unpredi table wa s  
Maintaining the o pan ’s o petiti e position a  
re uire substantial in est ents in the o pan ’s produ t 
de elop ent e orts  anu a turing a ilities  distribution 
network and sales and arketing a ti ities  o petiti e 
pressures a  also result in de reased de and or the 

o pan ’s produ ts  or e the o pan  to lower pri es or 
pre ent the o pan  ro  raising pri es to keep up with 
in ation  Moreo er  u tuations in urren  e hange rates 
and input osts a  ontribute to ore attra ti e pri ing 
or i ports that o pete with the o pan ’s produ ts  

whi h a  put pressure on the o pan ’s pri ing  n  o  
these a tors ould ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on the 

o pan ’s business



T e Com an  manufactures  sources an  sells man   
ro ucts internationall  an  is e ose  to risks associate  
it  oin  business loball .

he o pan ’s international a ti ities are signi ant 
to its anu a turing apa it  re enues and pro ts; and 
the o pan  ontinues to e pand internationall  through 
a uisitions  onstru tion o  new anu a turing operations 
and in est ents in e isting ones  urrentl  Flooring W 
has signi ant operations in urope  ussia  ra il  Mala sia  

ustralia and New ealand and lobal era i  has 
signi ant operations in ra il  urope  ussia and Me i o  
In addition  the o pan  sour es raw aterials and nished 
goods ro  ultiple international lo ations

he o pan ’s international sales  suppl  hain   
operations and in est ents are sub e t to risks and  
un ertainties  in luding  

• hanges in oreign ountr  regulator  re uire ents;
• di ering business pra ti es asso iated with  

oreign operations;
• arious i port e port restri tions and the a ailabilit  o  

re uired i port e port li enses;
• i position o  oreign or do esti  tari s and other  

trade barriers;
• oreign urren  e hange rate u tuations;
• di ering in ationar  or de ationar  arket pressures;
• oreign ountr  ta  rules  regulations and other re uire

ents  su h as hanges in ta  rates and statutor  and 
udi ial interpretations in ta  laws;

• di ering labor laws and hanges in those laws;
• work stoppages and labor shortages;
• disruptions in the shipping o  i ported and  

e ported produ ts;
• go ern ent pri e ontrols;
• e tended pa ent ter s and the inabilit  to olle t 

a ounts re ei able; 
• potential di ulties repatriating ash ro   

non  subsidiaries; 
• o plian e with laws go erning international relations 

and trade  in luding those  and uropean nion 
laws that relate to san tions and orruption; and

• suppl  hain disruption or pri e es alations or oil  natural  
gas and other raw aterials due to regional on i t  

he o pan  annot assure in estors that it will su eed 
in de eloping and i ple enting poli ies and strategies 
to address the oregoing risks e e ti el  in ea h lo ation 
where the o pan  does business  and there ore that the 
oregoing a tors will not ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on 

the o pan ’s business

T e Com an  o erates in emer in  markets  inclu in  
Bra il  eastern uro e  ala sia  e ico an  Russia  an  
t erefore as e osure to oin  business in otentiall   
unstable areas of t e orl .

perations in e erging arkets are sub e t to greater risk 
than ore de eloped arkets  in luding in so e ases  
signi ant legal  e ono i  and politi al risks  Market onditions  
and the politi al stru tures that support the  are sub e t 
to rapid hange in these e ono ies  and the o pan  a  
not be able to rea t ui kl  enough to prote t its assets and 
business operations  In parti ular  de eloping arkets in 
whi h the o pan  operates a  be hara teri ed b  one  
or ore o  the ollowing

• o ple  and on i ting laws and regulations  whi h 
a  be in onsistentl  or arbitraril  en or ed;

• high in iden es o  orruption in state regulator  
agen ies;

• olatile in ation;
• widespread po ert  and resulting politi al instabilit ;
• o plian e with laws go erning international relations 

and trade  in luding  and uropean nion laws that 
relate to san tions and orruption;

• i ature legal and banking s ste s;
• un ertaint  with respe t to title to real and  

personal propert ;
• underde eloped in rastru ture;
• hea  state ontrol o  natural resour es and  

energ  supplies; 
• state ownership o  transportation and suppl   

hain assets;
• high prote ti e tari s and ine ient usto s 

pro esses;
• high ri e rates; and
• war and or ar ed on i t

hanges in an  one or a o bination o  these a tors ould 
ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on the o pan ’s business

Fluctuations in currenc  e c an e rates ma  im act t e 
Com an s nancial con ition an  results of o erations 
an  ma  affect t e com arabilit  of results bet een t e 
Com an s nancial erio s.

he results o  the o pan ’s oreign subsidiaries are 
translated into  dollars ro  the lo al urren  or 

onsolidated reporting  he e hange rates between 
so e o  these urren ies and the  dollar in re ent 

ears ha e u tuated signi antl  and a  ontinue to do 
so in the uture  he o pan  a  not be able to anage 
e e ti el  its urren  translation risks  and olatilit  in 

urren  e hange rates a  ha e a aterial ad erse 
e e t on the o pan ’s onsolidated nan ial state ents 
and a e t o parabilit  o  the o pan ’s results between 

nan ial periods
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T e on oin  militar  con ict bet een Russia an  kraine 
as im acte  an  ma  continue to affect t e Com an s  

business an  results of o erations.

s a result o  ongoing ussian ilitar  a tions in kraine  
the o pan  has e perien ed and a  ontinue to e peri
en e suppl  hain disruption o  raw aterials sour ed ro  

kraine  as well as other aterials and spare parts needed in 
the o pan ’s operations i  alternati e sour es identi ed in 
other ountries annot ul ll these needs  he o pan  an 
also be i pa ted b  global in reases in the ost o  natural 
gas  oil and oil based raw aterials and he i als  whi h 
were a ong the broader onse uen es o  ussia’s a tions in 
the initial ear o  the on i t  In addition  the nited tates  
the uropean nion and other go ern ents ha e i posed 
and e tended san tions on ertain indi iduals and nan ial 
institutions and ha e proposed to use broader e ono i  
san tions  in e rst uarter  the o pan  has  
suspended new in est ents in ussia  

he broader onse uen es o  this on i t  whi h a  in lude  
urther e ono i  san tions  e bargoes  regional instabilit  

and geopoliti al shi ts; potential retaliator  a tions  in luding 
nationali ation o  oreign owned businesses; in reased 
tensions between the nited tates and ountries in whi h 
the o pan  operates; and the e tent o  the on i t’s e e t 
on the o pan ’s business and results o  operations  as 
well as the global e ono  annot be predi ted  n  uture 

onse uen es o  the on i t  in luding additional e ono i  
san tions  a  result in an ad erse e e t on the o pan ’s 

ussian operations  whi h represented appro i atel   o  net  
sales or the ear ended e e ber   he o pan  

ontinues to onitor the potential i pa ts on its business 
and the an illar  i pa ts that the on i t a  ha e on its 
other global operations

T e Com an  ma  be unable to re ict customer refer-
ences or eman  accuratel  or to res on  effecti el  to  
tec nolo ical e elo ments.

he o pan  operates in a arket se tor where de and 
is strongl  in uen ed b  rapidl  hanging usto er pre er
en es as to produ t design  produ t ategor  and te hni al 
eatures  Failure to ui kl  and e e ti el  respond to 
hanging usto er de and or te hnologi al de elop ents 
ould ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on the business

In addition  the rapid de elop ent o  new te hnologies 
su h as arti ial intelligen e  as well as other te hnologies in 
the uture that are not oreseen toda  ontinue to trans or  
the arkets within whi h the o pan  operates  In order to 
re ain o petiti e  the o pan  will need to adapt to and 
integrate new te hnologies into its urrent and uture oper
ations  and also guard against e isting and new o petitors 
disrupting its business using su h te hnologies  here an 
be no assuran e that the o pan  will ontinue to o pete 
e e ti el  with its industr  peers due to te hnologi al 

hanges  whi h ould result in a aterial ad erse e e t on 
the o pan ’s business and results o  operations

In erio s of risin  costs  t e Com an  ma  be unable 
to ass ra  materials  labor  ener  an  fuel-relate  cost 
increases on to its customers  ic  coul  a e a material 
a erse effect on t e Com an s business.

he suppl  and pri es o  raw aterials  labor  energ  and 
uel related osts  in luding those related to oil and natural 

gas  are sub e t to arket onditions and are i pa ted b  
an  a tors be ond the o pan ’s ontrol  in luding geopo

liti al on i t su h as the ongoing on i t in the Middle ast 
and ussian ilitar  a tions in kraine  pande i s su h as 
the I  pande i  labor shortages  weather onditions  
natural disasters  go ern ental progra s  regulations and 
trade and tari  poli ies  in ation and in reased de and  
a ong other a tors  lthough the o pan  generall  
atte pts to pass on in reases in raw aterial  labor  energ  
and uel related osts to its usto ers  the o pan ’s abilit  
to do so is dependent upon the rate and agnitude o  an  
in rease  o petiti e pressures and arket onditions or the 

o pan ’s produ ts  here ha e been in the past  and a  be 
in the uture  periods o  ti e during whi h in reases in these 

osts annot be re o ered  uring su h periods o  ti e  the 
o pan ’s business has been and a  be ateriall  a e ted

T e Com an  ma  be unable to obtain ra  materials or 
source  ro uct on a timel  basis  ic  coul  a e a 
material a erse effect on t e Com an s business.

he prin ipal raw aterials used in the o pan ’s anu a
turing operations in lude trie ta  n lon  pol prop lene  and 
pol ester resins and bers  whi h are used in the o pan ’s 

arpet and rug business; la  tal  eldspar and gla es  
in luding rit ground glass  ir on and stains  whi h are used 
in the o pan ’s era i  tile business; wood  paper and 
resins  whi h are used in the o pan ’s wood and la inate 

ooring businesses and panels business; and glass ber  
plasti i ers  and p  resins  whi h are used in the o pan ’s 
sheet in l and lu ur  in l tile businesses  In addition to 
raw aterials  the o pan  sour es nished goods  For 

ertain raw aterials and sour ed produ ts  the o pan  is 
dependent on one or a s all nu ber o  suppliers   aterial 
te porar  or long ter  ad erse hange in the o pan ’s 
relationship with su h a supplier  the nan ial ondition o  
su h a supplier or su h a supplier’s abilit  to anu a ture 
or deli er su h raw aterials or sour ed produ ts to the 

o pan  ould lead to an interruption o  suppl  or re uire the 
o pan  to pur hase ore e pensi e alternati es  lso  the 
o pan ’s abilit  to obtain raw aterials or sour e produ ts 

at reasonable osts a  be i pa ted b  tari s  global trade 
un ertainties and international rises  su h as ongoing geo
politi al on i t  For e a ple  the ussian in asion o  kraine 
resulted in suppl  hain disruption o  raw aterials sour ed 
ro  kraine pri aril  la  in s al  and the ongoing 
on i t in the Middle ast a  result in an es alation o  oil and 

petroleu based he i al pri es as well as the introdu tion 
o  san tions or transportation barriers  whi h ould i pa t the 

o pan ’s operations  n e tended interruption in the suppl  
o  sour ed produ ts or raw aterials used in the o pan ’s 
business or in the suppl  o  suitable substitute aterials or 
produ ts ould disrupt the o pan ’s operations  whi h ould 
ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on the o pan ’s business  



T e Com an  makes si ni cant ca ital in estments in its 
business an  suc  ca ital in estments ma  not be successful 
or ac ie e t eir inten e  results.

he o pan ’s business re uires signi ant apital in est
ent to e pand apa it  to support its growth  introdu e 

new produ ts  enter new arkets and i pro e operating 
e ien ies  he o pan  has histori all  ade signi ant 

apital in est ents ea h ear and will ontinue to ake apital 
in est ents in uture periods  in luding appro i atel   

 illion o  apital in est ents in  While the o pan  
belie es that an  o  its past apital in est ents ha e been 
su ess ul  there is no guarantee that the return on in est ent 
ro  the o pan ’s re ent or uture apital e penditures will 

be su ient to re o er the e penses and opportunit  osts 
asso iated with these pro e ts  Further ore  a eaning ul 
portion o  the o pan ’s apital in est ent is based on  
ore asted growth in its business  whi h is sub e t to un ertaint  

su h as general e ono i  trends  in reased o petition and 
onsu er pre eren es  I  the o pan  does not a uratel  
ore ast its uture apital in est ent needs  the o pan  ould 

ha e e ess apa it  or insu ient apa it  either o  whi h 
would negati el  a e t its re enues and pro tabilit

T e lon -term erformance of t e Com an s business relies 
on its abilit  to attract  e elo  an  retain talente  ersonnel.

he o pan ’s abilit  to attra t  de elop and retain 
uali ed and talented personnel in anage ent  sales  
arketing  produ t design and operations  in luding in new 

international arkets into whi h the o pan  a  enter  
is ke  to the o pan ’s o erall su ess  he o pan  

o petes with ultinational r s or these e plo ees and 
in ests resour es in re ruiting  de eloping  oti ating and 
retaining the  he ailure to attra t  de elop  oti ate and 
retain ke  e plo ees ould negati el  a e t the o pan ’s 

o petiti e position and its operating results

T e Com an  ma  e erience certain risks associate  it  
ac uisitions  oint entures an  strate ic in estments.

he o pan  intends to grow its business through a  
o bination o  organi  growth and a uisitions  rowth 

through a uisitions in ol es risks  an  o  whi h a  
ontinue to a e t the o pan  a ter the a uisition  he 
o pan  annot gi e assuran e that an a uired o pan  

will a hie e the le els o  re enue  pro tabilit  and produ tion 
that the o pan  e pe ts  uisitions a  re uire the  
issuan e o  additional se urities or the in urren e o  
additional indebtedness  whi h a  dilute the ownership 
interests o  e isting se urit  holders or i pose higher 
interest osts on the o pan  dditional hallenges related 
to the o pan ’s a uisition strateg  in lude

• aintaining e e uti e o es in di erent lo ations;
• anu a turing and selling di erent t pes o  produ ts 

through di erent distribution hannels;
• ondu ting business ro  arious lo ations;
• aintaining di erent operating s ste s and so tware 

on di erent o puter hardware; and
• retaining ke  e plo ees

Failure to su ess ull  anage and integrate an a uisition 
with the o pan ’s e isting operations ould lead to the 
potential loss o  usto ers o  the a uired business  the 
potential loss o  e plo ees who a  be ital to the new 
operations  the potential loss o  business opportunities 
or other ad erse onse uen es that ould ha e a aterial 
ad erse e e t on the o pan ’s business  en i  integration  
o urs su ess ull  ailure o  the a uisition to a hie e 
le els o  anti ipated sales growth  pro tabilit  or otherwise 
per or  as e pe ted  a  result in goodwill or other asset 
i pair ents or otherwise ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on 
the o pan ’s business  Finall  a uisition targets a  be 
sub e t to aterial liabilities that are not properl  identi ed 
in due diligen e and that are not o ered b  seller inde
ni ation obligation or third part  insuran e  he unknown 
liabilities o  the o pan ’s a uisition targets a  ha e a 

aterial ad erse e e t on the o pan ’s business

In addition  the o pan  has ade ertain in est ents  
in luding through oint entures  in whi h the o pan  
has a inorit  e uit  interest and la ks anage ent and 
operational ontrol  he ontrolling oint enture partner 

a  ha e business interests  strategies or goals that are 
in onsistent with those o  the o pan  usiness de isions 
or other a tions or o issions o  the ontrolling oint enture 
partner  or the oint enture o pan  a  result in har  to 
the o pan ’s reputation or ad ersel  a e t the alue o  the 

o pan ’s in est ent in the oint enture

A failure to i entif  suitable ac uisition can i ates or  
artners for strate ic in estments an  to com lete  

ac uisitions coul  a e a material a erse effect on t e  
Com an s business.

s part o  the o pan ’s business strateg  the o pan  
intends to pursue a wide arra  o  potential strategi  transa
tions  in luding a uisitions o  o ple entar  businesses   
as well as strategi  in est ents and oint entures  lthough 
the o pan  regularl  e aluates su h opportunities  the 

o pan  a  not be able to su ess ull  identi  suitable 
a uisition andidates  to se ure ertain re uired go ern

ental appro als ne essar  to onsu ate su h strategi  
transa tions or to obtain su ient nan ing on a eptable 
ter s to und su h strategi  transa tions  whi h a  slow 
the o pan ’s growth and ha e a aterial ad erse e e t 
on the o pan ’s business

T e Com an  as been  an  in t e future ma  be  sub ect to 
costs  liabilities an  ot er obli ations un er e istin  or ne  
la s an  re ulations  ic  coul  a e a material a erse 
effect on t e Com an s business.

he o pan  is sub e t to in reasingl  nu erous and 
o ple  laws  regulations and li ensing re uire ents in 

ea h o  the urisdi tions in whi h the o pan  ondu ts 
business  In addition  new laws and regulations a  be 
ena ted in the  or abroad  the o plian e with whi h 

a  re uire the o pan  to in ur additional personnel  
related  en iron ental  or other osts on an ongoing basis
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In parti ular  the o pan ’s operations are sub e t to 
arious en iron ental  so ial  and health and sa et  laws 

and regulations  in luding those go erning air e issions  
wastewater dis harges  and the use  storage  treat ent  
re ling and disposal o  aterials and nished produ ts  
and other sustainabilit  related atters  he appli able 
re uire ents under these laws are sub e t to a end ent  
to the i position o  new or additional re uire ents and 
to hanging interpretations o  agen ies or ourts  he 

o pan  a  in ur aterial osts in order to o pl  with 
new or e isting regulations  in luding nes and penalties 
and in reased osts o  its operations  For e a ple  ertain 
aspe ts o  the o pan ’s operations and suppl  hain ha e 
be o e  and are e pe ted to be o e in reasingl  sub e t 
to ederal  state  lo al and international laws  regulations 
and international treaties and industr  standards related to 

li ate hange  Man  go erning bodies ha e introdu ed 
additional due diligen e and dis losure re uire ents 
addressing sustainabilit  that the o pan  e pe ts will 
appl  to its operations and suppl  hain in the o ing ears  
su h as ali ornia’s li ate orporate ata ountabilit  

t in the nited tates and the orporate ustainabilit  
eporting ire ti e in the uropean nion  

lso  the o pan ’s anu a turing a ilities a  be o e 
sub e t to urther li itations on e issions due to publi  poli  

on erns regarding li ate hange or other en iron ental or 
health and sa et  on erns  e ause the o pan ’s anu a
turing pro esses use a signi ant a ount o  energ  espe iall  
natural gas  the i position o  greenhouse gas e issions 
li itations  su h as a ap and trade  s ste  ould re uire 
the o pan  to in rease its apital e penditures  use its ash 
to a uire e ission redits or restru ture its anu a turing 
operations  an  o  whi h ould ha e a aterial ad erse e e t 
on its business

Failure to attain certain sustainabilit  tar ets an  oals coul  
a e a material a erse effect on t e Com an s business.

he o pan  has established strategies  goals and targets 
related to li ate hange and other sustainabilit  atters  

he o pan ’s abilit  to a hie e an  su h strategies  goals 
or targets depends on a nu ber o  a tors  in luding  but not 
li ited to  e ol ing regulator  standards  hanges in arbon 

arkets  onsu er de and or low arbon and sustainable 
produ ts  te hnologi al de elop ents  the ondu t o  third
part  anu a turers and suppliers  li ate hange related 
i pa ts  and raw aterial and suppl  hain disruptions  tual 
or per ei ed ailures or dela s in a hie ing strategies  goals 
and targets related to li ate hange and other en iron ental 

atters ould ad ersel  a e t the o pan ’s operations and 
arket o petiti eness  and result in reputational har  and 

in reased risk o  litigation

T e Com an s business o erations coul  suffer si ni cant 
losses from climate c an e  natural isasters  catastro es  

re  an emics or ot er une ecte  e ents.

Man  o  the o pan ’s business a ti ities in ol e 
substantial in est ents in anu a turing a ilities and 

an  produ ts are produ ed at a li ited nu ber o  

lo ations  hese a ilities ould be ateriall  da aged b  
natural disasters  su h as oods  tornados  hurri anes and 
earth uakes  or b  re  pande i s or other une pe ted 
e ents  pe i all  altered weather onditions asso iated 
with li ate hange a  i pa t the o pan ’s abilit  to 
operate ertain anu a turing a ilities and ould also li it 
general residential or o er ial onstru tion a ti it  
whi h in turn ould ad ersel  i pa t onsu er de and 
or the o pan ’s produ ts  he o pan  ould in ur 

uninsured losses and liabilities arising ro  su h e ents  
in luding da age to its reputation  and or su er aterial 
losses in operational apa it  whi h ould ha e a aterial 
ad erse i pa t on its business

T e Com an  ma  be e ose  to liti ation  claims an  ot er 
le al rocee in s relatin  to its ro ucts  o erations an  
com liance it  arious la s an  re ulations  ic  coul  

a e a material a erse effect on t e Com an s business.

In the ordinar  ourse o  business  the o pan  is sub e t 
to a ariet  o  produ t related lai s  lawsuits and legal 
pro eedings  in luding those relating to produ t liabilit  
produ t warrant  produ t re all  personal in ur  and other 

atters  he o pan  is also sub e t to arious lai s 
related to its operations and its o plian e with arious 

orporate laws and regulations  in luding atters des ribed 
in Note  Commitments and Contingencies   er  large 

lai  or se eral si ilar lai s asserted b  a large lass 
o  plainti s ould ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on the 

o pan ’s business  i  the o pan  is unable to su ess ull  
de end against or resol e these atters or i  its insuran e 

o erage is insu ient to satis  an  udg ents against the 
o pan  or settle ents relating to these atters  lthough 

the o pan  has produ t liabilit  insuran e and other t pes 
o  insuran e  the poli ies a  not pro ide o erage or 

ertain lai s against the o pan  or a  not be su ient 
to o er all possible liabilities  Further  the o pan  a  not 
be able to aintain insuran e at o er iall  a eptable 
pre iu  le els  Moreo er  ad erse publi it  arising ro  

lai s ade against the o pan  e en i  the lai s are not 
su ess ul  ould ad ersel  a e t the o pan ’s reputation 
or the reputation and sales o  its produ ts

T e Com an s inabilit  to maintain its atent licensin   
re enues coul  a e a material a erse effect on t e  
Com an s business.

he pro t argins o  ertain o  the o pan ’s busi
nesses  parti ularl  Flooring W  depend in part upon the 

o pan ’s abilit  to obtain  aintain and li ense propri
etar  te hnolog  used in the o pan ’s prin ipal produ t 
a ilies  he o pan  has led and is ontinuing to le 

patents relating to an  di erent aspe ts o  the o pan ’s 
produ ts and asso iated ethods and is generating patent 
li ense re enues on these di erse patents; howe er  ertain 
re enue produ ing patents ha e e pired or will e pire  he 
ailure to de elop alternati e re enues to repla e e pired 

or in alidated patents in the uture ould ha e a aterial 
ad erse e e t on the o pan ’s business



T e Com an s inabilit  to rotect its intellectual ro ert  
ri ts coul  a e a material a erse effect on t e  
Com an s business.

he o pan  relies  in part  on the patent  trade se ret 
and trade ark laws o  the  ountries in the uropean 

nion and elsewhere  as well as on dentialit  agree ents 
with so e o  the o pan ’s e plo ees  to prote t its 
intelle tual propert  he o pan  annot assure in estors 
that an  patents owned b  or issued to it will pro ide the 

o pan  with o petiti e ad antages  that third parties will 
not hallenge these patents  or that the o pan ’s pending 
patent appli ations will be appro ed  

Further ore  despite the o pan ’s e orts  the 
o pan  a  be unable to pre ent o petitors and or 

third parties ro  using the o pan ’s te hnolog  without 
the o pan ’s authori ation  independentl  de eloping 
te hnolog  that is si ilar to that o  the o pan  or designing 
around the o pan ’s patents  he use o  the o pan ’s 
te hnolog  or si ilar te hnolog  b  others ould redu e 
or eli inate an  o petiti e ad antage the o pan  has 
de eloped  ause the o pan  to lose sales or otherwise 
har  the o pan ’s business

he o pan  has obtained and applied or nu erous  
and oreign ser i e arks and trade ark registrations and 
will ontinue to e aluate the registration o  additional ser i e 

arks and trade arks  as appropriate  he o pan  annot 
guarantee that an  o  the o pan ’s pending or uture 
appli ations will be appro ed b  the appli able go ern ental 
authorities  he ailure to obtain trade ark registrations in the 

 and in other ountries ould li it the o pan ’s abilit  
to prote t its trade arks and i pede its arketing e orts 
in those urisdi tions and ould ha e a aterial e e t on its 
business

he o pan  generall  re uires third parties with a ess 
to the o pan ’s trade se rets to agree to keep su h 
in or ation on dential  While su h easures are intended 
to prote t the o pan ’s trade se rets  there an be no 
assuran e that these agree ents will not be brea hed  that 
the o pan  will ha e ade uate re edies or an  brea h or 
that the o pan ’s on dential and proprietar  in or ation 
and te hnolog  will not be independentl  de eloped b  or 
be o e otherwise known to third parties  In an  o  these 

ir u stan es  the o pan ’s o petiti eness ould be 
signi antl  i paired  whi h would li it the o pan ’s 
growth and uture re enue

T ir  arties ma  claim t at t e Com an  infrin e  t eir 
intellectual ro ert  or ro rietar  ri ts  ic  coul  cause 
t e Com an  to incur si ni cant e enses or re ent t e 
Com an  from sellin  its ro ucts.

In the past  third parties ha e lai ed that ertain te h
nologies in orporated in the o pan ’s produ ts in ringe 
their patent rights  he o pan  annot be ertain that 
the o pan ’s produ ts do not and will not in ringe issued 
patents or other intelle tual propert  rights o  others  

he o pan  ight be re uired to pa  substantial 
da ages in luding puniti e da ages and attorne s’ ees  
dis ontinue the use and sale o  in ringing produ ts  e pend 
signi ant resour es to de elop non in ringing te hnolog  or 
obtain li enses authori ing the use o  in ringing te hnolog  

here an be no assuran e that li enses or disputed 
te hnolog  or intelle tual propert  rights would be a ailable 
on reasonable o er ial ter s  i  at all  In the e ent o  a 
su ess ul lai  against the o pan  along with ailure to 
de elop or li ense a substitute te hnolog  the o pan ’s 
business would be ateriall  and ad ersel  a e ted

T e Com an  relies on information s stems in mana in   
t e Com an s o erations an  an  s stem failure or 

e cienc  of suc  s stems ma  a e an a erse effect on 
t e Com an s business.

he o pan ’s businesses rel  on sophisti ated so tware 
appli ations to obtain  pro ess  anal e and anage data  he 

o pan  relies on these s ste s to  a ong other things

• a ilitate the pur hase  anage ent  distribution  and 
pa ent or in entor  ite s;

• anage and onitor the dail  operations o  the  
o pan ’s distribution network;

• re ei e  pro ess and ship orders on a ti el  basis;
• anage a urate billing to and olle tions  

ro  usto ers; 
• ontrol logisti s and ualit  ontrol or the o pan ’s 

retail operations;
• anage nan ial reporting; and
• onitor point o  sale a ti it

he o pan  also relies on its o puter hardware  so tware  
and network or the storage  deli er  and trans ission o  
data to the o pan ’s sales and distribution s ste s  and 

ertain o  the o pan ’s produ tion pro esses are anaged 
and ondu ted b  o puter   

n  e ent that auses interruptions to the input  retrie al 
and trans ission o  data or in rease in the ser i e ti e ould 
disrupt the o pan ’s nor al operations  here an be no 
assuran e that the o pan  an e e ti el  arr  out its 
disaster re o er  plan to handle the ailure o  its in or ation 
s ste s  or that the o pan  will be able to restore its 
operational apa it  within su ient ti e to a oid aterial 
disruption to its business  he o urren e o  an  o  these 
e ents ould ause unanti ipated disruptions in ser i e  
de reased usto er ser i e and usto er satis a tion  har  
to the o pan ’s reputation and loss or isappropriation o  
sensiti e in or ation  whi h ould result in loss o  usto ers  
in reased operating e penses and nan ial losses  n  su h 
e ents ould in turn ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on the 

o pan ’s business  nan ial ondition  results o  operations   
and prospe ts
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In addition  the o pan  both itsel  and through third part  
business partners  olle ts and pro esses proprietar  personal  
on dential and sensiti e data  whi h a  in lude in or ation 

about usto ers  e plo ees  suppliers  distributors and  
others  o e o  this data is stored  a essible or trans erred  
internationall  I  the o pan  does not e e ti el  anage 
the resour es ne essar  to sustain and prote t an appropriate 
in or ation te hnolog  in rastru ture  or does not e e ti el  
i ple ent s ste  upgrades in a ti el  anner  the o pan ’s  
business or nan ial results ould be negati el  i pa ted  

s the regulator  en iron ent related to in or ation 
se urit  data olle tion and use  and pri a  be o es 
in reasingl  rigorous  with new and onstantl  hanging 
re uire ents appli able to the o pan ’s business  

o plian e with those re uire ents ould also result in 
additional osts to the o pan  n  ailure to o pl  
with ederal  state or international pri a related or data 
prote tion laws and regulations ould result in pro eedings 
against the o pan  b  go ern ent entities or others  In 
addition to reputational i pa ts  penalties ould in lude 
signi ant legal liabilit

T e Com an  is sub ect to c bersecurit  risks an  e ects to 
incur increasin  costs in an effort to minimi e t ose risks.

he o pan ’s business e plo s in or ation te hnolog  
s ste s that allow or the se ure storage and trans ission 
o  usto ers’  onsu ers’  endors’  e plo ees’ and its own 
sensiti e and proprietar  in or ation  hese s ste s a  be 
sub e t to o puter ha king  a ts o  andalis  or the t  al
ware  o puter iruses or other ali ious odes  phishing  
e plo ee error or al easan e  atastrophes  un oreseen 
e ents or other ber atta ks  n  signi ant o pro ise 
or brea h o  the o pan ’s data se urit  whether e ternal 
or internal  or isuse o  usto er  onsu er  e plo ee  
supplier or o pan  data  ould result in signi ant osts  
lost sales  nes  lawsuits and da age to the o pan ’s 
reputation  Further ore  as ber atta ks be o e ore 
sophisti ated  the o pan  e pe ts to in ur in reasing 

osts to strengthen its s ste s ro  outside intrusions and 
to aintain insuran e o erage related to the threat o  su h 
atta ks  While the o pan  has i ple ented ad inistrati e 
and te hni al ontrols and has taken other pre enti e a tions  
to redu e the risk o  ber in idents and prote t its in or ation  
te hnolog  the  a  be insu ient to pre ent  or respond 
to  ph si al and ele troni  break ins  ber atta ks or other 
se urit  brea hes to the o pan ’s s ste s   

Further ore  third part  business partners pro ide a 
nu ber o  the ke  o ponents ne essar  to the o pan ’s 
business un tions and s ste s  n  proble s aused b  
these business partners  in luding those resulting ro   
disruptions in o uni ation ser i es pro ided b  a business  
partner  ber atta ks and se urit  brea hes  regulator  
restri tions  nes  or orders or other regulator  a tion ausing  
reputational har  ailure o  a business partner to pro ide 
ser i es or an  reason or poor per or an e o  ser i es  

ould ad ersel  a e t the o pan ’s abilit  to ondu t its 
business  In addition  the o pan ’s business partners ould 
also be sour es o  operational and in or ation se urit  risk 

to the o pan  in luding ro  breakdowns or ailures o  
their own s ste s or apa it  onstraints  epla ing these 
third part  business partners ould also reate signi ant 
dela  and e pense

C an es in t e lobal econom  coul  affect t e Com an s 
o erall a ailabilit  an  cost of cre it.

 downturn in the  or global e ono ies ould i pa t the 
o pan ’s abilit  to obtain nan ing in the uture  in luding an  
nan ing ne essar  to re nan e e isting indebtedness

Further  negati e e ono i  onditions a  a tor into 
the o pan ’s periodi  redit ratings assess ent b  
Mood ’s In estors er i e  In  Mood ’s  tandard  

oor’s Finan ial er i es  LL   and Fit h  In  n  
uture hanges in the redit rating agen ies’ ethodolog  

in assessing the o pan ’s redit strength and an  
downgrades in the o pan ’s redit ratings ould in rease 
the ost o  its e isting redit and ould ad ersel  a e t the 

ost o  and abilit  to obtain additional redit in the uture  
he o pan  an pro ide no assuran es that downgrades 

will not o ur  he ost and a ailabilit  o  redit during 
un ertain e ono i  ti es ould ha e a aterial ad erse 
e e t on the o pan ’s nan ial ondition

If t e Com an  ere unable to meet certain co enants 
containe  in its e istin  cre it facilities  it ma  be re uire  
to re a  borro in s un er t e cre it facilities rior to t eir 
maturit  an  ma  lose access to t e cre it facilities for 
a itional borro in s t at ma  be necessar  to fun  its 
o erations an  ro t  strate .

n ugust   the o pan  entered into a ourth 
a end ent the end ent  to its e isting senior 
re ol ing redit a ilit  the enior redit Fa ilit  that 
pro ides or re ol ing redit  in luding li ited a ounts 
o  redit in the or  o  letters o  redit and swingline loans  

he end ent  a ong other things  in reased the a ount 
a ailable under the enior redit Fa ilit  ro   illion  
to  illion until tober   a ter whi h the 
a ount a ailable under the enior redit Fa ilit  will 
de rease to  illion  n  outstanding borrowings 
under the o pan ’s  and uropean o er ial 
paper progra s also redu e a ailabilit  under the enior 

redit Fa ilit  In luding o er ial paper borrowings  the 
o pan  has utili ed appro i atel   illion under the 
enior redit Fa ilit  resulting in a total o   illion 

a ailable as o  e e ber  

I  the o pan ’s ash ow is worse than e pe ted  the 
o pan  a  need to re nan e all or a portion o  its 

indebtedness through a publi  and or pri ate debt o ering 
or a new bank a ilit  and a  not be able to do so on ter s 
a eptable to it  or at all  I  the o pan  is unable to a ess 
debt arkets at o petiti e rates or in su ient a ounts 
due to redit rating downgrades  arket olatilit  arket 
disruption  or weakness in the o pan ’s businesses  the 

o pan ’s abilit  to nan e its operations or repa  e isting 
debt obligations a  be ateriall  and ad ersel  a e ted



dditionall  the o pan ’s redit a ilities in lude ertain 
a r ati e and negati e o enants that i pose restri tions 
on the o pan ’s nan ial and business operations  in luding  
li itations on liens  indebtedness  unda ental hanges  
asset dispositions  di idends and other si ilar restri ted 
pa ents  transa tions with a liates  pa ents and  

odi ations o  ertain e isting debt  uture negati e 
pledges  and hanges in the nature o  the o pan ’s 
business  In addition  the enior redit Fa ilit  as a ended  
re uires the o pan  to aintain a onsolidated Interest 

o erage atio o  at least  to   ailure to o pl  with 
the obligations ontained in the o pan ’s urrent or uture 

redit a ilities or indentures relating to its outstanding  
publi  debt ould result in an e ent o  de ault or an  
a eleration o  debt under other instru ents that a  

ontain ross a eleration or ross de ault pro isions  he 
o pan  annot be ertain that it would ha e  or be able to 

obtain  su ient unds to ake these a elerated pa ents

eclines in t e Com an s business con itions a e in t e 
ast an  ma  in t e future result in an im airment of t e 

Com an s assets  ic  in turn as resulte  in an  coul  
result in future material non-cas  c ar es.

 signi ant or prolonged de rease in the o pan ’s 
arket apitali ation  in luding a de line in sto k pri e  or 

a negati e long ter  per or an e outlook  has in the past 
resulted in and ould in the uture result in an i pair ent o  
its assets  n i pair ent o urs when the arr ing alue o  
the o pan ’s assets e eed their air alue  he o pan  
tests the goodwill and intangible assets on its balan e sheet 
or i pair ent on an annual basis  and also when e ents o ur 

or ir u stan es hange that indi ate that the air alue o  the 
reporting unit or intangible asset a  be below its arr ing 
a ount  Fair alue deter inations re uire onsiderable  
udg ent and are sensiti e to inherent un ertainties and 
hanges in esti ates and assu ptions  e lines in arket 
onditions  a trend o  weaker than anti ipated nan ial 

per or an e or the o pan ’s reporting units or de lines 
in pro e ted re enue  a de line in sto k pri e or a sustained 
period o  ti e or an in rease in the arket based weighted 
a erage ost o  apital W  a ong other a tors  are 
indi ators that the arr ing alue o  the o pan ’s goodwill 
or inde nite li ed intangible assets a  not be re o erable  

 signi ant or prolonged deterioration in e ono i  
onditions  a urther de line in the o pan ’s arket 
apitali ation or o parable o pan  arket ultiples  

a redu tion in pro e ted uture ash ows  or in reases 
in the W  ould i pa t the o pan ’s assu ptions 
and re uire a reassess ent o  goodwill or inde nite li ed 
intangible assets or i pair ent in uture periods

e ati e ta  conse uences coul  materiall  an  a ersel  
affect t e Com an s business.

he o pan  is sub e t to the ta  laws o  the an  uris
di tions in whi h it operates  hese ta  laws are o ple   
and the anner in whi h the  appl  to the o pan ’s a ts  
is so eti es open to interpretation  In al ulating the  
pro ision or in o e ta es  the o pan  ust ake 

udg ents about the appli ation o  these inherentl  o ple  
ta  laws  he o pan ’s do esti  and international ta  
liabilities are largel  dependent upon the distribution o  
pro t be ore ta  a ong these an  urisdi tions  owe er  
the o pan ’s pro ision or in o e ta es also in ludes 
esti ates o  additional ta  that a  be in urred or ta  
e posures and re e ts arious esti ates and assu ptions  
in luding assess ents o  uture earnings o  the o pan  
that ould i pa t the aluation o  its de erred ta  assets  he 

o pan ’s uture results o  operations and ta  liabilit  ould 
be ad ersel  a e ted b  hanges in the e e ti e ta  rate 
as a result o  a hange in the i  o  earnings in ountries 
with di ering statutor  ta  rates  hanges in the o erall 
pro tabilit  o  the o pan  hanges in ta  legislation and 
rates  hanges in generall  a epted a ounting prin iples  

hanges in the aluation o  de erred ta  assets and liabilities  
hanges in the a ount o  earnings per anentl  rein ested 

o shore  the results o  audits and e a inations o  pre iousl  
led ta  returns  and ongoing assess ents o  the o pan ’s 

ta  e posures  

ertain ountries in whi h the o pan  operates ha e 
ena ted the rgani ation or ono i  o operation and  

e elop ent’s  illar wo lobal nti ase rosion  
L  and ransitional ountr b ountr  eporting 

 a e arbor rules  he ’s L  odel  
rules  and supple ental published ad inistrati e guidan e   
pro ide a ra ework that ensures that ultinational enterprises  

MN s  with re enue abo e  illion pa  a ini u  
le el o  ta  o   on their pro ts arising in ea h urisdi tion 
where the  operate

he ra ework in ludes an in o e in lusion rule II  and 
an underta ed pa ents rule  that work together to 
ensure a ini u  le el o  ta  in ea h urisdi tion in whi h a 
MN  operates  Further  ountries an ena t their own uali ed  
do esti  ini u  top up ta  M  in order to li it the 
appli ation o  an II  or  to their do esti  in o e  II s  
and M s are e pe ted to be e e ti e or the o pan  
beginning in  in so e  but not all  o  the urisdi tions in 
whi h the o pan  operates  he  is e pe ted to be 
e e ti e or the o pan  beginning in  whi h ould 
sub e t the o pan ’s worldwide pro ts to a ini u  
le el o  ta  regardless o  whether the ountr  in whi h the 

o pan  earned the in o e has adopted the L  rules  
he o pan  e pe ts to be able to satis  the re uire ents 

o  ertain  a e arbor rules in an  urisdi tions ro  
 li iting the i pa t o  the L  rules in the 

uali ing urisdi tions  and as su h  the o pan  does not 
anti ipate a aterial i pa t to its pro ision or in o e ta es in 
the near ter  he o pan  ontinues to onitor the ’s 
guidan e related to the L  rules and related legislation in 
the ountries in whi h the o pan  operates to assess their 
potential i pa t to the o pan ’s in o e ta  position
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Forward-Looking Information
ertain o  the state ents in this For   parti ularl  

those anti ipating uture per or an e  business prospe ts  
growth and operating strategies  and si ilar atters  and 
those that in lude the words ould  should  belie es  
anti ipates  e pe ts  and esti ates  or si ilar e pressions 
onstitute orward looking state ents  within the eaning 

o  e tion  o  the e urities t o   as a ended  
and e tion  o  the e urities hange t o   
as a ended  For those state ents  Mohawk lai s the 
prote tion o  the sa e harbor or orward looking state ents 

ontained in the ri ate e urities Litigation e or  t o  
 here an be no assuran e that the orward looking 

state ents will be a urate be ause the  are based on an  
assu ptions  whi h in ol e risks and un ertainties  he 
ollowing i portant a tors ould ause uture results to di er  
hanges in e ono i  or industr  onditions; o petition; 

in ation and de ation in reight  raw aterial pri es and other 
input osts; in ation and de ation in onsu er arkets;  

urren  u tuations; energ  osts and suppl ; ti ing and 
le el o  apital e penditures; ti ing and i ple entation o   
pri e in reases or the o pan ’s produ ts; i pair ent 

harges; integration o  a uisitions; international operations;  
introdu tion o  new produ ts; rationali ation o  opera
tions; ta es and ta  re or ; produ t and other lai s; 
litigation; geopoliti al on i t; regulator  and politi al 

hanges in the urisdi tions in whi h the o pan  does 
business; and other risks identi ed in Mohawk’s  
reports and publi  announ e ents

Item 1B. nresol e  taff Comments

None

Item 1C. C bersecurit

Risk Management and Strategy 
he o pan  aintains robust and o prehensi e 

pro esses  pro edures and ontrols to prote t and se ure 
its in or ation s ste s and data in rastru ture ro  ber
se urit  threats  he o pan ’s berse urit  progra  is 
led b  its enior ire tor o  berse urit  who un tions as 
the hie  in or ation se urit  o er I  he o pan ’s 

berse urit  progra  inter a es with other un tional 
areas within the o pan  in luding but not li ited to the 

o pan ’s business seg ents and in or ation te hnolog  
I  legal  risk anage ent  hu an resour es and internal 

audit depart ents  as well as e ternal third part  partners  
to identi  and understand potential berse urit  threats  

he o pan  regularl  assesses and updates its pro esses  
pro edures and anage ent te hni ues in light o  ongoing 

berse urit  de elop ents   

Internall  the I  oordinates o ersight o  re iewing 
se urit  alerts  identi ing and onitoring ongoing and 
potential berse urit  threats  e aluating strategi  business 
i pa ts o  berse urit  threats and de eloping progra s 
and initiati es to edu ate the o pan ’s e plo ees 
regarding berse urit  he I  also anages the 

o pan ’s o puter e urit  In ident esponse lan 
the In ident esponse lan  whi h outlines a tion 

steps or the preparation  identi ation  triage  anal sis  
ontain ent  eradi ation  re o er  and re e tion stages 

o  a berse urit  in ident  he In ident esponse lan 
ser es as the harter or the o pan ’s o puter e urit  
In ident esponse ea  the In ident esponse ea  
whi h in ludes a strategi  tea  o prised o  e e uti es 
ro  arious ross un tional anage ent tea s  as well 

as a ta ti al tea  o prised o  internal te hni al support 
roles and e ternal third part  ser i e pro iders  he In ident 

esponse lan pro ides how the In ident esponse ea  will  
anal e and  as ne essar  es alate berse urit  in idents 
both internall  and with third part  ser i e pro iders based 
on t pe and se erit  o  the spe i  in ident

he o pan  also re uires berse urit  training or rele
ant e plo ees  o using on the appropriate prote tion and 

se urit  o  on dential o pan  and third part  in or ation  
dditionall  the o pan  pro ides annual berse urit  

awareness training that o ers a broad range o  se urit  
topi s  in luding se ure a ess pra ti e  phishing s he es  
re ote work and response to suspi ious a ti ities  In addition 
to online training  e plo ees are edu ated through a nu ber 
o  ethods  in luding e ent triggered awareness a paigns  
re ognition progra s  se urit  presentations  o pan  
intranet arti les  ideos  s ste generated o uni ations  
e ail publi ations and arious si ulation e er ises

he o pan  has engaged a third part  anaged 
dete tion and response o pan  to onitor the se urit  o  
its in or ation s ste s around the lo k  in luding intrusion 
dete tion  and to pro ide instantaneous alerting should a 

berse urit  e ent o ur  he o pan  also has engaged a 
third part  digital orensi s and in ident response onsultant 
on retainer

he o pan  does not belie e that an  risks ro  
berse urit  threats  nor an  pre ious berse urit  

in idents  ha e ateriall  a e ted the o pan  owe er  
the sophisti ation o  ber threats ontinues to in rease  
and the pre entati e a tions the o pan  has taken and 

ontinues to take to redu e the risk o  ber in idents and 
prote t its s ste s and in or ation a  not su ess ull  
prote t against all ber in idents  For ore in or ation on 
how berse urit  risk a  ateriall  a e t the o pan ’s 
business strateg  results o  operations  or nan ial ondi
tion  please re er to Ite   isk Fa tors  



Governance
he o pan ’s udit o ittee and oard o  ire tors 

pro ide ulti ate o ersight o  the o pan ’s berse urit  
risk anage ent  he udit o ittee regularl  re iews 
and dis usses with anage ent the strategies  pro esses  
pro edures and ontrols pertaining to the anage ent o  
the o pan ’s in or ation te hnolog  operations  in luding  

ber risks and berse urit  he o pan ’s hie  In or ation  
er I  pro ides uarterl  reports to the oard o  

ire tors regarding the e ol ing berse urit  risk lands ape   
in luding e erging risks  as well as the o pan ’s pro esses   
progra  and initiati es or anaging these risks

he o pan ’s I  reports dire tl  to the I  who in 
turn reports to the  he I  aintains the erti ed 
in or ation s ste s se urit  pro essional I  erti ation  
and has o er  ears o  e perien e in berse urit  nder 
the dire tion o  the I  the o pan ’s in or ation 
te hnolog  depart ent ontinuousl  anal es berse urit  
and resilien  risks to our business  onsiders industr  trends 
and i ple ents ontrols  as appropriate  to itigate these 
risks  his anal sis dri es the o pan ’s long  and short ter  

berse urit  strategies  whi h are e e uted through a 
ollaborati e e ort within the I  depart ent and are  
o uni ated to the oard o  ire tors regularl

 Item . ro erties 

he o pan  owns and leases anu a turing and 
distribution a ilities worldwide  he table below lists the 
pri ar  owned and leased a ilities as o  e e ber   

he o pan  owns its orporate head uarters in alhoun  
eorgia  he o pan  also owns and operates ser i e en

ters and stores in the nited tates  anada and ussia  none 
o  whi h are indi iduall  aterial  he o pan  belie es its 
e isting a ilities are suitable or its present needs

eg ent and ropert  se
North 
eri a

urope  
and  

ussia ther otal

Global Ceramic:
Manu a turing 

istribution  Warehouse 
Flooring North America:

Manu a turing  
istribution  Warehouse  

Flooring Rest of the World:

Manu a turing 
istribution  Warehouse 22 2

Total
Manufacturing (1) 34 32 11 77

Distribution / Warehouse (1) 32 32 7 71
(1)

Item . e al rocee in s

Fro  ti e to ti e in the regular ourse o  its business  the 
o pan  is in ol ed in arious lawsuits  lai s  in estigations  

and other legal atters  ept as noted elsewhere in this 
report  there are no aterial legal pro eedings pending or 
known b  the o pan  to be onte plated to whi h the  

o pan  is a part  or to whi h an  o  its propert  is sub e t

ee Note  Commitments and Contingencies  and Note 
 Income Taxes, o  the notes to the onsolidated Finan ial 

tate ents in luded in art II  Ite   o  this For   or a 
dis ussion o  the o pan ’s legal pro eedings

Item . ine afet  isclosures

he in or ation on erning ine sa et  iolations or other 
regulator  atters re uired b  e tion a  o  the odd
Frank Wall treet e or  and onsu er rote tion t and 
Ite   o  egulation  is in luded in hibit  to this 
annual report on For  
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PART II
 

Item .  arket for Re istrant s Common uit  
Relate  tock ol er atters an  Issuer 

urc ases of uit  ecurities

Market for the Common Stock
he o pan ’s o on sto k   par alue per share 

the o on to k  is uoted on the New ork to k 
hange N  under the s bol M

s o  Februar  2  2 2  there were 2  holders o  re ord 
o  o on to k  he o pan  has not paid or de lared 
an  ash di idends on shares o  its o on to k sin e 

o pleting its initial publi  o ering  he pa ent o  uture 
ash di idends will be at the dis retion o  the oard o  
ire tors and will depend upon the o pan ’s pro tabilit  
nan ial ondition  ash re uire ents  uture prospe ts and 

other a tors dee ed rele ant b  the oard o  ire tors

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
n Februar   2 22  the o pan ’s oard o  ire tors 

appro ed a new share repur hase progra  authori ing the 
o pan  to repur hase up to  illion o  its o on 

sto k the 2 22 hare epur hase rogra  s o  
e e ber  2 2  there re ains 22 2 illion authori ed 

under the 2 22 hare epur hase rogra

nder the 2 22 hare epur hase rogra  the o pan  
a  pur hase o on sto k in open arket transa tions  

blo k or pri atel  negotiated transa tions  and a  ro  
ti e to ti e pur hase shares pursuant to trading plans in 
a ordan e with ules b  or b  under the hange 

t or b  an  o bination o  su h ethods  he nu ber o  
shares to be pur hased and the ti ing o  the pur hases are 
based on a ariet  o  a tors  in luding  but not li ited to  
the le el o  ash balan es  redit a ailabilit  debt o enant 
restri tions  general business onditions  regulator   re uire

ents   the  arket  pri e  o   the  o pan ’s  sto k  and  the  
a ailabilit   o   alternati e in est ent opportunities  No ti e 
li it was set or o pletion o  repur hases under the 2 22 

hare epur hase rogra  and the 2 22 hare epur hase 
rogra  a  be suspended or dis ontinued at an  ti e

eriod

otal Nu ber  
o  hares  
ur hased  

in Millions

erage  
ri e aid  

per hare

otal Nu ber o  
hares ur hased 

as art o  ubli l  
nnoun ed lan  

in Millions

ppro i ate ollar 
alue o  hares hat 

Ma  et e  
ur hased nder  

the lan in Millions

tober  through No e ber  2 2     22 2
No e ber  through e e ber 2  2 2     22 2

e e ber  through e e ber  2 2     22 2
Total — $ — —

Item . Reser e

Item .  ana ement s iscussion an  Anal sis of 
Financial Con ition an  Results of erations

Overview
he ollowing dis ussion and anal sis o  the o pan ’s 

esults o  perations in ludes a o parison o  s al 
2 2  to s al 2 22   si ilar dis ussion and anal sis that 

o pares s al 2 22 to s al 2 2  a  be ound in Ite   
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations  o  the o pan ’s For   or 
the s al ear ended e e ber  2 22

uring the past three de ades  the o pan  has grown 
signi antl  through a o bination o  organi  growth and 
a uisitions  Its urrent geographi  breadth and di erse 
produ t o ering are re e ted in three reporting seg ents  

lobal era i  Flooring N  and Flooring W  lobal 
era i  designs  anu a tures  sour es and arkets a 

broad line o  era i  tile  por elain tile  natural stone tile and 
other produ ts in luding natural stone  por elain slabs and 

uart  ountertops  whi h it distributes pri aril  in North 
eri a  urope and Latin eri a through arious selling 

hannels  whi h in lude ho e enters  o pan owned 
ser i e enters and stores  oor o ering retailers  era i  
tile spe ialists  e o er e retailers  residential builders  
independent distributors  o er ial ontra tors and 

o er ial end users  Flooring N  designs  anu a tures  
sour es and arkets its oor o ering produ ts  in luding 
broadloo  arpet  arpet tile  arpet ushion  rugs  la inate  

in l produ ts  in luding lu ur  in l tile L  and sheet 
in l  and wood ooring  all o  whi h it distributes through  

its network o  regional distribution enters and satellite  
warehouses using o pan operated tru ks  o on arriers 
or rail transportation  he eg ent’s produ t lines are sold 
through arious hannels  in luding independent oor o ering  
retailers  ho e enters  ass er handisers  depart ent 
stores  shop at ho e  bu ing groups  residential builders  
independent distributors  o er ial ontra tors and  

o er ial end users  Flooring W designs  anu a tures   
sour es  li enses and arkets la inate  in l produ ts  
in luding L  and sheet in l  wood ooring  roo ng panels  
insulation boards  ediu densit  berboard M F  

hipboards  de orati e sur a es and e anine oors  whi h 



it distributes pri aril  in urope and ustralasia through  
arious hannels  in luding independent oor o ering 

retailers  wholesalers  ho e enters  o pan operated 
distributors  independent distributors  residential builders  

o er ial ontra tors and o er ial end users

Mohawk is a signi ant supplier o  e er  a or ooring 
ategor  with anu a turing operations in  nations and 

sales in appro i atel   ountries  ased on its annual 
sales  the o pan  belie es it is the world’s largest ooring 

anu a turer   a orit  o  the o pan ’s long li ed assets 
are lo ated in the nited tates and urope  whi h are also 
the o pan ’s pri ar  arkets  dditionall  the o pan  

aintains operations in ustralia  ra il  Mala sia  Me i o  
New ealand  ussia and other parts o  the world  he 

o pan  is a leading pro ider o  ooring or residential and 
o er ial arkets and has earned signi ant re ognition 
or its inno ation in design and per or an e as well  

as sustainabilit   

ue to its global ootprint  Mohawk’s business is sensiti e 
to a roe ono i  and geopoliti al e ents in the nited 

tates and abroad  s a result o  ongoing ussian ilitar  
a tions in kraine  the o pan  has e perien ed and 

a  ontinue to e perien e suppl  hain disruption o  raw 
aterials sour ed ro  kraine  as well as other aterials 

and spare parts needed in the o pan ’s operations i  
alternati e sour es identi ed in other ountries annot ul ll 
these needs  he o pan  an also be i pa ted b  global 
in reases in the ost o  natural gas  oil and oil based raw 

aterials and he i als  whi h were a ong the broader  
onse uen es o  ussia’s a tions in the initial ear o  the 
on i t  In addition  the nited tates  the uropean nion 

and other go ern ents ha e i posed and e tended  
san tions on ussia as well as on ertain indi iduals and 

nan ial institutions and ha e proposed the use o  broader 
e ono i  san tions  in e the rst uarter o  2 22  the 

o pan  has suspended new in est ents in ussia  he 
broader onse uen es o  this on i t  whi h a  in lude 
urther e ono i  san tions  e bargoes  regional instabilit  

and geopoliti al shi ts; potential retaliator  a tions  in luding 
nationali ation o  oreign owned businesses; in reased 
tensions between the nited tates and ountries in whi h 
the o pan  operates; and the e tent o  the on i t’s e e t 
on the o pan ’s business and results o  operations  as well 
as the global e ono  annot be predi ted  In addition  a 
prolonged and ore e pansi e on i t in the Middle ast 
region ould es alate oil and petroleu based he i al 
pri es as well as lead to the introdu tion o  san tions or 
transportation barriers  though the e tent o  the on i t’s 
i pa t on the o pan ’s business and results o  operations  
as well as the global e ono  annot be predi ted  

uring 2 2  rising interest rates  dela ed onsu er 
spending due to in ationar  pressures and other a roe o
no i  a tors i pa ted new single a il  ho e onstru
tion and residential re odeling in ost o  the o pan ’s 

a or arkets  In reased ortgage rates ha e suppressed 
the housing arket and de reased ho e reno ation a ti it  
In addition  globall  onsu ers ha e a ed a higher ost o  

li ing  redu ing dis retionar  spending on large pur hases 
su h as ooring  Mohawk has  to so e e tent  o set the 
i pa t o  de reased onstru tion and reno ation a ti it  
through ost ontain ent  produ ti it  and lower input 

osts  e lining osts in energ  and raw aterials  oupled 
with lower industr  olu es  onstrained selling pri es  
although energ  pri es in ertain geographies and aterials 
pri es in so e produ t ategories re ain olatile and a  

hange signi antl  and unpredi tabl  whi h ould ha e 
an ad erse i pa t on the o pan ’s results  i ilarl  in a
tionar  pressures around the globe a  ontinue to i pa t 

onsu er and o er ial in est ents in ooring and other 
large  de errable pur hases  uring 2 2  the o pan  
o used on redu ing osts through restru turing a tions  

and anu a turing enhan e ents b  taking ertain a tions 
to enhan e uture per or an e  in luding a ilit  and produ t  
rationali ations and work or e redu tions  he o pan  
anti ipates these global a tions will deli er annual sa ings  
o  appro i atel   illion  with an esti ated ost o  
appro i atel  2  illion  

he o pan  belie es it is well positioned with a strong 
balan e sheet  ased on its urrent li uidit  and a ailable 

redit  the o pan  is in a position to nan e internal 
in est ents  a uisitions and or additional sto k pur hases 
and pa  urrent debt as it be o es due  For in or ation on 
risk that ould i pa t the o pan ’s results  please re er to 
Risk Factors in art I  Ite   o  this For  

in e be o ing a publi l  traded o pan  in pril 2  
Mohawk has grown both organi all  and through strategi  
and bolt on a uisitions  Mohawk has o pleted a nu ber 
o  s aller a uisitions in re ent ears  an  o  whi h 
e panded the o pan ’s hard sur a e ooring distribution 
in urope  In 2 22  the o pan  o pleted e s all  
bolt on a uisitions  a wood eneer plant in o ania; a sheet 

in l produ er in oland; a e anine ooring anu a turer 
in er an ; a nonwo en arpet and rug produ er in the ; 
and a o er ial ooring tri  and a essories business  
in the  uring the rst uarter o  2 2  the o pan  

o pleted its a uisitions o  itro e  a Me i an era i   
tile business  and li abeth e esti entos  a ra ilian era i  
tile business  he o pan  belie es these a uisitions ha e 
urther solidi ed the o pan ’s position in the Me i o and 
ra ilian era i  tile arkets  respe ti el

In 2 2  the o pan  in ested 2  illion in new and 
e isting pro e ts  ost redu tion initiati es  pre iousl  initi
ated e pansion pro e ts  in est ents to upgrade e uip ent 
in ra il and Me i o ro  re ent a uisitions and general 

aintenan e a ross the business  ri ar  in est ent areas 
in lude the o pan ’s L  port olio to upgrade its produ t 
o ering and i pro e pro tabilit ; pre iu  waterproo  
la inate in North eri a and urope; and uart  oun
tertop and por elain slab e pansion in North eri a and 

urope  respe ti el  In 2 2  the o pan  plans to in est 
appro i atel   illion o used on o pleting apa it  
e pansion pro e ts and targeted initiati es that will dri e ost 
redu tion while i pro ing operational per or an e  
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Net loss attributable to the o pan  was  illion 
or 2 2  o pared to net earnings o  2 2 illion or 2 22  
he hange was pri aril  attributable to lower sales olu e; 

higher i pair ent harges to redu e the arr ing a ount 
o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles; un a orable net 
i pa t o  pri e and produ t i ; the un a orable i pa t o  
te porar  plant shutdowns; the un a orable net i pa t o  
oreign e hange rates; higher restru turing  a uisition and 

integration related and other osts; higher legal settle ents  
reser es and ees; higher interest e pense and higher osts 
asso iated with in est ents in new produ t de elop ent 
and arketing osts  he un a orable i pa t o  the 
a ore entioned ite s was partiall  o set b  lower ta es 
due to de reased earnings in 2 2  o pared to the prior 

ear; produ ti it  gains and lower in ation  he o pan  
belie es that a nu ber o  ir u stan es a  in uen e 
trends in 2 2  in luding ontinued i pa t o  in ation on 

onsu er dis retionar  spending  barriers to ho e sales 
due to higher interest rates  ontinued so tness in residential 
re odeling and un ertaint  in residential and o er ial 
new onstru tion  but the e tent and duration o  su h i pa t 

annot be predi ted

For the ear ended e e ber  2 2  the o pan  
generated 2 2 illion o  ash ro  operating a ti ities  

s o  e e ber  2 2  the o pan  had ash and ash 
e ui alents o  2  illion  o  whi h  illion was in 
the nited tates and  illion was in oreign ountries

Results of Operations
For the ears nded e e ber 

In illions 2023 2 22

Statement of operations data:

Net sales $ 11,135.1    
ost o  sales  8,425.5    

Gross pro t  2,709.7  2  2  2
elling  general and ad inistrati e e penses 2  2,119.7   2  

I pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles  877.7    
Operating income (loss)  (287.8)  2  2 2  2
Interest expense  77.5    

ther in o e  expense  net  (10.8)    
Earnings (loss) before income taxes  (354.5)  2   
In o e tax expense  84.9    
Net earnings (loss) including noncontrolling interests  (439.4)   2  2
Less  Net earnings attributable to non ontrolling interests  0.1    
Net earnings (loss) attributable to Mohawk Industries, Inc. $ (439.5)   2 2  2

  ost o  sales in ludes
estru turing  a uisition and integration related harges and other osts $ 105.0    

uisition in entor  step up  4.5   2  
ther harges  —   2  

2   elling  general and ad inistrati e expenses in lude
estru turing  a uisition and integration related harges  27.2  2   

Legal settle ents  reser es and ees  87.8   2  
ther harges  —    

  ther in o e  expense in ludes
elease o  inde ni ation asset  (3.0)    
ther harges  (2.9)    

  In o e tax expense in ludes
uropean tax restru turing  (10.0)     

In o e taxes  re ersal o  un ertain position  3.0    
ther harges  —    



Year Ended December 31, 2023, as Compared 
with Year Ended December 31, 2022 
Net Sales

Net sales or 2 2  were  illion o pared to net 
sales o   illion or 2 22  he hange was pri aril  
attributable to lower lega  sales olu e o  approxi atel  

 illion; the un a orable net i pa t o  pri e and produ t 
ix o  approxi atel   illion and the un a orable net 

i pa t o  oreign ex hange rates o  approxi atel  2 illion  
partiall  o set b  higher sales olu e attributable to a uisi
tions o  approxi atel   illion

Global Ceramic Net sales or 2 2  were  illion 
o pared to net sales o   illion or 2 22  he hange 

was pri aril  attributable to lower lega  sales olu e o  
approxi atel  2  illion and the un a orable net i pa t o  
oreign ex hange rates o  approxi atel   illion  partiall  

o set b  higher sales olu e attributable to a uisitions o  
approxi atel  2  illion and the a orable net i pa t o  
pri e and produ t ix o  approxi atel   illion

Flooring NA Net sales or 2 2  were 2  illion  
o pared to net sales o  2  illion or 2 22  he hange 

was pri aril  attributable to lower lega  sales olu e o  
approxi atel   illion and the un a orable net i pa t o  
pri e and produ t ix o  approxi atel   illion  partiall  
o set b  higher sales olu e attributable to a uisitions o  
approxi atel   illion

Flooring ROW Net sales or 2 2  were  illion 
o pared to net sales o  222  illion or 2 22  he 
hange was pri aril  attributable to lower lega  sales 
olu e o  approxi atel   illion; the un a orable  

net i pa t o  pri e and produ t ix o  approxi atel   
2 illion and the un a orable net i pa t o  oreign 

ex hange rates o  approxi atel   illion  partiall  
o set b  higher sales olu e attributable to a uisitions  
o  approxi atel   illion

uarterl  net sales and the per entage hanges in net 
sales b  uarter or 2 2  ersus 2 22 were as ollows  
dollars in illions

2023 2 22 hange

First uarter  $ 2,806.2

e ond uarter 2,950.4 2
hird uarter 2,766.2 2 2

Fourth uarter 2,612.3 2
Full ear  $ 11,135.1

Gross Profit
ross pro t or 2 2  was 2  illion o pared to 

gross pro t o  2  illion or 2 22  he hange was pri
aril  attributable to lower sales olu e o  approxi atel   

 illion; the un a orable net i pa t o  pri e and produ t  
ix o  approxi atel   illion; the un a orable i pa t 

o  te porar  plant shutdowns o  approxi atel   illion; 
the un a orable net i pa t o  oreign ex hange rates 
o  approxi atel   illion and higher restru turing  
a uisition and integration related  and other osts o  
approxi atel   illion  partiall  o set b  lower in ation 
o  approxi atel  2 illion and produ ti it  gains o  
approxi atel  2  illion

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
elling  general and ad inistrati e expenses or 2 2  were 

2  illion o pared to 2  illion or 2 22  he 
hange was pri aril  attributable to higher in ation o  approx

i atel  2 illion and an in rease in expenses due to the net 
i pa t o  a uired businesses o  approxi atel   illion

Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangibles
I pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles 

or 2 2  was  illion o pared to i pair ent o  
goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles o   illion 
or 2 22  s a result o  a de rease in the o pan ’s arket 
apitali ation  a higher W  and a roe ono i  onditions   

the o pan  per or ed interi  i pair ent tests o  its 
goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles  whi h resulted  
in the i pair ent harges

Operating Income (Loss)
perating loss or 2 2  was 2  illion o pared to 

operating in o e o  2 2 illion or 2 22  he hange was 
pri aril  attributable to lower sales olu e o  approxi atel  

22  illion; higher i pair ent harges to redu e the 
arr ing a ount o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles 

o  approxi atel  2 illion; the un a orable net i pa t 
o  pri e and produ t ix o  approxi atel   illion; 
the un a orable i pa t o  te porar  plant shutdowns o  
approxi atel   illion; the un a orable net i pa t o  
oreign ex hange rates o  approxi atel   illion; higher 

restru turing  a uisition and integration related  and 
other osts o  approxi atel   illion and higher legal 
settle ents  reser es and ees o  approxi atel   illion  
partiall  o set b  produ ti it  gains o  approxi atel   

 illion and lower in ation o  approxi atel   illion

Global Ceramic perating loss was  illion or 2 2  
o pared to operating loss o  2  illion or 2 22  he 
hange was pri aril  attributable to lower i pair ent harges 

to redu e the arr ing a ount o  goodwill and inde nite li ed 
intangibles o  approxi atel  2 2 illion and produ ti it  
gains o  approxi atel   illion  partiall  o set b  lower 
sales olu e o  approxi atel   illion; higher in ation  
o  approxi atel  2 illion; the un a orable i pa t o  
te porar  plant shutdowns o  approxi atel   illion  
and higher restru turing  a uisition and integration related  
and other osts o  approxi atel   illion
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Flooring NA perating loss was 2 illion or 2 2  
o pared to operating in o e o  2  illion or 2 22  
he hange was pri aril  attributable to higher i pair ent 
harges to redu e the arr ing a ount o  goodwill and 

inde nite li ed intangibles o  approxi atel  2  illion; 
the un a orable net i pa t o  pri e and produ t ix o  
approxi atel   illion and lower sales olu e o  
approxi atel   illion  partiall  o set b  lower in ation 
o  approxi atel   illion and produ ti it  gains o  
approxi atel   illion

Flooring ROW perating in o e was  illion or 
2 2  o pared to operating in o e o  2 illion 
or 2 22  he hange was pri aril  attributable to higher 

i pair ent harges to redu e the arr ing a ount o  
goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles o  approxi atel  

22  illion; lower sales olu e o  approxi atel   illion 
and the un a orable net i pa t o  oreign ex hange rates o  
approxi atel   illion  partiall  o set b  lower in ation 
o  approxi atel   illion

Interest Expense
Interest expense was  illion or 2 2  o pared to 

interest expense o   illion or 2 22  he hange was 
pri aril  attributable to a signi ant in rease in interest 
rates  as well as in reased borrowings due to the a uisitions 

ade in 2 22 and the rst uarter o  2 2    

Other Income and Expense
ther in o e was  illion or 2 2  o pared to 

other expense o   illion or 2 22  he hange was 
pri aril  attributable to the re ersal o  an un ertain tax 
position re orded with the o pan ’s 2  a uisition 
o  il era i a r l during the twel e onths ended 

e e ber  2 22

Income Tax Expense
For 2 2  the o pan  re orded in o e tax expense o  

 illion on loss be ore in o e taxes o   illion 
or an e e ti e tax rate o  2  as o pared to an in o e 

tax expense o   illion on earnings be ore in o e 
taxes o   illion  resulting in an e e ti e tax rate o  

 or 2 22  he hange in the e e ti e tax rate was  
pri aril  dri en b  a shi t ro  earnings be ore in o e 
taxes to a loss be ore in o e taxes and an in rease in the 
i pair ent o  non dedu tible goodwill

Liquidity and Capital Resources
he o pan ’s pri ar  apital re uire ents are or 

working apital  apital expenditures and a uisitions   
he o pan ’s apital needs are et pri aril  through 

a o bination o  internall  generated unds  o er ial 
paper  bank redit lines  ter  and senior notes and redit 
ter s ro  suppliers  s o  e e ber  2 2  the 

o pan  had a total o  2  illion a ailable under its 
enior redit Fa ilit  he o pan  also aintains lo al 
urren  re ol ing lines o  redit and other redit a ilities 

to pro ide li uidit  to its businesses around the world  
None o  su h lo al a ilities are aterial in a ount

Net ash pro ided b  operating a ti ities or the ear 
ended 2 2  was 2 2 illion  o pared to net ash 
pro ided b  operating a ti ities o  2 illion or the ear 
ended 2 22  he hange was pri aril  attributable to the 

hange in in entor  and a ounts re ei able  partiall  o set 
b  lower net earnings and the hange in a ounts pa able    

Net ash used in in esting a ti ities or the ear ended 
2 2  was  illion o pared to net ash used in 
in esting a ti ities o  2  illion or the ear ended 
2 22  he hange was pri aril  due to the in rease in 
a uisitions o   illion and the in rease in apital 
expenditures o  2 2 illion   

Net ash used in nan ing a ti ities or the ear ended 
2 2  was 2  illion o pared to net ash pro ided b  

nan ing a ti ities o   illion or the ear ended 2 22  
he hange was pri aril  attributable to lower pro eeds 

net o  pa ents  ro  o er ial paper o   illion  
lower pro eeds ro  the er  Loan Fa ilit  o   illion  
partiall  o set b  higher pro eeds net o  pa ents  on the 

enior Notes o  2  illion and lower share repur hases 
o   illion

n Februar   2 22  the o pan ’s oard o  ire tors 
appro ed a new share repur hase progra  authori ing 
the o pan  to repur hase up to  illion o  its 

o on sto k the 2 22 hare epur hase rogra  
s o  e e ber  2 2  there re ains 22 2 illion 

authori ed under the 2 22 hare epur hase rogra

s o  e e ber  2 2  the o pan  had ash o  
2  illion  o  whi h  illion was held outside the 

nited tates  he o pan  plans to per anentl  rein est  
the ash held outside the nited tates  he o pan  
belie es that its ash and ash e ui alents  ash generated 
ro  operations and a ailabilit  under its enior redit 

Fa ilit  will be su ient to eet its planned apital  
expenditures  working apital in est ents and debt  
ser i ing re uire ents o er the next twel e onths

n anuar   2 2  the o pan  prepaid the entiret  o  
the  portion o  the er  Loan Fa ilit  in the a ount o  

 n Februar   2 2  the o pan  prepaid the 
entiret  o  the  portion o  the er  Loan Fa ilit  in the 
a ount o  22

ee Note  Long-Term Debt  o  the notes to the 
onsolidated Finan ial tate ents in luded in art II  Ite  
 o  this For   or urther dis ussion o  the o pan ’s 

long ter  debt  he o pan  a  ontinue  ro  ti e to 
ti e  to retire its outstanding debt through ash pur hases  
in the open arket  pri atel  negotiated transa tions or  
otherwise  u h repur hases  i  an  will depend on pre ailing  

arket onditions  the o pan ’s li uidit  re uire ents  
ontra tual restri tions and other a tors  he a ount 

in ol ed a  be aterial  



Contractual Obligations and Commitments
he ollowing is a su ar  o  the o pan ’s uture ini u  pa ents under ontra tual obligations and o it ents as o  

e e ber  2 2  in illions

ontra tual bligations and o it ents Total  2 2  2 2  2 2  2 2  2 2  herea ter

Long ter  debt  in luding urrent aturities $ 2,714.5  2 2 2 2
Interest pa ents on long ter  debt and  

nan e leases 373.8 2
perating leases 497.7

ur hase o it ents 2 336.6 2 2 2 2 2
xpe ted pension ontributions 4.1

n ertain tax positions 22.1 22
uarantees 19.4

otal $ 3,968.2 222 2 2
(1)

1 2 2
(2)

( ) 2 2 2 2
1 2 2

( ) 1

(5)

Critical Accounting Policies
In preparing the onsolidated Finan ial tate ents 

in on or it  with  generall  a epted a ounting 
prin iples  the o pan  ust ake de isions whi h i pa t 
the reported a ounts o  assets  liabilities  re enues and 
expenses  and related dis losures  u h de isions in lude 
the sele tion o  appropriate a ounting prin iples to be 
applied and the assu ptions on whi h to base a ounting 
esti ates  In rea hing su h de isions  the o pan  applies 
udg ent based on its understanding and anal sis o  the 

rele ant ir u stan es and histori al experien e  tual 
a ounts ould di er ro  those esti ated at the ti e the 

onsolidated Finan ial tate ents are prepared

he o pan ’s signi ant a ounting poli ies are des ribed  
in Note  to the onsolidated Finan ial tate ents in luded 
in art II  Ite   o  this For   o e o  those signi ant 
a ounting poli ies re uire the o pan  to ake sub e ti e 
or o plex udg ents or esti ates  riti al a ounting 
esti ates are de ned as those that are both ost i portant 
to the portra al o  a o pan ’s nan ial ondition and 
results and re uire anage ent’s ost di ult  sub e ti e  
or o plex udg ent  o ten as a result o  the need to ake 
esti ates about the e e t o  atters that are inherentl  
un ertain and a  hange in subse uent periods

he o pan  belie es the ollowing a ounting poli ies 
re uire it to use udg ents and esti ates in preparing its 

onsolidated nan ial state ents and represent riti al 
a ounting poli ies

• Acquisition accounting  he air alue o  the onsideration  
the o pan  pa s or ea h new a uisition is allo ated 
to tangible assets and identi able intangible assets  

liabilities assu ed  an  non ontrolling interest in the 
a uired entit  and goodwill  he a ounting or 
a uisitions in ol es a onsiderable a ount o  udg ent 
and esti ate  in luding the air alue o  ertain or s o  

onsideration; air alue o  a uired intangible assets 
in ol ing pro e tions o  uture re enues and ash ows 
that are then either dis ounted at an esti ated dis ount 
rate or easured at an esti ated ro alt  rate; air alue o  
other a uired assets and assu ed liabilities  in luding 
potential ontingen ies; and the use ul li es o  the 
a uired assets  he assu ptions used are deter ined 
at the ti e o  the a uisition in a ordan e with a epted 

aluation odels  ro e tions are de eloped using 
internal ore asts  a ailable industr  and arket data 
and esti ates o  long ter  rates o  growth or the 
business  he i pa t o  prior or uture a uisitions on 
the o pan ’s nan ial position or results o  operations 

a  be ateriall  i pa ted b  the hange in or initial 
sele tion o  assu ptions and esti ates  ee Note 2  
Acquisitions in luded in art II  Ite   o  this For   
or urther dis ussion o  business o bination a ounting  
aluation ethodolog  and assu ptions   

• Goodwill and other intangibles  he o pan  per or s 
its annual testing o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intan
gibles on the rst da  o  the ourth uarter o  ea h ear  

etween annual testing dates  the o pan  onitors 
a tors su h as its arket apitali ation  o parable 
o pan  arket ultiples and a roe ono i  
onditions to identi  onditions that ould i pa t the 
o pan ’s assu ptions utili ed in the deter ination 

o  the esti ated air alues o  the o pan ’s reporting 
units and inde nite li ed intangible assets signi antl  
enough to trigger an i pair ent   
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he goodwill i pair ent tests are based on deter in
ing the air alue o  the spe i ed reporting units based 
on anage ent udg ents and assu ptions using 
the dis ounted ash ows under the in o e approa h 

lassi ed in Le el  o  the air alue hierar h  and  
o parable o pan  arket aluation lassi ed in 

Le el 2 o  the air alue hierar h  approa hes  he 
o pan  has identi ed lobal era i  Flooring N  

and Flooring W as its reporting units or the purposes 
o  allo ating and testing or i pair ent  Inde nite li ed 
intangibles are re orded and tested or i pair ent at 
the asset le el  he aluation approa hes are sub e t 
to ke  udg ents and assu ptions that are sensiti e 
to hange su h as udge ents and assu ptions about 
appropriate sales growth rates  operating argins  
W  and o parable o pan  arket ultiples  
 

s a result o  a de rease in the o pan ’s arket api
tali ation  a roe ono i  onditions and an in rease in 
the W  the o pan  deter ined that a triggering 
e ent o urred re uiring goodwill i pair ent testing 
or ea h o  its reporting units as o  epte ber  2 2  

and tober  2 22  he i pair ent tests indi ated 
pre tax  non ash goodwill i pair ent harges related 
to all  reporting units o   2  net o  tax  
and in the lobal era i  reporting unit o   

 net o  tax  whi h the o pan  re orded 
during 2 2  and 2 22  respe ti el   
 

he o pan  o pared the esti ated air alues o  
its inde nite li ed intangibles to their arr ing alues 
and deter ined that there were i pair ent harges 
o    net o  tax  in all  reporting units and 

2   net o  tax  in the Flooring W and 
Flooring N  reporting units during the third uarter  
o  2 2  and 2 22  respe ti el  
 

 signi ant or prolonged deterioration in e ono i  
onditions  ontinued in reases in the osts o  raw 
aterials and energ  o bined with an inabilit  to 

pass these osts on to usto ers  a urther de line in 
the o pan ’s arket apitali ation or o parable 

o pan  arket ultiples  pro e ted uture ash 
ows  or in reases in the W  ould i pa t the 
o pan ’s assu ptions and re uire a reassess ent 

o  goodwill or inde nite li ed intangible assets or 
i pair ent in uture periods  Future de lines in 
esti ated a ter tax ash ows  in reases in the W  
or a de line in arket apitali ation ould result in an 
additional indi ation o  i pair ent in one or ore o  
the o pan ’s reporting units

• Long-lived assets. he o pan  re iews its long li ed 
asset groups  whi h in lude intangible assets sub e t to 
a orti ation  whi h or the o pan  are its patents and 

usto er relationships  or i pair ent whene er e ents 
or hanges in ir u stan es indi ate that the arr ing 
a ount o  su h asset groups a  not be re o erable  

e o erabilit  o  asset groups to be held and used is 
easured b  a o parison o  the arr ing a ount o  

long li ed assets to uture undis ounted net ash ows 
expe ted to be generated b  these asset groups  I  su h 
asset groups are onsidered to be i paired  the i pair

ent re ogni ed is the a ount b  whi h the arr ing 
a ount o  the asset group ex eeds the air alue o  the 
asset group  ssets held or sale are reported at the 
lower o  the arr ing a ount or air alue less esti ated 

osts o  disposal and are no longer depre iated

• Income taxes. he o pan ’s e e ti e tax rate is 
based on its in o e  statutor  tax rates and tax 
planning opportunities a ailable in the urisdi tions in 
whi h it operates  ax laws are o plex and sub e t to 
di erent interpretations b  the taxpa er and respe ti e 
go ern ental taxing authorities  igni ant udg ent 
is re uired in deter ining the o pan ’s tax expense 
and in e aluating the o pan ’s tax positions  e erred 
tax assets represent a ounts a ailable to redu e 
in o e taxes pa able on taxable in o e in a uture 
period  he o pan  e aluates the re o erabilit  o  
these uture tax bene ts b  assessing the ade ua  
o  uture expe ted taxable in o e ro  all sour es  
in luding re ersal o  taxable te porar  di eren es  
ore asted operating earnings and a ailable tax planning  

strategies  hese sour es o  in o e inherentl  rel  on 
esti ates  in luding business ore asts and other  
pro e tions o  nan ial results o er an extended period 
o  ti e  In the e ent that the o pan  is not able to 
reali e all or a portion o  its de erred tax assets in the 
uture  a aluation allowan e is pro ided  he o pan  

would re ogni e su h a ounts through a harge to 
in o e in the period in whi h that deter ination is ade  
or when tax law hanges are ena ted  For urther  
in or ation regarding the o pan ’s aluation  
allowan es  see Note  Income Taxes  in luded in  

art II  Ite   o  this For   
 
In the ordinar  ourse o  business there is inherent 
un ertaint  in uanti ing the o pan ’s in o e tax  
positions  he o pan  assesses its in o e tax positions  
and re ords tax bene ts or all ears sub e t to 
exa ination based upon the o pan ’s e aluation o  
the a ts  ir u stan es and in or ation a ailable as o  
the reporting date  For those tax positions where it is 

ore likel  than not that a tax bene t will be sustained  
the o pan  has re orded the largest a ount o  tax 
bene t with a greater than  likelihood o  being  
reali ed upon ulti ate settle ent with a taxing authorit   
that has ull knowledge o  all rele ant in or ation  as 
re uired b  the pro isions o  the Finan ial ounting 

tandards oard F  ounting tandards 
odi ation  opi   For those in o e  

tax positions where it is not ore likel  than not that a 
tax bene t will be sustained  no tax bene t has been 
re ogni ed in the onsolidated Finan ial tate ents  
For urther in or ation regarding the o pan ’s  
un ertain tax positions  see Note  Income Taxes, 
in luded in art II  Ite   o  this For  



 Recent Accounting Pronouncements
ee Note  Summary of Signi cant Accounting olicies, 

o  the o pan ’s a o pan ing onsolidated Finan ial 
tate ents in art II  Ite   o  this For   or a des ription  

o  re ent a ounting pronoun e ents and the potential 
i pa t on our nan ial state ents and dis losures

Impact of Inflation
In ation a e ts the o pan ’s anu a turing osts   

distribution osts and operating expenses  he o pan  
expe ts raw aterial pri es  an  o  whi h are  
petroleu based  to lu tuate based upon worldwide  
suppl  and de and o  o odities utili ed in the 

o pan ’s produ tion pro esses  lthough the o pan  
atte pts to pass on in reases in raw aterial  labor  energ  
and uel related osts to its usto ers  the o pan ’s  
abilit  to do so is dependent upon the rate and agnitude 
o  an  in rease  o petiti e pressures and arket onditions  
or the o pan ’s produ ts  here ha e been in the past  

and a  be in the uture  periods o  ti e during whi h 
in reases in these osts annot be ull  re o ered  In the past  
the o pan  has o ten been able to enhan e produ ti it   
and de elop new produ t inno ations to help o set 
in reases in osts resulting ro  in ation in its operations

Seasonality
he o pan  is a alendar ear end o pan  lobal 

era i  and Flooring N  t pi all  ha e higher net sales in 
the se ond and third uarters  Flooring W t pi all  has 
higher net sales in the rst and se ond uarters  e ause 
periods o  e ono i  downturn an a e t the seasonalit  o  
ea h seg ent  sales or an  one uarter are not ne essaril  
indi ati e o  the sales that a  be a hie ed or an  other 

uarter or or the ull ear   

Item A.  uantitati e an  ualitati e isclosures 
about arket Risk

he o pan ’s arket risk is i pa ted b  hanges in 
oreign urren  ex hange rates  interest rates and ertain 
o odit  pri es  Finan ial exposures to these risks 

are onitored as an integral part o  the o pan ’s risk 
anage ent progra  whi h seeks to redu e the potentiall  

ad erse e e t that the olatilit  o  these arkets a  ha e 
on its operating results  he o pan  does not regularl  
engage in spe ulati e transa tions  nor does it regularl  
hold or issue nan ial instru ents or trading purposes  he 

o pan  did not ha e an  deri ati e ontra ts outstanding 
as o  e e ber  2 2  and 2 22  

Interest Rate Risk
s o  e e ber  2 2  approxi atel   o  the 

o pan ’s debt port olio was o prised o  xed rate debt 
and  was ariable rate debt  he o pan  belie es 
that probable near ter  hanges in interest rates would not 

ateriall  a e t its nan ial ondition  results o  operations 
or ash ows  he annual i pa t on interest expense o  
a one per entage point interest rate hange on the out
standing balan e o  the o pan ’s ariable rate debt as o  

e e ber  2 2  would be approxi atel   illion

 Foreign Exchange Risk
s a result o  being a global enterprise  there is exposure 

to arket risks ro  hanges in oreign urren  ex hange 
rates  whi h a  ad ersel  a e t the operating results and 

nan ial ondition o  the o pan  rin ipal oreign urren  
exposures relate pri aril  to the euro and to a lesser extent 
the ussian ruble  the ra ilian real  the Mexi an peso  the 

ritish pound  the ustralian dollar and the ulgarian le

 he o pan ’s ob e ti e is to balan e  where possible  
non un tional urren  deno inated assets to non un tional 

urren  deno inated liabilities to ha e a natural hedge and 
ini i e oreign ex hange i pa ts  he o pan  enters into 

ross border transa tions through i porting and exporting 
goods to and ro  di erent ountries and lo ations  hese 
transa tions generate oreign ex hange risk as the  reate 
assets  liabilities and ash ows in urren ies other than their 
un tional urren  his also applies to ser i es pro ided and 

other ross border agree ents a ong subsidiaries

he o pan  takes steps to ini i e risks ro  oreign 
urren  ex hange rate u tuations through nor al operating 

and nan ing a ti ities  he o pan  does not enter into an  
spe ulati e positions with regard to deri ati e instru ents

 ased on nan ial results or the ear ended e e ber   
2 2  a h potheti al o erall  per ent hange in the  

 dollar against all oreign urren ies would ha e resulted 
in a translational ad ust ent o  approxi atel   illion  

he e e t o  a uni or  o e ent o  all urren ies b   
is pro ided to illustrate a h potheti al s enario and related 
e e t on operating in o e  tual results will di er as oreign 

urren ies a  o e in uni or  or di erent dire tions and in 
di erent agnitudes
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Item . Consoli ate  Financial tatements an  u lementar  ata

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eports o  Independent egistered ubli  ounting Fir  2
onsolidated tate ents o  perations or the ears ended e e ber  2 2  2 22  and 2 2  
onsolidated tate ents o  o prehensi e In o e Loss  or the ears ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  
onsolidated alan e heets as o  e e ber  2 2  and 2 22 2
onsolidated tate ents o  to kholders’ uit  or the ears ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  
onsolidated tate ents o  ash Flows or the ears ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  

Notes to the onsolidated Finan ial tate ents 

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Mohawk Industries, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated  
Financial Statements

We ha e audited the a o pan ing onsolidated balan e 
sheets o  Mohawk Industries  In  and subsidiaries the 

o pan  as o  e e ber  2 2  and 2 22  the related 
onsolidated state ents o  operations  o prehensi e in o e 
loss  sto kholders’ e uit  and ash ows or ea h o  the ears  

in the three ear period ended e e ber  2 2  and the 
related notes olle ti el  the onsolidated nan ial state

ents  In our opinion  the onsolidated nan ial state ents  
present airl  in all aterial respe ts  the nan ial position o   
the o pan  as o  e e ber  2 2  and 2 22  and the 
results o  its operations and its ash ows or ea h o  the ears in 
the three ear period ended e e ber  2 2  in on or it   
with  generall  a epted a ounting prin iples

We also ha e audited  in a ordan e with the standards o   
the ubli  o pan  ounting ersight oard nited tates   

 the o pan ’s internal ontrol o er nan ial  
reporting as o  e e ber  2 2  based on riteria 
established in Internal ontrol  Integrated Fra ework 2  
issued b  the o ittee o  ponsoring rgani ations o  the  
readwa  o ission  and our report dated Februar  2  2 2   

expressed an un uali ed opinion on the e e ti eness o  the 
o pan ’s internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting

Basis for Opinion
hese onsolidated nan ial state ents are the responsibilit   

o  the o pan ’s anage ent  ur responsibilit  is to 
express an opinion on these onsolidated nan ial state ents  
based on our audits  We are a publi  a ounting r  registered  
with the  and are re uired to be independent with  
respe t to the o pan  in a ordan e with the  ederal  
se urities laws and the appli able rules and regulations o  
the e urities and x hange o ission and the 

We ondu ted our audits in a ordan e with the standards 
o  the  hose standards re uire that we plan and  
per or  the audit to obtain reasonable assuran e about 
whether the onsolidated nan ial state ents are ree o  

aterial isstate ent  whether due to error or raud  ur 
audits in luded per or ing pro edures to assess the risks  
o  aterial isstate ent o  the onsolidated nan ial  
state ents  whether due to error or raud  and per or ing 
pro edures that respond to those risks  u h pro edures 
in luded exa ining  on a test basis  e iden e regarding  
the a ounts and dis losures in the onsolidated nan ial 
state ents  ur audits also in luded e aluating the a ounting  
prin iples used and signi ant esti ates ade b  anage

ent  as well as e aluating the o erall presentation o  the 
onsolidated nan ial state ents  We belie e that our audits 

pro ide a reasonable basis or our opinion



Critical Audit Matter
he riti al audit atter o uni ated below is a atter 

arising ro  the urrent period audit o  the onsolidated 
nan ial state ents that was o uni ated or re uired to be 
o uni ated to the audit o ittee and that   relates to 

a ounts or dis losures that are aterial to the onsolidated 
nan ial state ents and 2  in ol ed our espe iall  hallenging   

sub e ti e  or o plex udg ents  he o uni ation o  a 
riti al audit atter does not alter in an  wa  our opinion on 

the onsolidated nan ial state ents  taken as a whole  and 
we are not  b  o uni ating the riti al audit atter below  
pro iding a separate opinion on the riti al audit atter or on 
the a ounts or dis losures to whi h it relates

Assessment of t e carr in  alue of oo ill in t e Floorin  
Rest of orl  an  Floorin  ort  America Re ortin  nits

s dis ussed in Note  to the onsolidated nan ial 
state ents  during 2 2  the o pan  re ogni ed  

2  illion and 2  illion o  goodwill i pair ent 
harges or the Flooring est o  World and Flooring North 

eri a reporting units  respe ti el  he goodwill i pair ent  
resulted ro  a sustained de line in the o pan ’s arket 

apitali ation and pro e ted uture ash ows  and an 
in rease in the dis ount rate  he goodwill balan e as  
o  e e ber  2 2  was  illion  o  whi h  

 illion and 2 2 illion related to the Flooring 
est o  World and Flooring North eri a reporting units  

respe ti el  he o pan  per or s goodwill i pair ent 
testing on an annual basis and whene er e ents or hanges 
in ir u stan es indi ate that the arr ing alue o  goodwill 

ight ex eed the air alue o  a reporting unit

We identi ed the assess ent o  the air alue o  goodwill 
in the Flooring est o  World and Flooring North eri a 
reporting units as o  the easure ent date as a riti al 
audit atter  pe i all  the assess ent o  the o pan ’s 
ore asted sales growth rates  ore asted argins  dis ount 

rates  and sele tion o  o parable o pan  arket 
ultiples used in the o pan ’s air alue esti ation o  

the reporting units re uired a higher degree o  sub e ti e 
auditor udg ent and re uired the in ol e ent o  aluation 
pro essionals  hanges in these assu ptions ould ha e a 
signi ant i pa t on the air alue o  the reporting units

he ollowing are the pri ar  pro edures we per or ed to 
address this riti al audit atter  We e aluated the design and 
tested the operating e e ti eness o  ertain internal ontrols 
o er the o pan ’s goodwill i pair ent assess ent  
pro ess in luding ontrols o er the reasonableness o  the 
assu ptions listed abo e  We e aluated the o pan ’s 
ore asted sales growth rates and argins and o pared  

the growth assu ptions to the o pan ’s histori al  
per or an e and to rele ant arket data  We also per or ed 
sensiti it  anal ses o er ertain assu ptions listed abo e to 
assess their i pa t on the o pan ’s deter ination o  the 
air alue o  the Flooring est o  World and Flooring North 

eri a reporting units  We in ol ed aluation pro essionals 
with spe iali ed skills and knowledge  who assisted in 
e aluating the reporting units’ dis ount rates b  o paring 
the  to a range o  dis ount rates or o parable o panies 
that were independentl  de eloped using publi l  a ailable 
data and the o pan ’s sele tion o  o parable o pan  

arket ultiples

s  M  LL

We ha e ser ed as the o pan ’s auditor sin e 

tlanta  eorgia
Februar  2  2 2  
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To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Mohawk Industries, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over  
Financial Reporting 

We ha e audited Mohawk Industries  In  and subsidiaries’ 
the o pan  internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting as 

o  e e ber  2 2  based on riteria established in 
Internal ontrol  Integrated Fra ework 2  issued b  the 

o ittee o  ponsoring rgani ations o  the readwa  
o ission  In our opinion  the o pan  aintained  in 

all aterial respe ts  e e ti e internal ontrol o er nan ial 
reporting as o  e e ber  2 2  based on riteria 
established in Internal ontrol  Integrated Fra ework 2  
issued b  the o ittee o  ponsoring rgani ations o  the 

readwa  o ission

We also ha e audited  in a ordan e with the standards 
o  the ubli  o pan  ounting ersight oard nited 

tates   the onsolidated balan e sheets o  the 
o pan  as o  e e ber  2 2  and 2 22  the related 
onsolidated state ents o  operations  o prehensi e 

in o e loss  sto kholders’ e uit  and ash ows or ea h o  
the ears in the three ear period ended e e ber  2 2   
and the related notes olle ti el  the onsolidated nan ial 
state ents  and our report dated Februar  2  2 2  
expressed an un uali ed opinion on those onsolidated 

nan ial state ents

Basis for Opinion
he o pan ’s anage ent is responsible or aintaining 

e e ti e internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting and or its 
assess ent o  the e e ti eness o  internal ontrol o er nan ial  
reporting  in luded in the a o pan ing Manage ent’s 

eport on Internal ontrol er Finan ial eporting  ur 
responsibilit  is to express an opinion on the o pan ’s 
internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting based on our audit  
We are a publi  a ounting r  registered with the  
and are re uired to be independent with respe t to the 

o pan  in a ordan e with the  ederal se urities laws 
and the appli able rules and regulations o  the e urities  
and x hange o ission and the 

We ondu ted our audit in a ordan e with the standards  
o  the  hose standards re uire that we plan and  
per or  the audit to obtain reasonable assuran e about 
whether e e ti e internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting  
was aintained in all aterial respe ts  ur audit o  internal  

ontrol o er nan ial reporting in luded obtaining an  
understanding o  internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting   
assessing the risk that a aterial weakness exists  and testing 
and e aluating the design and operating e e ti eness o   
internal ontrol based on the assessed risk  ur audit also  
in luded per or ing su h other pro edures as we onsidered 
ne essar  in the ir u stan es  We belie e that our audit 
pro ides a reasonable basis or our opinion

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control 
Over Financial Reporting

 o pan ’s internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting is a 
pro ess designed to pro ide reasonable assuran e regarding  
the reliabilit  o  nan ial reporting and the preparation o  

nan ial state ents or external purposes in a ordan e 
with generall  a epted a ounting prin iples   o pan ’s 
internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting in ludes those 
poli ies and pro edures that  pertain to the aintenan e 
o  re ords that  in reasonable detail  a uratel  and airl  
re e t the transa tions and dispositions o  the assets o  the 

o pan ; 2  pro ide reasonable assuran e that transa tions 
are re orded as ne essar  to per it preparation o  nan ial 
state ents in a ordan e with generall  a epted a ounting  
prin iples  and that re eipts and expenditures o  the o pan   
are being ade onl  in a ordan e with authori ations o  

anage ent and dire tors o  the o pan ; and  pro ide 
reasonable assuran e regarding pre ention or ti el   
dete tion o  unauthori ed a uisition  use  or disposition  
o  the o pan ’s assets that ould ha e a aterial e e t  
on the nan ial state ents

e ause o  its inherent li itations  internal ontrol o er 
nan ial reporting a  not pre ent or dete t isstate ents  
lso  pro e tions o  an  e aluation o  e e ti eness to uture 

periods are sub e t to the risk that ontrols a  be o e inad
e uate be ause o  hanges in onditions  or that the degree o  

o plian e with the poli ies or pro edures a  deteriorate

s  M  LL

tlanta  eorgia
Februar  2  2 2  

 



A  I TRI  I C. A  B I IARI

Consolidated Statements of Operations 
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

 
In thousands  ex ept per share data  2023  2 22  2 2

Net sales $ 11,135,115 2
ost o  sales 8,425,463

Gross pro t 2,709,652 2 2 2
elling  general and ad inistrati e expenses 2,119,716 2 2

I pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles 877,744  

Operating income (loss) (287,808) 2 2
Interest expense 77,514 2 2

ther in o e  expense  net (10,813) 2 2
Earnings (loss) before income taxes (354,509) 2
In o e tax expense 84,862 2
Net earnings (loss) including noncontrolling interests (439,371) 2
Less  net earnings attributable to non ontrolling interests 145

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Mohawk Industries, Inc. $ (439,516) 2 2

Basic earnings (loss) per share attributable to Mohawk Industries, Inc.

asi  earnings loss  per share attributable to Mohawk Industries  In $ (6.90)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding—basic 63,657 2 2

Diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to Mohawk Industries, Inc.

iluted earnings loss  per share attributable to Mohawk Industries  In $ (6.90)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding—diluted 63,657 2

ee a o pan ing notes to the onsolidated Finan ial tate ents

A  I TRI  I C. A  B I IARI

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

In thousands 2023 2 22 2 2

Net earnings (loss) including noncontrolling interests $ (439,371) 2
ther o prehensi e in o e loss
Foreign urren  translation ad ust ents 35,000 2 2

rior pension and post retire ent bene t ser i e ost and a tuarial gain 
loss  net o  tax (1,037) 2

ther o prehensi e in o e loss 33,963 2 2 2
Comprehensive income (loss) (405,408) 2
Less  o prehensi e in o e loss  attributable to non ontrolling interests (187)

Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Mohawk Industries, Inc. $ (405,221) 22 2

ee a o pan ing notes to the onsolidated Finan ial tate ents
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    A  I TRI  I C. A  B I IARI

Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31, 2023 and 2022 

In thousands  ex ept per share data  2023  2 22
ASSETS
Current assets:

ash and ash e ui alents $ 642,550 2
hort ter  in est ents —
e ei ables  net 1,874,656

In entories 2,551,853 2
repaid expenses 515,819 222
ther urrent assets 19,339

Total current assets 5,604,217

ropert  plant and e uip ent  net 4,993,166

ight o  use operating lease assets 428,532

oodwill 1,159,724 2
radena es 705,746 2
ther intangible assets sub e t to a orti ation  net 169,637 2
e erred in o e taxes and other non urrent assets 498,847 2

Total assets $ 13,559,869 2 2
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

hort ter  debt and urrent portion o  long ter  debt $ 1,001,715
ounts pa able and a rued expenses 2,035,339 2 2

urrent operating lease liabilities 108,860 2
Total current liabilities 3,145,914 2

e erred in o e taxes 391,500
Long ter  debt  less urrent portion 1,701,785
Non urrent operating lease liabilities 337,506 2

ther long ter  liabilities 354,028 2
Total liabilities 5,930,733 2

o it ents and ontingen ies Note 
Stockholders’ equity:

re erred sto k   par alue;  shares authori ed; no shares issued —
o on sto k   par alue;  shares authori ed; 2  and  shares 

issued and outstanding in 2 2  and 2 22  respe ti el 710
dditional paid in apital 1,947,477
etained earnings 6,970,244

u ulated other o prehensi e in o e loss (1,079,963) 2
7,838,468 22

Less  treasur  sto k at ost;  and  shares in 2 2  and 2 22  respe ti el 215,397 2
Total Mohawk Industries, Inc. stockholders’ equity 7,623,071
Non ontrolling interests 6,065
Total stockholders’ equity 7,629,136
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 13,559,869 2 2

ee a o pan ing notes to the onsolidated Finan ial tate ents



 A  I TRI  I C. A  B I IARI

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

Additional  
Paid-in  

a ital
Retained  

a nin

A lated  
t e   

o e en i e 
n o e ( o )

on edee a le  
on ont ollin   

nte e t

otal  
to olde   

it

o on to ea  to

 ( n t o and ) a e A o nt a e A o nt

alan e  at e e e  1  2 2  2     1 5 1 2   55 1 1   ( 5 1 5)  ( )   (215 )   2   5 1 15
a e  i ed nde  e lo ee and di e to  to  lan  net  

o  a e  it eld to a  ta e  on e lo ee  e it  a a d  1  1   —  —   1 1  —  
to - a ed o en ation e en e  —  —  25 51  —  —  —  —  —  25 51

Re a e  o  o on to  ( 1 )  ( )  —  ( 2 )  —  —  —  —  ( )
et ea nin  att i ta le to non ont ollin  inte e t  —  —  —  —  —  —  —   

en  t an lation ad t ent on non ont ollin  inte e t  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  ( )  ( )
en  t an lation ad t ent  —  —  —  —  (2 )  —  —  —  (2 )

P io  en ion and o t- eti e ent ene t e i e o t and 
a t a ial ain (lo )  net o  ta  —  —  —  —  1  —  —  —  1

et ea nin  (lo )  —  —  —  1 15  —  —  —  —  1 15
alan e  at e e e  1  2 21  2 52  2  1 11 1 1  2  ( 52)  ( )  (215 5 )  1  2 21

a e  i ed nde  e lo ee and di e to  to  lan  net  
o  a e  it eld to a  ta e  on e lo ee  e it  a a d  1  1  ( 2 )  —  —  2  5  —  ( 2 )

to - a ed o en ation e en e  —  —  22  —  —  —  —  —  22
Re a e  o  o on to  (2 1 )  (21)  —  ( 551)  —  —  —  —  ( 5 2)

et ea nin  att i ta le to non ont ollin  inte e t  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  5  5
en  t an lation ad t ent on non ont ollin  inte e t  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  5  5

P a e o  non edee a le non ont ollin  inte e t   
net o  ta e  —  —  5 2  —  —  —  —  ( 2 )  ( 55)

en  t an lation ad t ent  —  —  —  —  (155 )  —  —  —  (155 )
P io  en ion and o t- eti e ent ene t e i e o t and 
a t a ial ain (lo )  net o  ta  —  —  —  —  12  —  —  —  12

et ea nin  (lo )  —  —  —  25 2  —  —  —  —  25 2
alan e  at e e e  1  2 22  5   1   (1 11 25 )  ( 1)  (215 1)  5  1 1

a e  i ed nde  e lo ee and di e to  to  lan  net  
o  a e  it eld to a  ta e  on e lo ee  e it  a a d  149  1  (4,325)  —  —  3  94  —  (4,230)

to - a ed o en ation e en e  —  —  20,960  —  —  —  —  —  20,960

et ea nin  att i ta le to non ont ollin  inte e t  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  145  145

en  t an lation ad t ent on non ont ollin  inte e t  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (332)  (332)

P a e o  non edee a le non ont ollin  inte e t   
net o  ta e  —  —  53  —  —  —  —  (153)  (100)

en  t an lation ad t ent  —  —  —  —  35,332  —  —  —  35,332

P io  en ion and o t- eti e ent ene t e i e o t and 
a t a ial ain (lo )  net o  ta  —  —  —  —  (1,037)  —  —  —  (1,037)

et ea nin  (lo )  —  —  —  (439,516)  —  —  —  —  (439,516)

alan e  at e e e  1  2 2  71,024  $ 710  $ 1,947,477  $ 6,970,244  $ (1,079,963)  (7,338)  $ (215,397)  $ 6,065  $ 7,629,136

ee a o pan ing notes to the onsolidated Finan ial tate ents
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A  I TRI  I C. A  B I IARI

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 

 
In thousands  2023 2 22 2 2

Cash ows from operating activities:
Net earnings loss  in luding non ontrolling interests $ (439,371)  2  

d ust ents to re on ile net earnings loss  to net ash pro ided b   
operating a ti ities

estru turing  82,703   
I pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles  877,744   

epre iation and a orti ation  630,327   
e erred in o e taxes  (109,946)   2
ain  loss on disposal o  propert  plant and e uip ent  (102)   2

to k based o pensation expense  20,960  22  2
hanges in operating assets and liabilities  net o  e e ts o  a uisitions

e ei ables  net  150,554   2
In entories  281,284   22

ounts pa able and a rued expenses  (194,012)   
ther assets and prepaid expenses  (14,418)  2  
ther liabilities  43,506  2  222

Net cash provided by operating activities  1,329,229   
Cash ows from investing activities:

dditions to propert  plant and e uip ent  (612,929)  2  2
uisitions  net o  ash a uired  (515,406)  2 2  2

ur hases o  short ter  in est ents  (775,000)  2  2 2
ede ption o  short ter  in est ents  933,000  2  

Net cash used in investing activities  (970,335)  2  
Cash ows from nancing activities:

a ents on enior redit Fa ilities  (1,015,186)   
ro eeds ro  enior redit Fa ilities  1,073,377   
a ents on o er ial paper  (16,402,415)  2 2  2
ro eeds ro  o er ial paper  15,578,843  2  2
ro eeds ro  enior Notes issuan e  600,000   
epa ents on enior Notes  —   2 2 2
ro eeds ro  er  Loan Fa ilit  —  2  

Net pa ents o  other nan ing a ti ities  (39,084)  2  
ebt issuan e osts  (5,592)  2  
ur hase o  Mohawk o on sto k  —  2  
hange in outstanding he ks in ex ess o  ash  (626)  2  2

Net cash provided by (used in) nancing activities  (210,683)   2 2 22
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (15,284)  2  
Net hange in ash and ash e ui alents  132,927  2 2  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  509,623  2  2

ash and ash e ui alents  end o  ear $ 642,550  2  2
ee a o pan ing notes to the onsolidated Finan ial tate ents



 A  I TRI  I C. A  B I IARI

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 
(In thousands, except per share data)

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

Mohawk Industries  In  Mohawk  or the o pan  a 
ter  whi h in ludes the o pan  and its subsidiaries  is a 
leading global ooring anu a turer that reates produ ts 
to enhan e residential and o er ial spa es around the 
world  he o pan ’s erti all  integrated anu a turing 
and distribution pro esses pro ide o petiti e ad antages 
in the produ tion o  arpet  rugs  era i  tile  la inate  
wood  stone  luxur  in l tile L  and sheet in l ooring   

he onsolidated Finan ial tate ents in lude the 
a ounts o  the o pan  and its subsidiaries  ll signi ant 
inter o pan  balan es and transa tions ha e been eli inated 
in onsolidation

he preparation o  nan ial state ents in on or it  with 
 generall  a epted a ounting prin iples re uires an

age ent to ake esti ates and assu ptions that a e t the 
reported a ounts o  assets and liabilities and the dis losure  
o  ontingent assets and liabilities as o  the date o  the nan ial  
state ents and the reported a ounts o  re enues and 
expenses during the reporting period  tual results ould 
di er ro  those esti ates

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
he o pan  onsiders in est ents with an original 

aturit  o  three onths or less when pur hased to be ash 
e ui alents  s o  e e ber  2 2  the o pan  had 

ash and ash e ui alents o  2  o  whi h   
was held outside the nited tates  s o  e e ber  2 22  
the o pan  had ash and ash e ui alents o  2  o  
whi h 2  was held outside the nited tates

Short-term Investments
he o pan  in ests in high ualit  redit instru ents  t 

e e ber  2 22  short ter  in est ents onsisted solel  
o  in est ents in the o pan ’s o er ial paper b  its 
wholl owned apti e insuran e o pan  

Fair Value
ounting prin iples generall  a epted in the  de ne 

air alue as the pri e that would be re ei ed to sell an asset 
or trans er a liabilit  in an orderl  transa tion between arket 
parti ipants  s su h  air alue is a arket based easure ent  
that should be deter ined based on assu ptions that 

arket parti ipants would use in pri ing an asset or liabilit  
he authoritati e guidan e dis usses aluation te hni ues  

su h as the arket approa h o parable arket pri es  
the in o e approa h present alue o  uture in o e or 

ash ow  and the ost approa h ost to repla e the ser i e 
apa it  o  an asset or repla e ent ost  hese aluation 

te hni ues are based upon obser able and unobser able 

inputs  bser able inputs re e t arket data obtained ro  
independent sour es  while unobser able inputs re e t the 

o pan ’s arket assu ptions  s the basis or e aluating 
su h inputs  a three tier alue hierar h  prioriti es the inputs 
used in easuring air alue as ollows

e el 1  bser able inputs su h as uoted pri es or 
identi al assets or liabilities in a ti e arkets

e el  bser able inputs other than uoted pri es that 
are dire tl  or indire tl  obser able or the asset or liabilit  
in luding uoted pri es or si ilar assets or liabilities in 
a ti e arkets; uoted pri es or si ilar or identi al assets or 
liabilities in arkets that are not a ti e; and odel deri ed 

aluations whose inputs are obser able or whose signi ant 
alue dri ers are obser able

e el  nobser able inputs that re e t the reporting  
entit ’s own assu ptions

Accounts Receivable and Revenue Recognition
he o pan  re ogni es re enue when it satis es 

per or an e obligations as e iden ed b  the trans er o  
ontrol o  the pro ised goods to usto ers  in an a ount 

that re e ts the onsideration the o pan  expe ts to 
be entitled to in ex hange or those goods  he nature o  
the pro ised goods are era i  stone  arpet  resilient 
in ludes sheet in l and L  la inate  wood and other 
ooring produ ts  a ent is t pi all  re ei ed  da s 

or less ro  the in oi e date  he o pan  ad usts the 
a ounts o  re enue or expe ted ash dis ounts  sales 
allowan es  returns and lai s based upon histori al 
experien e  he o pan  ad usts a ounts re ei able or 
doubt ul a ount allowan es based upon histori al bad 
debt  lai s experien e  periodi  e aluation o  spe i  

usto er a ounts and the aging o  a ounts re ei able  
I  the nan ial ondition o  the o pan ’s usto ers were 
to deteriorate  resulting in a hange in their abilit  to ake 
pa ents  additional allowan es a  be re uired

he o pan  a ounts or in re ental osts o  obtaining 
a ontra t as an expense when in urred in selling  general 
and ad inistrati e expenses i  the a orti ation period is less 
than one ear  

he o pan  a ounts or shipping and handling a ti ities 
per or ed a ter ontrol has been trans erred as a ul ll ent 

ost in ost o  sales

Inventories
he o pan  a ounts or all in entories on the rst in  

rst out FIF  ethod  In entories are stated at the lower 
o  ost or net reali able alue  ost has been deter ined 
using the FIF  ethod  osts in luded in in entor  in lude 
raw aterials  dire t and indire t labor  e plo ee bene ts  
depre iation  general anu a turing o erhead and arious 
other osts o  anu a turing  In entories on hand are 

o pared against anti ipated uture usage  whi h is a 
un tion o  histori al usage  anti ipated uture selling pri e  

expe ted sales below ost  ex essi e uantities and an 
e aluation or obsoles en e  
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Property, Plant and Equipment
ropert  plant and e uip ent are stated at ost  in luding 

apitali ed interest  epre iation is al ulated on a straight line  
basis o er the esti ated re aining use ul li es  whi h are 

 ears or buildings and i pro e ents  2  ears or 
a hiner  and e uip ent   ears or urniture and xtures 

and the shorter o  the esti ated use ul li e or lease ter  or 
leasehold i pro e ents

Accounting for Business Combinations
he o pan  a ounts or business o binations under 

the a uisition ethod o  a ounting whi h re uires it to 
re ogni e separatel  ro  goodwill the assets a uired and 
the liabilities assu ed at their a uisition date air alues  
While the o pan  uses its best esti ates and assu ptions 
to a uratel  alue assets a uired and liabilities assu ed 
at the a uisition date as well as ontingent onsideration  
where appli able  the esti ates are inherentl  un ertain 
and sub e t to re ne ent  s a result  during the easure ent  
period  whi h a  be up to one ear ro  the a uisition 
date  the o pan  re ords ad ust ents to the assets 
a uired and liabilities assu ed with the orresponding 
o set to goodwill  pon the on lusion o  the easure ent 
period or nal deter ination o  the alues o  assets 
a uired or liabilities assu ed  whi he er o es rst  an  
subse uent ad ust ents are re orded to the o pan ’s 

onsolidated state ents o  operations

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
In a ordan e with the pro isions o  the F   opi  

 Intangibles oodwill and ther  the o pan  tests 
goodwill and other intangible assets with inde nite li es  
whi h or the o pan  are tradena es  or i pair ent on 
an annual basis on the rst da  o  the ourth uarter or on an 
interi  basis i  an e ent o urs that ight redu e the air alue 
o  the reporting unit below its arr ing alue  he o pan ’s 
annual i pair ent tests o  goodwill and tradena es  

a  be o pleted through ualitati e assess ents  he 
o pan  a  ele t to b pass the ualitati e assess ent and 

pro eed dire tl  to a uantitati e i pair ent test  or an  
reporting unit or tradena e  in an  period  he o pan  

an resu e the ualitati e assess ent or an  reporting unit 
or tradena e in an  subse uent period

he o pan  has identi ed lobal era i  Flooring 
North eri a Flooring N  and Flooring est o  the 
World Flooring W  as its reporting units or the purposes 
o  allo ating goodwill as well as assessing i pair ents  he 

o pan  onsiders the relationship between its arket 
apitali ation and its book alue  a ong other a tors  when 

re iewing or indi ators o  i pair ent  

nder a ualitati e approa h  the o pan ’s i pair ent 
re iew or goodwill onsists o  an assess ent o  whether it is 

ore likel than not that a reporting unit’s air alue is less 
than its arr ing a ount  I  the o pan  ele ts to b pass 
the ualitati e assess ent or an  reporting units  or i  a 

ualitati e assess ent indi ates it is ore likel than not 
that the esti ated arr ing alue o  a reporting unit ex eeds 
its air alue  the o pan  per or s a uantitati e goodwill 

i pair ent test that re uires it to esti ate the air alue o  
the reporting unit  

he uantitati e goodwill i pair ent tests are based 
on deter ining the air alue o  the spe i ed reporting 
units based on anage ent udg ents and assu ptions 
using the dis ounted ash ows under the in o e 
approa h lassi ed in Le el  o  the air alue hierar h  and 

o parable o pan  arket aluation lassi ed in Le el 2 
o  the air alue hierar h  approa hes  I  the arr ing alue 
o  a reporting unit ex eeds its air alue  the o pan  will 

easure an  goodwill i pair ent loss as the a ount b  
whi h the arr ing a ount o  a reporting unit ex eeds its air 

alue  not to ex eed the total a ount o  goodwill allo ated to 
that reporting unit  he aluation approa hes are sub e t to 
ke  udg ents and assu ptions that are sensiti e to hange 
su h as udg ents and assu ptions about appropriate 
sales growth rates  operating argins  weighted a erage 

ost o  apital W  and o parable o pan  arket 
ultiples  When de eloping these ke  udg ents and 

assu ptions  the o pan  onsiders e ono i  operational 
and arket onditions that ould i pa t the air alue o  the 
reporting unit  owe er  esti ates are inherentl  un ertain 
and represent onl  anage ent’s reasonable expe tations 
regarding uture de elop ents  hese esti ates and the 
udg ents and assu ptions upon whi h the esti ates are 

based will  in all likelihood  di er in so e respe ts ro  a tual  
uture results  hould a signi ant or prolonged deterioration 

in e ono i  onditions o ur  su h as de lines in spending 
or new onstru tion  re odeling and repla e ent  

a ti ities; the inabilit  to pass in reases in the osts o   
raw aterials and uel on to usto ers; or a de line in 

o parable o pan  arket ultiples  then ke   
udg ents and assu ptions ould be i pa ted

nder a ualitati e approa h  the o pan ’s i pair ent 
re iew or tradena es onsists o  an assess ent o  whether 
it is ore likel than not that a tradena e’s air alue is less 
than its arr ing alue  I  the o pan  ele ts to b pass the 

ualitati e assess ent or an  tradena e  or i  a ualitati e 
assess ent indi ates it is ore likel than not that the  
esti ated arr ing alue o  a tradena e ex eeds its air 

alue  the o pan  per or s a uantitati e tradena e 
i pair ent test o  the tradena e   

he uantitati e i pair ent e aluation or tradena es 
in ol es a o parison o  the esti ated air alue o  the 
tradena e to its arr ing a ount  I  the arr ing alue o  the 
tradena e ex eeds its air alue  an i pair ent loss is re og
ni ed in an a ount e ual to that ex ess  he deter ination o  
air alue used in the i pair ent e aluation is based on dis
ounted esti ates o  uture sales pro e tions attributable to 

ownership o  the tradena es  igni ant udg ents inherent 
in this anal sis in lude assu ptions about appropriate sales 
growth rates  ro alt  rates  appli able dis ount rate and the 
a ount o  expe ted uture ash ows  he udg ents and 
assu ptions used in the esti ate o  air alue are generall  

onsistent with past per or an e and are also onsistent 
with the pro e tions and assu ptions that are used in urrent 
operating plans  u h assu ptions are sub e t to hange as a 
result o  hanging e ono i  and o petiti e onditions  he 



deter ination o  air alue is highl  sensiti e to di eren es 
between esti ated and a tual ash ows and hanges in the 
related dis ount rate used to e aluate the air alue o  the 
tradena es  sti ated ash ows are sensiti e to hanges in 
the e ono  a ong other things  

Intangible assets with nite li es are a orti ed based on 
a erage li es  whi h range ro  2  ears

Leases
he o pan  easures right o  use  assets 

and lease liabilities based on the present alue o  the 
uture ini u  lease pa ents o er the lease ter  at the 
o en e ent date  Mini u  lease pa ents in lude the 
xed lease and non lease o ponents o  the agree ent  as 

well as an  ariable rent pa ents that depend on an index  
initiall  easured using the index at the lease o en e ent 
date  he  assets are ad usted or an  initial dire t osts 
in urred less an  lease in enti es re ei ed  in addition to 
pa ents ade on or be ore the o en e ent date o  the 
lease  he o pan  re ogni es lease expense or leases on a 
straight line basis o er the lease ter  ariable rent expenses 

onsist pri aril  o  aintenan e  propert  taxes and harges 
based on usage

s the i pli it rate is not readil  deter inable or ost 
o  the o pan ’s lease agree ents  the o pan  uses 
an esti ated in re ental borrowing rate to deter ine the 
initial present alue o  lease pa ents  hese dis ount rates 
or leases are al ulated using the o pan ’s redit spread 

ad usted or urrent arket a tors and oreign urren  rates  

he o pan  deter ines i  a ontra t is or ontains a lease 
at in eption  he o pan  has operating and nan e leases 
or ser i e enters  warehouses  showroo s  and a hiner  

and e uip ent  Leases with an initial ter  o  2 onths or 
less are not re orded on the balan e sheet and expensed as 
in urred  he o pan  enters into lease ontra ts ranging 
ro   to  ears with a a orit  o  the o pan ’s lease 

ter s ranging ro   to  ears

o e leases in lude one or ore options to renew  with 
renewal ter s that an extend the lease ter  ro   to  ears  
or ore  he exer ise o  these lease renewal options is at the  

o pan ’s sole dis retion  n insigni ant nu ber o  the 
o pan ’s leases in lude options to pur hase the leased 

propert  he depre iable li e o  assets and leasehold 
i pro e ents are li ited b  the expe ted lease ter

Income Taxes
In o e taxes are a ounted or under the asset and liabilit  
ethod  e erred tax assets and liabilities are re ogni ed 

or the uture tax onse uen es attributable to di eren es 
between the nan ial state ent arr ing a ounts o  existing 
assets and liabilities and their respe ti e tax bases and 
operating loss and tax redit arr orwards  e erred tax 
assets and liabilities are easured using ena ted tax rates 
expe ted to appl  to taxable in o e in the ears in whi h those 
te porar  di eren es are expe ted to be re o ered or settled  

he e e t on de erred tax assets and liabilities o  a hange in 
tax rates is re ogni ed in in o e in the period that in ludes 

the ena t ent date  he o pan  re ogni es the e e t o  
in o e tax positions onl  i  those positions are ore likel  than 
not o  being sustained  e ogni ed in o e tax positions are 

easured at the largest a ount that is greater than  likel  
o  being reali ed  hanges in re ognition or easure ent 
are re e ted in the period in whi h the hange in udg ent 
o urs  he o pan  re ords interest and penalties related to 
unre ogni ed tax bene ts in in o e tax expense

Financial Instruments
he o pan ’s nan ial instru ents onsist pri aril  

o  short ter  in est ents  re ei ables  a ounts pa able  
a rued expenses  short ter  debt and long ter  debt  

he arr ing a ounts o  re ei ables  a ounts pa able and 
a rued expenses approxi ate their air alue be ause o  the 
short ter  aturit  o  su h instru ents  he o pan  has a 
wholl owned apti e insuran e o pan  that a  periodi

all  in est in the o pan ’s o er ial paper  hese short
ter  o er ial paper in est ents are lassi ed as trading 
se urities and arried at air alue based upon le el two 
air alue hierar h  he arr ing a ount o  the o pan ’s 
ariable rate debt approxi ates its air alue based upon 

le el two air alue hierar h  Interest rates that are urrentl  
a ailable to the o pan  or issuan e o  long ter  debt with 
si ilar ter s and re aining aturities are used to esti ate 
the air alue o  the o pan ’s long ter  debt

Advertising Costs and Vendor Consideration
d ertising and pro otion expenses are harged to earnings  

during the period in whi h the  are in urred  d ertising 
and pro otion expenses in luded in selling  general  and 
ad inistrati e expenses were  in 2 2  2   
in 2 22 and  in 2 2

endor onsideration  generall  ash  is lassi ed as 
a redu tion o  net sales  unless spe i  riteria are et 
regarding goods or ser i es that the o pan  a  re ei e 
in return or this onsideration  he o pan  akes arious 
pa ents to usto ers  in luding rebates  slotting ees  
ad ertising allowan es  bu downs and o op ad ertising  

ll o  these pa ents redu e gross sales with the ex eption 
o  o op ad ertising  o op ad ertising expenses  lassi ed 
as a selling  general and ad inistrati e expense  were 

2 in 2 2  2  in 2 22 and 22 2 in 2 2  

Product Warranties
he o pan  warrants ertain ualitati e attributes o  its 

ooring produ ts  he o pan  has re orded a pro ision 
or esti ated warrant  and related osts based on histori al 

experien e and periodi all  ad usts these pro isions to 
re e t a tual experien e

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
he o pan  re iews its long li ed asset groups  whi h 

in lude intangible assets su h as patents and usto er 
relationships sub e t to a orti ation  or i pair ent whene er 
e ents or hanges in ir u stan es indi ate that the arr ing 
a ount o  su h asset groups a  not be re o erable  

e o erabilit  o  asset groups to be held and used is easured 
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b  a o parison o  the arr ing a ount o  long li ed assets to 
uture undis ounted net ash ows expe ted to be generated 

b  these asset groups  I  su h asset groups are onsidered 
to be i paired  the i pair ent re ogni ed is the a ount b  
whi h the arr ing a ount o  the asset group ex eeds the air 
alue o  the asset group  ssets held or sale are reported at 

the lower o  the arr ing a ount or air alue less esti ated 
osts o  disposal and are no longer depre iated

Foreign Currency Translation
he o pan ’s subsidiaries that operate outside the 

nited tates generall  use their lo al urren  as the 
un tional urren  he un tional urren  is translated 

into  dollars or balan e sheet a ounts using the onth 
end rates in e e t as o  the balan e sheet date and a erage 
ex hange rate or re enue and expense a ounts or ea h 
respe ti e period  he translation ad ust ents are de erred 

as a separate o ponent o  sto kholders’ e uit  within 
a u ulated other o prehensi e in o e loss  ains or 
losses resulting ro  transa tions deno inated in oreign 

urren ies are in luded in other in o e or expense  within 
the onsolidated state ents o  operations  

Earnings (Loss) per Share (“EPS”)
asi  earnings loss  per share is al ulated using net 

earnings loss  a ailable to o on sto kholders di ided b  
the weighted a erage nu ber o  shares o  o on sto k 
outstanding during the ear  iluted  is si ilar to basi  

 ex ept that the weighted a erage nu ber o  shares 
is in reased to in lude the nu ber o  additional o on 
shares that would ha e been outstanding i  the potentiall  
diluti e o on shares had been issued

iluti e un ested restri ted shares units  are in luded in 
the diluted  al ulation using the treasur  sto k ethod

o putations o  basi  and diluted earnings loss  per share are presented or the ears ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 
2 2  respe ti el  in the ollowing table

2023 2 22 2 2

Net earnings loss  a ailable to o on sto kholders $ (439,516)  2 2  

Weighted a erage o on shares outstanding basi  and diluted
Weighted a erage o on shares outstanding basi  63,657  2  2

dd weighted a erage diluti e potential o on shares s  net  —  2  2
Weighted a erage o on shares outstanding diluted  63,657  2  

arnings loss  per share attributable to Mohawk Industries  In
asi $ (6.90)   
iluted $ (6.90)   

(1)  e to t e anti-dil ti e e e t  2 5 a e  o  o on to  e i alent  o  t e ea  ended e e e  1  2 2  e e o itted o  t e al lation o  dil ted ei ted-a e a e o on a e  o t tandin  e e 
e e no o on to  o tion  and n e ted e t i ted a e  ( nit ) t at e e e l ded o  t e dil ted P  o tation e a e t e i e a  eate  t an t e a e a e a et i e o  t e o on a e  o  

t e e iod  e ented o  2 22 and 2 21

Stock-Based Compensation
he o pan  re ogni es o pensation expense or all 

share based pa ents granted based on the grant date air  
alue esti ated in a ordan e with   Stock  

Compensation  o pensation expense is generall  re ogni ed  
on a straight line basis o er the awards’ esti ated li es or 

xed awards with ratable esting pro isions

Employee Benefit Plans
he o pan  has k  retire ent sa ings plans the 

Mohawk lan  open to substantiall  all  and uerto 
i o based e plo ees who ha e o pleted  da s o  

eligible ser i e  he o pan  ontributes  or e er  
 o  e plo ee ontributions up to a axi u  o  

 o  the e plo ee’s salar  based upon ea h indi idual 
parti ipants ele tion  plo ee and e plo er ontributions 
to the Mohawk lan were  and 2 2 in 2 2  

 and 2  in 2 22 and 2 and 2  in 
2 2  respe ti el  

he o pan  also has arious pension plans o ering 
e plo ees in elgiu  Fran e  and the Netherlands the 
Non  lans  within Flooring W  ene ts under 

the Non  lans depend on o pensation and ears 
o  ser i e  he Non  lans are unded in a ordan e 
with lo al regulations  he o pan  uses e e ber 

 as the easure ent date or its Non  lans  he 
o pan ’s pro e ted bene t obligation and plan assets 

as o  e e ber  2 2  were  and  
respe ti el  he o pan ’s pro e ted bene t obligation 
and plan assets as o  e e ber  2 22 were 2  and 

2  respe ti el  s o  e e ber  2 2  the unded 
status o  the Non  lans was a liabilit  o  2  o  whi h 

2  was re orded in a u ulated other o prehensi e 
in o e loss  or a net liabilit  o   re orded in other 
long ter  liabilities within the onsolidated balan e sheets  

s o  e e ber  2 22  the unded status o  the Non  
lans was a liabilit  o   o  whi h 2 was re orded 

in a u ulated other o prehensi e in o e loss  or a 
net liabilit  o  2 re orded in other long ter  liabilities 
within the onsolidated balan e sheets   



Comprehensive Income (Loss)
o prehensi e in o e loss  in ludes oreign urren  

translation o  assets and liabilities o  oreign subsidiaries  
e e ts o  ex hange rate hanges on inter o pan  balan es 
o  a long ter  nature and pension and post retire ent bene t  
ser i e ost  he o pan  does not pro ide in o e taxes 
on urren  translation ad ust ents  as earnings ro  oreign 
subsidiaries are onsidered to be inde nitel  rein ested  

he o pan  presents urren  translation ad ust ents on 
non ontrolling interests separatel  ro  urren  translation 
ad ust ents on ontrolling interests in a u ulated other 

o prehensi e in o e loss  within sto kholders’ e uit

he hanges in a u ulated other o prehensi e 
in o e loss  b  o ponent  net o  tax  or the ears ended 

e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  are as ollows

Foreign urren  
ranslation 

d ust ents

rior ension and 
ost etire ent 

ene t er i e  
ost and tuarial 

ain Loss otal

alan e as o  e e ber  2 2  2   
urrent period other o prehensi e in o e loss  2   2
alan e as o  e e ber  2 2    2
urrent period other o prehensi e in o e loss   2  
alan e as o  e e ber  2 22  2   2
urrent period other o prehensi e in o e loss  35,332  (1,037)  34,295

alan e as o  e e ber  2 2 $ (1,079,297)  (666)  (1,079,963)

Self-Insurance Reserves
he o pan  is sel insured in the  or arious le els o  

general liabilit  auto obile liabilit  workers’ o pensation 
and e plo ee edi al o erage  Insuran e reser es are 
pri aril  al ulated on an undis ounted basis based on 
a tual lai  data and esti ates o  in urred but not reported 

lai s de eloped utili ing histori al lai  trends  ro e ted 
settle ents and in urred but not reported lai s are 
esti ated based on pending lai s and histori al trends and 
data  hough the o pan  does not expe t the  to do so  
a tual settle ents and lai s ould di er ateriall  ro  
those esti ated  Material di eren es in a tual settle ents 
and lai s ould ha e an ad erse e e t on the o pan ’s 
results o  operations and nan ial ondition  

he o pan  has a wholl owned apti e insuran e o
pan  Mohawk ssuran e er i es  In  M  M  insures 
the retained portion o  the o pan ’s  general liabilit  
auto obile liabilit  workers’ o pensation exposures  
pande i  terroris  and edi al o erage to M  

Fiscal Year
he o pan  ends its s al ear on e e ber  a h 

o  the rst three uarters in the s al ear ends on the 
aturda  nearest the alendar uarter end with a thirteen 

week s al uarter

Recent Accounting Pronouncements—Recently Adopted
In e e ber 2  the F  issued  2 2  

Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes whi h si pli ed 
the a ounting or in o e taxes in se eral areas b  re o ing 

ertain ex eptions and b  lari ing and a ending existing 
guidan e appli able to a ounting or in o e taxes  he 

o pan  adopted the new standard on anuar   2 2  he 
e e t o  adopting the new standard was not aterial

Recent Accounting Pronouncements—Effective in  
Future Years

In No e ber 2 2  the Finan ial ounting tandards 
oard F  issued ounting tandards pdate  

2 2  Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to 
Reportable Segment Disclosures  whi h expands seg ent 
dis losures or publi  entities  in luding re uiring dis losure 
o  signi ant seg ent expenses that are regularl  pro ided 
to the hie  operating de ision aker M  the title and 
position o  the M and an explanation o  how the M 
uses reported easures o  seg ent pro t or loss in assessing 
seg ent per or an e and allo ating resour es  he new 
guidan e also expands dis losures about a reportable 
seg ent’s pro t or loss and assets in interi  periods and 

lari es that a publi  entit  a  report additional easures o  
seg ent pro t i  the M uses ore than one easure o  a 
seg ent’s pro t or loss  he new guidan e does not re o e 
existing seg ent dis losure re uire ents or hange how a 
publi  entit  identi es its operating seg ents  aggregates 
those operating seg ents  or deter ines its reportable 
seg ents  he guidan e e e ti e or s al ears beginning 
a ter e e ber  2 2  and subse uent interi  periods 
with earl  adoption per itted  and re uires retrospe ti e 
appli ation to all prior periods presented in the nan ial 
state ents  he o pan  is urrentl  e aluating the i pa t 
this new guidan e will ha e on its dis losures upon adoption

n e e ber  2 2  the F  issued  2 2  
Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures  applies to all entities 
sub e t to in o e taxes  he standard re uires disaggregated 
in or ation about a reporting entit ’s e e ti e tax rate  
re on iliation as well as in or ation on in o e taxes paid  

he standard is intended to bene t in estors b  pro iding 
ore detailed in o e tax dis losures that would be use ul  

in aking apital allo ation de isions  For publi  business  
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entities  this standard will be e e ti e or annual periods 
beginning a ter e e ber  2 2  he guidan e will be 
applied on a prospe ti e basis with the option to appl  
the standard retrospe ti el  arl  adoption is per itted  

urrentl  the o pan  is assessing the i pa t o  the  
new guidan e  he o pan  does not expe t the  
adoption o  the guidan e to ha e a signi ant i pa t  
on its nan ial state ents

(2) Acquisitions
2023 Acquisitions

uring the rst uarter o  2 2  the o pan  o pleted 
the a uisitions o  two era i  tile businesses in ra il and  
Mexi o within lobal era i  or  he o pan ’s 
a uisitions resulted in a goodwill allo ation o  2  None  
o  the goodwill will be dedu tible or tax purposes  he a tors  

ontributing to the re ognition o  the a ount o  goodwill are 
based on se eral strategi  and s nergisti  bene ts that are 
expe ted to be reali ed ro  the a uisitions  hese bene ts  
in lude opportunities to i pro e the o pan ’s era i  
per or an e b  le eraging best pra ti es  operational  
expertise  produ t inno ation and anu a turing assets  
a ross the seg ent  he ollowing table presents the allo ation  
o  the pur hase pri e b  a or lass o  assets a uired and 
liabilities assu ed as o  the a uisition date

ounts e ogni ed  
as o  the uisition ate

Working apital $ 95,336

ropert  plant and e uip ent 333,495

radena es 38,539

usto er relationships 4,040

oodwill 87,520

Long ter  debt  in luding urrent portion (26,072)

e erred tax  net (10,088)

onsideration trans erred 522,770

Less  ash a uired (7,261)

Net onsideration trans erred net o   
ash a uired $ 515,509

he supple ental pro or a in or ation is i aterial to 
the o pan ’s nan ial state ents

2022 Acquisitions
uring 2 22  the o pan  o pleted two a uisitions 

in Flooring North eri a Flooring N  or  he 
o pan ’s a uisitions resulted in a goodwill allo ation 

o   and intangible assets sub e t to a orti ation o  
 ubstantiall  all o  the goodwill is dedu tible or tax 

purposes  uring the third and ourth uarters o  2 22  the 
o pan  also o pleted three a uisitions in Flooring est 

o  the World Flooring W  or  whi h resulted in 
a goodwill allo ation o   and intangible assets sub e t 
to a orti ation o   n i aterial a ount o  goodwill 
is dedu tible or tax purposes

2021 Acquisitions
uring 2 2  the o pan  o pleted a uisitions in 

Flooring W totaling 2 2  in luding the a uisition 
o  an insulation anu a turer  on epte ber  2 2  or 

 and the a uisition o  a M F produ tion plant on 
No e ber 2  2 2  or  he o pan ’s a uisitions 
resulted in a goodwill allo ation o  2  and intangible 
assets sub e t to a orti ation o   he goodwill was 
not dedu tible or tax purposes  he re aining a uisitions 
resulted in goodwill o  2 and intangible assets sub e t 
to a orti ation o   

(3) Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Contract Liabilities

he o pan  re ords ontra t liabilities when it re ei es 
pa ent prior to ul lling a per or an e obligation  ontra t 
liabilities related to re enues are re orded in a ounts 
pa able and a rued expenses on the a o pan ing 

onsolidated balan e sheets  he o pan  had ontra t 
liabilities o   and 2 2 as o  e e ber  2 2  
and e e ber  2 22  respe ti el  

Performance Obligations
ubstantiall  all o  the o pan ’s re enue is re ogni ed 

at a point in ti e when the produ t is either shipped or 
re ei ed ro  the o pan ’s a ilities and ontrol o  the 
produ t is trans erred to the usto er  ordingl  in 
an  period  the o pan  does not re ogni e a signi ant 
a ount o  re enue ro  per or an e obligations satis ed 
or partiall  satis ed in prior periods and the a ount o  su h 
re enue re ogni ed during the ears ended e e ber  
2 2  2 22  and 2 2  was i aterial

Costs to Obtain a Contract
he o pan  in urs ertain in re ental osts to obtain 

re enue ontra ts  hese osts relate to arketing displa  
stru tures and are apitali ed when the a orti ation period 
is greater than one ear  with the a ount re orded in other 
assets on the a o pan ing onsolidated balan e sheets  

apitali ed osts to obtain ontra ts were  and 
 as o  e e ber  2 2  and e e ber  2 22  

respe ti el  traight line a orti ation expense re ogni ed 
during 2 2  2 22 and 2 2  related to these apitali ed 

osts were 2  2  and  respe ti el



Revenue Disaggregation
he ollowing table presents the o pan ’s seg ent re enues disaggregated b  the geographi al arket lo ation o  us

to er sales and produ t ategories during the ears ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  respe ti el

e e ber  2 2 lobal era i Flooring NA Flooring W otal

eo ra ical arkets

nited tates  $ 2,320,019  3,713,311  6,728  6,040,058

urope 2  1,071,649  4,375  2,304,956  3,380,980

Latin A eri a  730,326  3,776  33,671  767,773

ther  178,113  107,924  660,267  946,304

otal  $ 4,300,107  3,829,386  3,005,622  11,135,115

ro uct Cate ories

era i   tone  $ 4,258,873  34,211  —  4,293,084

arpet  esilient  41,234  3,021,060  893,066  3,955,360

La inate  Wood  —  774,115  958,499  1,732,614

ther  —  —  1,154,057  1,154,057

otal  $ 4,300,107  3,829,386  3,005,622  11,135,115

e e ber  2 22 lobal era i Flooring NA Flooring W otal

eo ra ical arkets

nited tates   2 2 2  2 2   
urope 2  2   2  

Latin A eri a  2  2   2 2
ther  2  2 2  2  

otal    2  222  
ro uct Cate ories

era i   tone   2 2    2 2
arpet  esilient  2  2 2   2

La inate  Wood     
ther    2  2

otal    2  222  

e e ber  2 2 lobal era i Flooring NA Flooring W otal

eo ra ical arkets

nited tates   2 2   2  2
urope 2   2 2  2 2  2

Latin A eri a  2    2
ther  2   2  

otal      2
ro uct Cate ories

era i   tone      
arpet  esilient  22  2  2  2 2

La inate  Wood     2
ther     

otal      2
(1) t e  in l de  oo n  ele ent  in lation oa d  i oa d  and P ont a t
(2) R ia e en e in l ded in o e
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(4) Restructuring, Acquisition and Integration-Related Costs
he o pan  in urs osts in onne tion with a uiring  integrating and restru turing a uisitions and in onne tion with its 

global ost redu tion produ ti it  initiati es  For exa ple

• In onne tion with a uisition a ti it  the o pan  t pi all  in urs osts asso iated with exe uting the transa tions  
integrating the a uired operations whi h a  in lude expenditures or onsulting and the integration o  s ste s and  
pro esses  and restru turing the o bined o pan  whi h a  in lude harges related to e plo ees  assets and  
a ti ities that will not ontinue in the o bined o pan ; and 

• In onne tion with the o pan ’s ost redu tion produ ti it  initiati es  it t pi all  in urs osts and harges asso iated 
with site losings and other a ilit  rationali ation a tions  in luding a elerated depre iation asset write downs  and 
work or e redu tions   

estru turing  a uisition and integration related osts onsisted o  the ollowing during the ear ended e e ber  2 2  
2 22 and 2 2  respe ti el  in thousands

2023 2 22 2 2

Cost of sales

estru turing osts $ 103,422  2  
A uisition integration related osts  974   

estru turing and a uisition integration related osts $ 104,396   

ellin  eneral an  a ministrati e e enses

estru turing osts $ 12,385   
A uisition transa tion related osts  2,117   2 2
A uisition integration related osts  12,712  2 2 

estru turing  a uisition transa tion and integration related osts $ 27,214   2



he restru turing a ti it  or the ears ended e e ber  2 2  and 2 22  respe ti el  is as ollows in thousands

Lease  
I pair ents

Asset Write  
owns ains  

on isposals e eran e

ther  
estru turing  

osts otal

alan e as o  e e ber  2 2       2 2
estru turing osts
lobal era i      

Flooring NA   2 2    
Flooring W    2  2  2

orporate      
otal restru turing osts or 2 22     2 2  
ash pa ents     2 2  2

Non ash ite s      
alan e as o  e e ber  2 22      
estru turing osts
lobal era i  480  16,106  7,826  717  25,129

Flooring NA  —  28,180  768  22,073  51,021

Flooring W  —  31,453  4,272  3,770  39,495

orporate  —  —  162  —  162

otal restru turing osts or 2 2  480  75,739  13,028  26,560  115,807

ash pa ents  —  —  (10,155)  (18,641)  (28,796)

Non ash ite s  (480)  (75,739)  (816)  (7,919)  (84,954)

alan e as o  e e ber  2 2  $ —  —  12,094  —  12,094

2 22 restru turing osts re orded in
ost o  sales      2  2
elling  general and ad inistrati e expenses     22  
otal restru turing osts or 2 22      2 2  

2 2  restru turing osts re orded in
ost o  sales  $ —  75,593  5,778  22,051  103,422

elling  general and ad inistrati e expenses  480  146  7,250  4,509  12,385

otal restru turing osts or 2 2  $ 480  75,739  13,028  26,560  115,807

he o pan  generall  expe ts the re aining se eran e and other restru turing osts to be paid o er the next ear
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(5) Fair Value
he o pan ’s wholl owned apti e insuran e o pan  a  in est in the o pan ’s o er ial paper  hese short ter   

o er ial paper in est ents are lassi ed as trading se urities and arried at air alue based upon the Le el 2 air alue hierar h

Items Measured at Fair Value
he ollowing table presents the ite s easured at air alue as o  e e ber  2 2  and e e ber  2 22

December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22

Short-term investments:

o er ial paper Le el 2  $ —  

he air alues and arr ing alues o  the o pan ’s debt are dis losed in Note  Long-Term Debt  

(6) Receivables, net
December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22

usto ers  trade  $ 1,716,309  
In o e tax re ei able  48,399  

ther  176,808  2
 1,941,516  

Less  allowan e or dis ounts  lai s and doubt ul a ounts  66,860  
e ei ables  net  $ 1,874,656  

(7) Inventories
he o ponents o  in entories are as ollows

December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22

Finished goods  $ 1,796,951  
Work in pro ess  164,197  

aw aterials  590,705  
otal in entories  $ 2,551,853  2



(8) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
he o pan  per or s its annual testing o  goodwill 

and inde nite li ed intangibles on the rst da  o  the ourth 
uarter o  ea h ear  etween annual testing dates  the 
o pan  onitors a tors su h as its arket apitali ation  
o parable o pan  arket ultiples and a roe ono i  
onditions to identi  onditions that ould i pa t the 
o pan ’s assu ptions utili ed in the deter ination o  the 

esti ated air alues o  the o pan ’s reporting units and 
inde nite li ed intangible assets signi antl  enough to 
trigger an i pair ent

he goodwill i pair ent tests are based on deter ining 
the air alue o  the spe i ed reporting units based on  

anage ent udg ents and assu ptions using the dis
ounted ash ows under the in o e approa h lassi ed in 

Le el  o  the air alue hierar h  and o parable o pan   
arket aluation lassi ed in Le el 2 o  the air alue 

hierar h  approa hes  he o pan  has identi ed lobal 
era i  Flooring NA and Flooring W as its reporting 

units or the purposes o  allo ating goodwill and intangibles 
at the asset le el  as well as assessing i pair ents  he 

aluation approa hes are sub e t to ke  udg ents and 
assu ptions that are sensiti e to hange su h as udg ents 
and assu ptions about appropriate sales growth rates   
operating argins  weighted a erage ost o  apital 

WA  and o parable o pan  arket ultiples

As a result o  a de rease in the o pan ’s arket  
apitali ation  a roe ono i  onditions and an in rease  

in the WA  the o pan  deter ined that a triggering 
e ent o urred re uiring goodwill i pair ent testing or 
ea h o  its reporting units as o  epte ber  2 2  and  

tober  2 22  he i pair ent tests indi ated pre tax  

non ash goodwill i pair ent harges related to all  
 reporting units o   2  net o  tax  and in  

the lobal era i  reporting unit o     
net o  tax  whi h the o pan  re orded during 2 2  and  
2 22  respe ti el  

he o pan  o pared the esti ated air alues o  
its inde nite li ed intangibles to their arr ing alues and 
deter ined that there were i pair ent harges o   

 net o  tax  in all  reporting units and 2   
net o  tax  in the Flooring W and Flooring NA reporting 
units during the third uarter o  2 2  and 2 22  respe ti el

he o pan ’s annual testing date or goodwill and 
tradena es is the rst da  o  its ourth uarter and due 
to the a t that there were no signi ant hanges in a ts 
or ir u stan es in the one alendar da  the o pan  
deter ined there was no additional i pair ent o  goodwill  
or tradena es  he o pan  ondu ted a ualitati e 
anal sis as o  e e ber  2 2  and deter ined there 
was no indi ation o  an i pair ent

A signi ant or prolonged deterioration in e ono i  
onditions  ontinued in reases in the osts o  raw aterials 

and energ  o bined with an inabilit  to pass these osts 
on to usto ers  a urther de line in the o pan ’s arket 

apitali ation or o parable o pan  arket ultiples  
pro e ted uture ash ows  or in reases in the WA  

ould i pa t the o pan ’s assu ptions and re uire a 
reassess ent o  goodwill or inde nite li ed intangible 
assets or i pair ent in uture periods  Future de lines in 
esti ated a ter tax ash ows  in reases in the WA  or a 
de line in arket apitali ation ould result in an additional 
indi ation o  i pair ent in one or ore o  the o pan ’s 
reporting units

he ollowing tables su ari e the o ponents o  goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill:

lobal era i Flooring NA Flooring W otal

alan es as o  e e ber  2 2      2  2
oodwill ad ust ents related to a uisitions    2 22  2 22
oodwill re ogni ed    2  2

I pair ent harges     
urren  translation  2    2
alan es as o  e e ber  2 22     2
oodwill ad ust ents related to a uisitions  —  (4,888)  3,217  (1,671)

oodwill re ogni ed  87,520  —  —  87,520

I pair ent harges  (424,286)  (214,830)  (231,634)  (870,750)

urren  translation  (3,068)  —  19,934  16,866

alan es as o  e e ber  2 2  $ —  372,267  787,457  1,159,724

 (1) et o  a lated i ai ent lo e  o  1 2 25 ( 5 1  in lo al e a i  5  in loo in  A and 52 1 in loo in  R )
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Intangible assets:

radena es

Inde nite life assets not subject to amortization:

alan e as o  e e ber  2 2   
Intangible assets a uired  
Intangible assets i paired  2

urren  translation  
alan e as o  e e ber  2 22  2

Intangible assets a uired  38,539

Intangible assets i paired  (6,994)

urren  translation  5,873

alan e as o  e e ber  2 2  $ 705,746

usto er 
elationships atents ther otal

Intangible assets subject to amortization:

alan es as o  e e ber  2 2
ross arr ing a ount    2   2

A u ulated a orti ation   2 2  2 2  22
Net intangible assets sub e t to a orti ation  2  22  2  2

alan es as o  e e ber  2 22
ross arr ing a ount   2 2   2

A u ulated a orti ation   2  2  
Net intangible assets sub e t to a orti ation  22    2

alan es as o  e e ber  2 2
ross arr ing a ount  691,498  249,680  8,754  949,932

A u ulated a orti ation  (531,003)  (247,150)  (2,142)  (780,295)

Net intangible assets sub e t to a orti ation  $ 160,495  2,530  6,612  169,637

ears nded e e ber 
2023 2 22 2 2

A orti ation expense  $ 28,339  2  2 2

sti ated a orti ation expense or the ears ending e e ber  are as ollows

A ount

2 2  2
2 2  2
2 2  2
2 2  2 2
2 2  2



(9) Property, Plant and Equipment
Following is a su ar  o  propert  plant and e uip ent

December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22

Land  $ 519,224  2
uildings and i pro e ents  2,105,114  

Ma hiner  and e uip ent  6,788,032  2
Furniture and xtures  166,778  2
Leasehold i pro e ents  110,134  

onstru tion in progress  703,015  
 10,392,297  

Less  a u ulated depre iation  5,399,131  
Net propert  plant and e uip ent  $ 4,993,166  

Additions to propert  plant and e uip ent in luded 
apitali ed interest o  2   and 2 in 2 2  

2 22 and 2 2  respe ti el  epre iation expense was 
 2  and  or 2 2  2 22 and 2 2  

respe ti el  In luded in propert  plant and e uip ent 
are nan e leases with a ost o   and 2  and 
a u ulated depre iation o   and 2  as o  

e e ber  2 2  and 2 22  respe ti el

(10) Long-Term Debt
Senior Credit Facility

n August 2  2 22  the o pan  entered into a ourth 
a end ent the A end ent  to its existing senior 
re ol ing redit a ilit  the enior redit Fa ilit  he 
A end ent  a ong other things  i  extended the aturit  
o  the enior redit Fa ilit  ro  tober  2 2  to 
August 2  2 2  ii  renewed the o pan ’s option to 
extend the aturit  o  the enior redit Fa ilit  up to two 
ti es or an additional one ear period ea h  iii  in reased 
the onsolidated Interest o erage atio nan ial ainte
nan e o enant ro   to  i  eli inated 

ertain o enants appli able to the o pan  and its 
subsidiaries  in luding  but not li ited to  restri tions on 
dispositions  restri ted pa ents  and transa tions with 
a liates  and the onsolidated Net Le erage atio nan ial 

o enant  and  in reased the a ount a ailable under the 
enior redit Fa ilit  to  until tober  2 2  

a ter whi h the a ount a ailable under the enior redit 
Fa ilit  will de rease to  he A end ent also 
per its the o pan  to in rease the o it ents under 
the enior redit Fa ilit  b  an aggregate a ount not to 
ex eed 

At the o pan ’s ele tion  dollar deno inated 
re ol ing loans under the enior redit Fa ilit  bear interest 
at annual rates e ual to either a  F  plus a  F  
ad ust ent  or   or  onth periods  as sele ted b  the 

o pan  plus an appli able argin ranging between  
and   as o  e e ber  2 2  or b  the ase 

ate de ned as the higher o  the Wells Fargo ank  National 

Asso iation pri e rate  the Federal Funds e ti e ate 
plus  or F  plus a  F  ad ust ent  or a 

 onth period rate plus  plus an appli able argin 
ranging between  and   as o  e e ber 

 2 2  At the o pan ’s ele tion  re ol ing loans under 
the enior redit Fa ilit  deno inated in anadian dollars  
Australian dollars  ong ong dollars or euros bear interest 
at annual rates e ual to either a  the appli able ben h ark 
or su h urren  plus an appli able argin ranging between 

 and   as o  e e ber  2 2  or b  
the ase ate plus an appli able argin ranging between 

 and   as o  e e ber  2 2  he 
o pan  also pa s a o it ent ee to the lenders under 

the enior redit Fa ilit  on the a erage a ount b  whi h 
the aggregate o it ents o  the lenders ex eed utili ation 
o  the enior redit Fa ilit  ranging ro   to 2  
per annu   as o  e e ber  2 2  he appli able 

argins and the o it ent ee are deter ined based on 
whi he er o  the o pan ’s onsolidated Net Le erage 

atio or its senior unse ured debt rating or i  not a ailable  
orporate a il  rating  results in the lower appli able 
argins and o it ent ee with appli able argins and 

the o it ent ee in reasing as that ratio in reases or 
those ratings de line  as appli able  n tober 2  2 2  
the o pan  a ended the enior redit Fa ilit  to repla e 
LI  or euros with the I  ben h ark rate

he obligations o  the o pan  and its subsidiaries in 
respe t o  the enior redit Fa ilit  are unse ured

he enior redit Fa ilit  in ludes ertain a r ati e  
and negati e o enants that i pose restri tions on the  

o pan ’s nan ial and business operations  in luding  
li itations on liens  subsidiar  indebtedness  unda ental 

hanges  uture negati e pledges  and hanges in the nature 
o  the o pan ’s business  he li itations ontain usto ar   
ex eptions or  in ertain ases  do not appl  as long as the 

o pan  is in o plian e with the nan ial ratio re uire ent  
and is not otherwise in de ault  As des ribed abo e  the 

onsolidated Net Le erage atio nan ial o enant was  
eli inated on August 2  2 22
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he enior redit Fa ilit  also ontains usto ar   
representations and warranties and e ents o  de ault   
sub e t to usto ar  gra e periods

In 2 22  the o pan  paid nan ing osts o   in 
onne tion with the A end ent o  its enior redit Fa ilit  
hese osts were de erred and  along with pre iousl  

una orti ed osts o  2  are being a orti ed o er the 
ter  o  the enior redit Fa ilit

As o  e e ber  2 2  a ounts utili ed under the 
enior redit Fa ilit  in luded  borrowings and  

 o  standb  letters o  redit related to arious insuran e 
ontra ts and oreign endor o it ents  An  outstanding 

borrowings under the o pan ’s  and uropean  
o er ial paper progra s redu e the a ailabilit  o  the 
enior redit Fa ilit  he o pan  has utili ed  

under the enior redit Fa ilit  resulting in a total o  
2  a ailable as o  e e ber  2 2  

Commercial Paper
n Februar  2  2  and ul   2  the o pan  

established progra s or the issuan e o  unse ured 
o er ial paper in the nited tates and uro one apital 
arkets  respe ti el  o er ial paper issued under the 

 and uropean progra s will ha e aturities ranging up 
to  and  da s  respe ti el  None o  the o er ial 
paper notes a  be oluntaril  prepaid or redee ed b  
the o pan  and rank pari passu with the o pan ’s other 
unse ured and unsubordinated indebtedness  o the extent 
that the o pan  issues uropean o er ial paper notes 
through a subsidiar  o  the o pan  the notes will be ull  
and un onditionall  guaranteed b  the o pan

he o pan  uses its enior redit Fa ilit  as a li uidit  
ba kstop or its o er ial paper progra s  A ordingl  the 
total a ount outstanding under the o pan ’s o er ial  
paper progra s a  not ex eed  less an  
a ounts drawn on the enior redit Fa ilit  at an  ti e

he pro eeds ro  the issuan e o  o er ial paper 
notes will be a ailable or general orporate purposes  As o  

e e ber  2 2  there was ero outstanding under the 
 o er ial paper progra  and the uropean progra

Senior Notes
n epte ber  2 2  the o pan  o pleted the 

issuan e and sale o   aggregate prin ipal a ount o  
 enior Notes  enior Notes  due epte ber 

 2 2  he  enior Notes are senior unse ured 
obligations o  the o pan  and rank pari passu with the 

o pan ’s other existing and uture senior unse ured 
indebtedness  Interest on the  enior Notes is pa able 
se i annuall  in ash on Mar h  and epte ber  o  
ea h ear  o en ing on Mar h  2 2  he o pan  
paid nan ing osts o  2 in onne tion with the  

enior Notes  hese osts were de erred and are being 
a orti ed o er the ter  o  the  enior Notes  

n une 2  2 2  Mohawk apital Finan e A  Mohawk 
Finan e  an indire t wholl owned nan e subsidiar  o  
the o pan  o pleted the issuan e and sale o   
aggregate prin ipal a ount o   enior Notes  

enior Notes  due une 2  2 2  he  enior Notes 
are senior unse ured obligations o  Mohawk Finan e and 
rank pari passu with Mohawk Finan e’s other existing and 
uture senior unse ured indebtedness  he  enior 

Notes are ull  un onditionall  and irre o abl  guaranteed 
b  the o pan  on a senior unse ured basis  Interest on the 

 enior Notes is pa able annuall  in ash on une 2 
o  ea h ear  o en ing on une 2  2 2  he o pan  
paid nan ing osts o   in onne tion with the  

enior Notes  hese osts were de erred and are being 
a orti ed o er the ter  o  the  enior Notes  

n Ma   2 2  the o pan  o pleted the issuan e 
and sale o   aggregate prin ipal a ount o  2  

enior Notes 2  enior Notes  due Ma   2   
he 2  enior Notes are senior unse ured obligations 

o  the o pan  and rank pari passu with the o pan ’s 
existing and uture unse ured indebtedness  Interest on 
the 2  enior Notes is pa able se i annuall  in ash 
on Ma   and No e ber  o  ea h ear  o en ing on 
No e ber  2 2   he o pan  paid nan ing osts o  

 in onne tion with the 2  enior Notes  hese 
osts were de erred and are being a orti ed o er the ter  

o  the 2  enior Notes  

n anuar   2  the o pan  issued  
aggregate prin ipal a ount o   enior Notes  

enior Notes  due Februar   2 2  he  enior 
Notes were senior unse ured obligations o  the o pan  
and ranked pari passu with the o pan ’s existing and 
uture unse ured indebtedness  Interest on the  enior 

Notes was pa able se i annuall  in ash on Februar   and 
August  o  ea h ear  he o pan  paid nan ing osts 
o   in onne tion with the  enior Notes  hese 

osts were de erred and were a orti ed o er the ter  o  the 
 enior Notes  n No e ber  2 22  the o pan  

redee ed at par all o  the  enior Notes  

As de ned in the related agree ents  the o pan ’s senior 
notes ontain o enants  representations and warranties and 
e ents o  de ault  sub e t to ex eptions  and restri tions on  
the o pan ’s nan ial and business operations  in luding 
li itations on liens  restri tions on entering into sale and  
leaseba k transa tions  unda ental hanges  and a pro ision 
allowing the holder o  the notes to re uire repa ent upon a 

hange o  ontrol triggering e ent

Term Loan
n August 2  2 22  the o pan  and its indire t 

wholl owned subsidiar  Mohawk International oldings  
r l  Mohawk International  entered into an agree ent that 
pro ides or a dela ed draw ter  loan a ilit  the er  Loan 
Fa ilit  onsisting o  borrowings o  up to  and  

22  n tober  2 22  an additional  o  
borrowing apa it  was added to the er  Loan Fa ilit  he  
er  Loan Fa ilit  ould be drawn upon in up to two ad an es  



on an  business da  on or be ore e e ber  2 22  with  
the pro eeds being used or unding working apital and 
general orporate purposes  n tober  2 22 and 

e e ber  2 22  the o pan  ade draws o   
and 22  respe ti el  he o pan  ust pa  the 
outstanding prin ipal a ount o  the er  Loan Fa ilit  plus 
a rued and unpaid interest  not later than the aturit  date 
o  August 2  2 2  he o pan  a  prepa  all or a portion 
o  the er  Loan Fa ilit  plus a rued and unpaid interest  
ro  ti e to ti e  without pre iu  or penalt

At the o pan ’s ele tion   dollar deno inated loans 
under the er  Loan Fa ilit  bear interest at an annual rate 
e ual to either a  F  plus a  F  ad ust ent  or 

  or  onth periods  as sele ted b  the o pan  plus 
an appli able argin ranging between 2  and  

 as o  e e ber  2 2  deter ined based upon 
the o pan ’s onsolidated net le erage ratio  or b  the base  
rate de ned as the higher o  the Wells Fargo ank  National 
Asso iation pri e rate  the Federal Funds e ti e ate plus  

 and F  plus a  F  ad ust ent  or a  onth  
period plus  plus an appli able argin ranging between 

 and   as o  e e ber  2 2  deter ined  
based upon the o pan ’s onsolidated net le erage ratio  

uro deno inated loans under the er  Loan Fa ilit  bear  
interest at an annual rate e ual to I  or   or  onth  
periods  as sele ted b  the o pan  plus an appli able 

argin ranging between 2  and   as o   
e e ber  2 2  deter ined based upon the o pan ’s  

onsolidated net le erage ratio

In 2 22  the o pan  paid nan ing osts o   in 
onne tion with the er  Loan Fa ilit  hese osts were 

de erred and are being a orti ed o er the ter  o  the er  
Loan Fa ilit

he obligations o  the o pan  and its subsidiaries in 
respe t o  the er  Loan Fa ilit  are unse ured

he er  Loan Fa ilit  in ludes ertain a r ati e 
and negati e o enants that i pose restri tions on the 

o pan ’s nan ial and business operations  in luding 
li itations on liens  indebtedness  unda ental hanges  
and hanges in the nature o  the o pan ’s business  Man  
o  these li itations are sub e t to nu erous ex eptions  he 

o pan  is also re uired to aintain a onsolidated Interest 
o erage atio o  at least  to  as o  the last da  o  an  
s al uarter

he er  Loan Fa ilit  also ontains usto ar   
representations and warranties

he er  Loan Fa ilit  ontains e ents o  de ault usto ar   
or this t pe o  nan ing  in luding a ross de ault and ross 

a eleration pro ision to ertain other aterial indebtedness 
o  the o pan  pon the o urren e o  an e ent o  de ault  
the outstanding obligations under the er  Loan Fa ilit  a  
be a elerated and be o e due and pa able i ediatel  
In addition  i  ertain hange o  ontrol e ents o ur with 
respe t to the o pan  the o pan  is re uired to repa  
the loans outstanding under the er  Loan Fa ilit

n anuar   2 2  the o pan  prepaid the entiret  o  
the  portion o  the er  Loan Fa ilit  in the a ount o  

 n Februar   2 2  the o pan  prepaid the 
entiret  o  the  portion o  the er  Loan Fa ilit  in the 
a ount o  22  
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he aggregate aturities o  total debt as o  e e ber  
2 2  are as ollows

A ount 

2 2  2
2 2  
2 2  
2 2  2
2 2  

herea ter  2 2
otal aturities  2

(1) e t at it  ta le e l de  de e ed loan o t  

he air alues and arr ing alues o  the o pan ’s debt instru ents are detailed as ollows

December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22

Fair Value
Carrying  

Value Fair alue
arr ing  

alue

 enior Notes  pa able une 2  2 2 ; interest pa able annuall  $ 521,899  551,876  2  
2  enior Notes  pa able Ma   2 ; interest pa able 

se i annuall  463,965  500,000   
 enior Notes  pa able epte ber  2 2 ; interest pa able 

se i annuall  622,890  600,000   
 o er ial paper  —  —   

uropean o er ial paper  —  —  2  2
enior redit a ilit  pa able August 2  2 2  67,117  67,117   

 er  Loan Fa ilit  675,000  675,000   
uropean er  Loan Fa ilit  242,826  242,826  2  2

Finan e leases and other  77,699  77,699  2  2
na orti ed debt issuan e osts  (11,018)  (11,018)  2  2
otal debt  2,660,378  2,703,500  2  2

Less  urrent portion o  long ter debt and o er ial paper  1,001,715  1,001,715   
Long ter  debt  less urrent portion  $ 1,658,663  1,701,785  2  

he air alues o  the o pan ’s debt instru ents were esti ated using arket obser able inputs  in luding uoted pri es in 
a ti e arkets  arket indi es and interest rate easure ents  Within the hierar h  o  air alue easure ents  these are Le el 2 
air alues

(11) Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
A ounts pa able and a rued expenses are as ollows

December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22

utstanding he ks in 
ex ess o  ash  $ 2,223  2
A ounts pa able  trade  1,038,024  
A rued expenses  667,761  2

rodu t warranties  37,574  2
A rued interest  20,052  
A rued o pensation 
and bene ts  269,705  2

otal a ounts pa able 
and a rued expenses  $ 2,035,339  2 2



(12) Leases
he o pan  has operating and nan e leases or ser i e enters  warehouses  showroo s  and a hiner  and e uip ent  

ertain o  the o pan ’s leases in lude rental pa ents that will ad ust periodi all  or in ation or ertain ad ust ents based on 
step in reases  An insigni ant nu ber o  the o pan ’s leases ontain residual alue guarantees and none o  the o pan ’s 
agree ents ontain aterial restri ti e o enants  

he o pan  rents or subleases ertain real estate to third parties  he o pan ’s sublease port olio onsists ainl  o  
operating leases

he o ponents o  lease osts or the twel e onths ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  respe ti el  are as ollows

e e ber  2 2
ost o   

oods old
elling  eneral and 

Ad inistrati e xpenses otal
Operating lease costs:
Fixed  $ 29,968  109,704  139,672

hort ter  15,445  20,162  35,607
ariable  9,717  35,739  45,456
ub leases  (697)  (1,480)  (2,177)
otal operating lease osts  $ 54,433  164,125  218,558

epre iation and 
A orti ation Interest otal

Finance lease costs:
A orti ation o  leased assets  $ 15,367  —  15,367
Interest on lease liabilities  —  1,962  1,962

otal nan e lease osts  $ 15,367  1,962  17,329
otal lease osts  $ 235,887

e e ber  2 22
ost o   

oods old
elling  eneral and 

Ad inistrati e xpenses otal
Operating lease costs:
Fixed   2 2   2

hort ter    
ariable    
ub leases   2  2
otal operating lease osts   2  2  2 2

epre iation and 
A orti ation Interest otal

Finance lease costs:
A orti ation o  leased assets     
Interest on lease liabilities    

otal nan e lease osts     2
otal lease osts   22

e e ber  2 2
ost o   

oods old
elling  eneral and 

Ad inistrati e xpenses otal
Operating lease costs:
Fixed   2   2

hort ter    
ariable   2  
ub leases  2   2
otal operating lease osts    2  

epre iation and 
A orti ation Interest otal

Finance lease costs:
A orti ation o  leased assets     
Interest on lease liabilities   2  2

otal nan e lease osts    2  
otal lease osts   2 2
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upple ental balan e sheet in or ation related to leases is as ollows

lassi ation December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22

Assets

perating Leases
 operating lease assets  operating lease assets  $ 428,532  

Finan e Leases
ropert  plant and e uip ent  gross ropert  plant and e uip ent  117,350  2

A u ulated depre iation A u ulated depre iation  (45,967) 2
ropert  plant and e uip ent  net ropert  plant and e uip ent  net  71,383  2
otal lease assets  $ 499,915  2

Liabilities

perating Leases
ther urrent urrent operating lease liabilities  $ 108,860  2

Non urrent Non urrent operating lease liabilities  337,506  2
otal operating liabilities  446,366  2

Finan e Leases
hort ter  debt hort ter  debt and urrent portion o  long ter  debt  16,132  

Long ter  debt Long ter  debt  less urrent portion  55,060  2
otal nan e liabilities  71,192  2
otal lease liabilities  $ 517,558  2

Maturities o  lease liabilities as o  e e ber  2 2  are as ollows

ear nding e e ber Finan e Leases perating Leases otal

2 2  22   2 2
2 2    
2 2    
2 2   2  22
2 2  2   

herea ter  2   
otal lease pa ents  2   2

Less  i puted interest   2  
resent alue  otal  2   

he o pan  had approxi atel   o  leases that o en ed a ter e e ber  2 2  that reated rights and  
obligations to the o pan  hese leases are not in luded in the abo e aturit  s hedule



Lease ter  and dis ount rate are as ollows

December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term:

perating Leases 4.7 years  ears
Finan e Leases 5.5 years 2 ears
Weighted Average Discount Rate:

perating Leases 4.8%

Finan e Leases 3.1%

upple ental ash ow in or ation related to leases was as ollows

wel e Months nded
December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22 e e ber  2 2

ash paid or a ounts in luded in easure ent o  lease liabilities
perating ash ows ro  operating leases  $ 135,249  2  22
perating ash ows ro  nan e leases  1,962   2

Finan ing ash ows ro  nan e leases  14,574   2
 assets obtained in ex hange or lease obligations

perating leases  160,836   
Finan e leases  31,642   
A orti ation
A orti ation o   operating lease assets  120,393  2  
(1) A o ti ation o  R  o e atin  lea e a et  d in  t e e iod i  e e ted in t e  a et  and e aid e en e  on t e on olidated tate ent  o  a  lo

(13) Stock-Based Compensation
he o pan  re ogni ed o pensation expense or 

all share based pa ents granted or the ears ended 
e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  based on the grant date 

air arket alue esti ated in a ordan e with the pro isions 
o  A   o pensation expense is re ogni ed on a 
straight line basis o er the options’ or other awards’ esti ated 
li es or xed awards with ratable esting pro isions

n Ma   2  the o pan ’s sto kholders appro ed the 
2  Long er  In enti e lan the 2  lan  whi h allows 
the o pan  to reser e up to a axi u  o   shares o  

o on sto k or issuan e upon the grant or exer ise o  sto k 
options  restri ted sto k  restri ted sto k units s  and 
other t pes o  awards  to dire tors and ke  e plo ees through 
the 2 2  sto kholders’ eeting  unless earlier ter inated 
or a ended  n Ma   2 2  the o pan ’s sto kholders 

appro ed the 2 2 In enti e lan the 2 2 lan  nder the 
2 2 lan  the o pan  reser ed up to a axi u  o  2  
shares o  o on sto k or issuan e upon the grant or exer ise 
o  sto k options  restri ted sto k  s and other t pes o  
awards  to dire tors and ke  e plo ees through the 2 22 
sto kholders’ eeting  unless earlier ter inated or a ended  
Following the appro al o  the 2  lan b  the o pan ’s 
sto kholders  no additional awards a  be granted under  
the 2 2 lan a ter Ma   2  

nder the 2  lan and pre iousl  the 2 2 lan  the 
grant date air arket alue o  restri ted sto k and s is 
e ual to the losing arket pri e o  the o pan ’s o on 
sto k on the date o  the grant  and su h awards generall  
est between three and e ears  In addition  option awards 
a  be granted with an exer ise pri e e ual to or greater 

than the air arket alue o  the o pan ’s o on sto k 
on the date o  the grant  and su h awards generall  est 
between three and e ears with a ear ontra tual ter  
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Restricted Stock Plans
A su ar  o  the o pan ’s s under the o pan ’s long ter  in enti e plans as o  e e ber  2 2  and hanges 

during the ear then ended is presented as ollows

hares

Weighted A erage  
rant ate Fair 

alue

Weighted  
A erage  

e aining  
ontra tual  

er  ears
Aggregate  

Intrinsi  alue

s outstanding  e e ber  2 22   2
ranted  271  101.42

eleased  (193)  132.32

For eited  (45)  133.83

s outstanding  e e ber  2 2  487 $ 109.83  0.9 $ 50,438

xpe ted to est as o  e e ber  2 2  487  0.9 $ 50,438

he o pan  re ogni ed sto k based o pensation osts related to the issuan e o  s o  2   net o  taxes  
22  2  net o  taxes  and 2  2  net o  taxes  or the ears ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  

respe ti el  whi h has been allo ated to selling  general and ad inistrati e expenses and ost o  goods sold  re tax unre ogni ed  
o pensation expense or un ested s granted to e plo ees  net o  esti ated or eitures  was  as o  e e ber  2 2   

and will be re ogni ed as expense o er a weighted a erage period o  approxi atel   ears

Additional in or ation relating to the o pan ’s s 
under the o pan ’s long ter  in enti e plans are as ollows

2023 2 22 2 2

s outstanding  anuar     
ranted  271  2  
eleased  (193)   

For eited  (45)   2
s outstanding  e e ber  487   

xpe ted to est as o  e e ber  487   

uring 2 2  2 22 and 2 2  shares were awarded ea h 
ear to ertain non e plo ee dire tors in lieu o  ash or 

their annual retainers  he total nu ber o  shares were  
 2  and  respe ti el   

(14) Other Income and Expense, net
Following is a su ar  o  other in o e  expense  net

2023 2 22 2 2

Foreign urren  gains  
losses  net  $ 15,671  2  2

elease o   
inde ni ation asset  —  2  

esolution o  oreign  
non in o e tax 

ontingen ies  —   2
All other  net  (26,484)   2 2

otal other in o e  
expense  net  $ (10,813)   2 2

(15) Income Taxes
Following is a su ar  o  earnings loss  be ore in o e 

taxes or nited tates and oreign operations

2023 2 22 2 2

nited tates  $ (440,556)  2 2  2
Foreign  86,047   

arnings loss  be ore 
in o e taxes  $ (354,509)   2



In o e tax bene t  expense or the ears ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  onsists o  the ollowing

2023 2 22 2 2

urrent in o e taxes
 ederal  $ 67,054   

tate and lo al  11,851  2  2
Foreign  115,903  2  

otal urrent  194,808  2 2  2
e erred in o e taxes

 ederal  (50,089)  2  2
tate and lo al  (5,251)   

Foreign  (54,606)  2  
otal de erred  (109,946)   2
otal in o e tax expense  $ 84,862   2

he geographi  dispersion o  earnings and losses ontributes to the annual hanges in the o pan ’s e e ti e tax rates  
A substantial portion o  the o pan ’s business a ti ities are ondu ted in the nited tates  whi h ga e rise to a loss in the 

urrent ear  he o pan  is also sub e t to taxation in other urisdi tions where it has operations  in luding Australia  elgiu  
ra il  ulgaria  Fran e  Ireland  Ital  Luxe bourg  Mala sia  Mexi o  the Netherlands  New ealand  oland  ussia  pain and 

the nited ingdo  he e e ti e tax rates that the o pan  a rues in these urisdi tions ar  widel  but the  are generall  
lower than the o pan ’s o erall e e ti e tax rate  he o pan ’s do esti  e e ti e tax rates or the ears ended e e ber 

 2 2  2 22 and 2 2  were   and  respe ti el  and its non  e e ti e tax rates or the ears ended 
e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  were 2   and  respe ti el  he di eren e in rates appli able in oreign  

urisdi tions results ro  an  a tors  in luding lower statutor  rates  in rease in aluation allowan e  histori al loss arr orwards   
nan ing arrange ents  and other a tors  he o pan ’s e e ti e tax rate has been and will ontinue to be i pa ted b  the 

geographi al dispersion o  the o pan ’s earnings and losses  o the extent that do esti  earnings in rease while the oreign 
earnings re ain at or de rease  or in rease at a lower rate  the o pan ’s e e ti e tax rate will in rease

In o e tax expense bene t  attributable to earnings be ore in o e taxes di ers ro  the a ounts o puted b  appl ing the 
 statutor  ederal in o e tax rate to earnings be ore in o e taxes as ollows

2023 2 22 2 2

In o e taxes at statutor  rate  $ (74,447)   2
tate and lo al in o e taxes  net o  ederal in o e tax bene t  5,655   2

Foreign in o e taxes  (58,984)   
hange in aluation allowan e  302,825   

I pair ent o  non dedu tible goodwill  183,059  2  
arr ba k rate di erential 2  —   

Fixed asset ad ust ents  (6,562)  2  
Non dedu tible expenses  9,350  2  2

eneral business redits and in enti es  (316,329)  2  
lobal intangible low taxed in o e  215  2  

Ital  step up ad ust ent  —   22
rior period ad ust ents  (5,638)   
ax i pa t o  restru turing  25,428   
ax ontingen ies and audit settle ents  net  26,331   2
ther  net  (6,041)   2

In o e tax expense  $ 84,862  158,110  2
(1) o ei n in o e ta e  in l de tat to  ate di e en e  nan in  a an e ent  it oldin  ta e  lo al in o e ta e  notional ded tion  and ot e  i ellaneo  ite  
(2) e AR  A t e it  t e o an  to a  a  it  2 2   ta a le lo  to a ta  ea  e o e t e o o ate in o e ta  ate a  lo e ed  t e a  t  and o  A t
( ) e o an  eali ed a one-ti e talian te -  ene t allo in  o  t e eali n ent o  ta  a et al e
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he tax e e ts o  te porar  di eren es that gi e rise to signi ant portions o  the de erred tax assets and de erred tax liabili
ties as o  e e ber  2 2  and 2 22 are presented below

2023 2 22

e erred tax assets
A ounts re ei able  $ 26,179  
In entories  54,590  

plo ee bene ts  49,671  
A rued expenses and other  123,968  2

edu tible state tax and interest bene t  12,256  
Intangibles  122,621  22
Lease liabilities  100,389  
Interest expense  44,153  
Federal  oreign and state net operating losses and redits  814,384  

ross de erred tax assets  1,348,211  
aluation allowan e  (582,683)  2

Net de erred tax assets  765,528  2
e erred tax liabilities

In entories  (18,260)  
lant and e uip ent  (477,074)  

Intangibles  (181,433)  
ight o  use operating lease assets  (93,801)  2
repaids  (52,528)  
ther liabilities  (75,770)  
ross de erred tax liabilities  (898,866)  

Net de erred tax liabilit  $ (133,338)  2

he o pan  e aluates its abilit  to reali e the tax 
bene ts asso iated with de erred tax assets b  anal ing its 
ore asted taxable in o e using both histori  and pro e ted 
uture operating results  the re ersal o  existing te porar  

di eren es  taxable in o e in prior arr ba k ears i  
per itted  and the a ailabilit  o  tax planning strategies  

he aluation allowan e as o  e e ber  2 2  and 2 22 is 
2  and 2  respe ti el  he aluation allowan e  

as o  e e ber  2 2  relates to the net de erred tax 
assets o  ertain o  the o pan ’s oreign subsidiaries as 
well as ertain state net operating losses and tax redits   

he total hange in the 2 2  aluation allowan e was an 
in rease o  2  pri aril  related to a  redit 
re ei ed in wit erland where reali abilit  is un ertain as o  

e e ber  2 2  he total hange in the 2 22 aluation 
allowan e was an in rease o   related to in reased 
losses  oreign urren  translation  and other a ti ities

Manage ent belie es it is ore likel  than not that the 
o pan  will reali e the bene ts o  its de erred tax assets  

net o  aluation allowan es  based upon the expe ted 
re ersal o  de erred tax liabilities and the le el o  histori  
and ore asted taxable in o e o er periods in whi h the 
de erred tax assets are dedu tible

As o  e e ber  2 2  the o pan  has state net 
operating loss arr  orwards and state tax redits with 
potential tax bene ts o   net o  ederal in o e tax 
bene t  A aluation allowan e totaling  has been 
re orded against these state de erred tax assets as o  

e e ber  2 2  In addition  as o  e e ber  2 2   
the o pan  has redits and net operating loss arr  
orwards in the  with potential tax bene ts o   and 

in arious oreign urisdi tions with potential tax bene ts o  
2  A aluation allowan e o  2 2 and  

respe ti el  has been re orded against these de erred tax 
assets as o  e e ber  2 2  A portion o  the arr orwards  
expire o er arious periods beginning in 2 2  and the 
re aining arr orwards ha e an inde nite li e

he o pan  has no intentions or plans to repatriate  
oreign earnings and ontinues to assert that histori al 

earnings o  its oreign subsidiaries as o  e e ber  2 2   
are per anentl  rein ested  hould the re aining earnings be 
distributed in the or  o  di idends in the uture  the o pan  

ight be sub e t to withholding taxes possibl  o set b   
oreign tax redits  in arious oreign urisdi tions  but the  
o pan  would not expe t in re ental  ederal or state 

taxes to be a rued on these pre iousl  taxed earnings



Tax Uncertainties
In the nor al ourse o  business  the o pan ’s tax returns 

are sub e t to exa ination b  arious taxing authorities  u h  
exa inations a  result in uture tax and interest assess ents  
b  these taxing urisdi tions  A ordingl  the o pan  
a rues liabilities when it belie es that it is not ore likel  
than not that it will reali e the bene ts o  tax positions that 
it has taken in its tax returns or or the a ount o  an  tax 
bene t that ex eeds the u ulati e probabilit  threshold 
in a ordan e with A   hanges in re ognition 
or easure ent are re e ted in the period in whi h the 

hange in udg ent o urs  he o pan  re ords interest 
and penalties related to unre ogni ed tax bene ts in in o e 
tax expense bene t  i eren es between the esti ated 
and a tual a ounts deter ined upon ulti ate resolution   
indi iduall  or in the aggregate  are not expe ted to ha e a  

aterial ad erse e e t on the o pan ’s onsolidated nan ial  
position but ould possibl  be aterial to the o pan ’s 

onsolidated results o  operations or ash ow in an  gi en 
uarter or annual period

As o  e e ber  2 2  the o pan ’s gross a ount o  
unre ogni ed tax bene ts is  ex luding interest 
and penalties  I  the o pan  were to pre ail on all un ertain 
tax positions  2  o  the unre ogni ed tax bene ts would 
a e t the o pan ’s e e ti e tax rate  ex lusi e o  an  
bene ts related to interest and penalties

A re on iliation o  the beginning and ending a ount o  
unre ogni ed tax bene ts is as ollows

2023 2 22

alan e as o  anuar    2 2  2 2
Additions based on tax positions 
related to the urrent ear  4,139  
Additions or tax positions o  
a uired o panies  11,728  
Additions or tax positions o  
prior ears  21,744  

edu tions resulting ro  the 
lapse o  the statute o  li itations  (422)  

ettle ents with taxing authorities  (873)  
e ts o  oreign urren  

translation  37,926  
alan e as o  e e ber  $ 1,304,874  2 2

As a result o  the rede ption o  h brid instru ents in 
response to hanges in global tax regi es  the o pan  has 
an A   liabilit  or the ull tax e e ted loss on h brid 
instru ents  his A   liabilit  is re orded as a 
redu tion to the related de erred tax asset in the nan ial 
state ents as a result o  anage ent’s deter ination that 
it is not ore likel  than not that the bene t will be reali ed  

he tax e e ted loss was ad usted or oreign urren  
translation hanges in 2 2  resulting in an updated balan e 
o  2  as o  e e ber  2 2

As o  e e ber  2 2  and 2 22  the o pan  has 
2 2  and  respe ti el  a rued or the pa ent 

o  interest and penalties  ex luding the ederal tax bene t 
o  interest dedu tions where appli able  uring the ears 
ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 and 2 2  the o pan  
a rued interest and penalties through in o e tax expense 
o    and 2  respe ti el  

he o pan  belie es that its unre ogni ed tax bene ts 
ould de rease b  22  within the next twel e onths  
he o pan ’s 2  2  and 2 2  ederal tax returns are 
urrentl  under audit b  the Internal e enue er i e  As 

per itted b  the A  A t  the o pan  arried ba k its 
2 2  taxable losses to tax ears be ore the orporate in o e 
tax rate was lowered b  the ax ut and obs A t  Federal 
in o e tax atters related to ears prior to 2  ha e been 
e e ti el  settled  arious other state and oreign in o e tax 
returns are open to exa ination or arious ears  

(16) Commitments and Contingencies
he o pan  had approxi atel   and  in 

standb  letters o  redit or arious insuran e ontra ts and 
o it ents to oreign endors as o  e e ber  2 2  

and 2 22  respe ti el  that expire within two ears  

Fro  ti e to ti e in the regular ourse o  its business  the 
o pan  is in ol ed in arious lawsuits  lai s  in estiga

tions and other legal atters  x ept as noted below  there 
are no aterial legal pro eedings pending or known b  the 

o pan  to be onte plated to whi h the o pan  is a 
part  or to whi h an  o  its propert  is sub e t

Perfluorinated Compounds (“PFCs”) Litigation
In e e ber 2  arrod ohnson led a putati e lass 

a tion against ertain anu a turers  suppliers  and users 
o  he i als ontaining ertain per uorinated o pounds 

F s  in the uperior ourt o  Flo d ount  eorgia 
purporting to represent all water subs ribers with the o e 

eorgia  Water and ewer i ision and or the Flo d ount  
eorgia  Water epart ent seeking to re o er  a ong 

other things  da ages in the or  o  alleged in reased  
rates and sur harges in urred b  ratepa ers or the osts 
asso iated with eli inating ertain F s ro  their drinking 
water  as well as in un ti e relie  he de endants re o ed 
the lass a tion to ederal ourt  he o pan  has led a 

otion or su ar  udg ent and that otion is pending 
be ore the ourt  

In April 2 2  helb  ount  Alaba a and alladega 
ount  Alaba a led a o plaint in the ir uit ourt o  
alladega ount  Alaba a against ertain anu a turers  

suppliers  and users o  he i als ontaining ertain F s  
seeking onetar  da ages and in un ti e relie  lai ing 
that their water supplies ontain ex essi e a ounts o  F s  

he de endants re o ed the ase to ederal ourt  he 
o pan  belie es the allegations are without erit  

and ontinues to igorousl  de end against lai s  
relating to its prior use o  ertain F s in the arpet 

anu a turing pro ess
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Securities Actions
he o pan  and ertain o  its present and or er 

exe uti e o ers were na ed as de endants in a putati e 
state se urities lass a tion lawsuit led in the uperior ourt 
o  the tate o  elaware on anuar   2 2  he o plaint 
alleged that de endants iolated e tions  and 2 o  the 

e urities A t o   and was led on behal  o  shareholders 
who pur hased shares o  the o pan ’s o on sto k in 
Mohawk Industries etire ent lan  and Mohawk Industries 

etire ent lan 2 between April 2  2  and ul  2  2  
he parties rea hed an agree ent in prin iple to settle the 

lawsuit in ex hange or the dis issal and a release o  all 
lai s against the de endants  he settle ent agree ent  

whi h is sub e t to ourt appro al  is without ad ission o  
ault or wrongdoing b  de endants  he ourt will hold a 
nal settle ent hearing on Mar h 2  2 2  he o pan  

belie es the allegations in the lawsuit are without erit

he o pan  and ertain o  its present and or er exe uti e  
o ers were na ed as de endants in ertain in estor a tions   

led in the tate ourt o  Fulton ount  o  the tate o  eorgia  
on April 22  2 2  and April 2  2 2  he lai s alleged in lude  
raud  negligent isrepresentation  iolations o  the eorgia 
e urities A t  and iolations o  the eorgia a keteering and 
orrupt rgani ations statute  lainti s in the in estor a tions 

seek o pensator  and puniti e da ages  n tober  2 2   
the in estor a tions were trans erred b  the tate ourt o  
Fulton ount  to the Metro Atlanta usiness ase i ision  

n tober  2 2  plainti s led a ended o plaints in 
the re aining our in estor a tions  he o pan  belie es 
the lai s are without erit and intends to igorousl  de end 
against the lai s in these a tions

he o pan  and ertain o  its present and or er  
exe uti e o ers were na ed as de endants in three  
additional non lass a tion lawsuits led in the nited 

tates istri t ourt or the Northern istri t o  eorgia  
on une 22  2 2  the Ma eri k A tion  Mar h 2  2 22 
the ound A tion  and April 2  2 22 the Fir ree 

A tion  and olle ti el  Federal In estor A tions  
respe ti el  a h o plaint is brought on behal  o  one 
or ore purported or er Mohawk sto kholders  he 
ederal law lai s in luded iolations o  e tions b  and 

 o  the e urities x hange A t o   and ule b  
pro ulgated thereunder  and that the o ers are ontrol 
persons under e tion 2 a  o  the e urities x hange 
A t o   he state law lai s in luded raud  negligent 

isrepresentation  iolations o  the eorgia e urities A t  
and iolations o  the eorgia a keteering and orrupt 

rgani ations statute  he parties rea hed settle ent 
agree ents and led stipulations o  oluntar  dis issal with 
pre udi e in all three Federal In estor A tions  he ourt 
granted dis issal and ter inated the Ma eri k A tion  the 

ound A tion and the Fir ree A tion on tober  2 2  
e e ber 2  2 2  and e e ber 2  2 2  respe ti el  
he o pan  ontinues to belie e the allegations in the 

Federal In estor A tions were without erit

he o pan  and ertain o  its exe uti e o i ers and 
dire tors were na ed as de endants in ertain deri ati e 
a tions iled in the nited tates istri t ourt or  
the Northern istri t o  eorgia on Ma   2 2  and 
August  2 2  respe ti el  the N A eri ati e 
A tions  in the uperior ourt o  ordon ount  o  
the tate o  eorgia on Mar h  2 2  and ul  2  2 2  
the eorgia eri ati e A tions  and in the elaware 
ourt o  han er  on Mar h  2 22 the elaware 
eri ati e A tion  he o plaints allege that de endants 

brea hed their du iar  duties to the o pan  b  ausing 
the o pan  to issue ateriall  alse and isleading 
state ents  n e e ber 2  2 2  plainti s in the N A 

eri ati e A tions led an a ended o plaint  he 
o pan  belie es the lai s are without erit and  

intends to igorousl  de end against the lai s

General
he o pan  belie es that ade uate pro isions or 

resolution o  all ontingen ies  lai s and pending litigation 
ha e been ade or probable losses that are reasonabl  
esti able  hese ontingen ies are sub e t to signi ant 
un ertainties and the o pan  is unable to esti ate the 
a ount or range o  loss  i  an  in ex ess o  a ounts a rued  

he o pan  does not belie e that the ulti ate out o e 
o  these a tions will ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on its 

nan ial ondition but ould ha e a aterial ad erse e e t 
on its results o  operations  ash ows or li uidit  in a gi en 

uarter or ear   

he o pan  is sub e t to arious ederal  state  lo al and  
oreign en iron ental health and sa et  laws and regulations   

in luding those go erning air e issions  wastewater dis harges   
the use  storage  treat ent  re ling and disposal o  solid 
and ha ardous aterials and nished produ t  and the 

leanup o  onta ination asso iated therewith  e ause 
o  the nature o  the o pan ’s business  the o pan  
has in urred  and will ontinue to in ur  osts relating to 

o plian e with su h laws and regulations  he o pan  is 
in ol ed in arious pro eedings relating to en iron ental  

atters and is urrentl  engaged in en iron ental 
in estigation  re ediation and post losure are progra s 
at ertain sites  he o pan  has pro ided a ruals or 
su h a ti ities that it has deter ined to be both probable 
and reasonabl  esti able  he o pan  does not expe t 
that the ulti ate liabilit  with respe t to su h a ti ities will 
ha e a aterial ad erse e e t on its nan ial ondition but 
a knowledges that it ould ha e a aterial ad erse e e t 
on its results o  operations  ash ows or li uidit  in a gi en 

uarter or ear

 



(17) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Information
upple ental dis losures o  ash ow in or ation are as ollows

2023 2 22 2 2

Net ash paid during the ears or  
Interest  $ 86,426   
In o e taxes  $ 187,012  2  2

upple ental s hedule o  non ash in esting and nan ing a ti ities
npaid propert  plant and e uip ent in a ounts pa able and  

a rued expenses  $ 81,138   

Fair alue o  assets a uired  net o  liabilities assu ed
Fair alue o  net assets a uired in a uisition  $ 677,057  2  2
Liabilities assu ed in a uisition  (161,651)  2  2
Fair alue o  net assets a uired  $ 515,406  2 2  2

 (18) Segment Reporting
he o pan  has three reporting seg ents  lobal era i   

Flooring NA and Flooring W  lobal era i  designs  
anu a tures  sour es and arkets a broad line o  era i  

tile  por elain tile  natural stone  por elain slabs  uart   
ountertops and other produ ts  whi h it distributes pri aril   

in North A eri a  urope and Latin A eri a through its network  
o  regional distribution enters and o pan operated 
ser i e enters using o pan operated tru ks  o on 

arriers or rail transportation  he seg ent’s produ t lines 
are sold through o pan operated ser i e enters  
independent distributors  ho e enter retailers  tile and 

ooring retailers and ontra tors  Flooring NA designs  
anu a tures  sour es and arkets its oor o ering produ t 

lines  in luding arpets  rugs  arpet pad  la inate  resilient 
in ludes sheet in l and L  and wood ooring  whi h 

it distributes through its network o  regional distribution 
enters and satellite warehouses using o pan operated 

tru ks  o on arriers or rail transportation  he seg ent’s 
produ t lines are sold through arious selling hannels  
in luding independent oor o ering retailers  distributors  
ho e enters  ass er handisers  depart ent stores  
shop at ho e  bu ing groups  o er ial ontra tors and 

o er ial end users  Flooring W designs  anu a tures   
sour es  li enses and arkets la inate  sheet in l  L  wood  

ooring  roo ng ele ents  insulation boards  ediu densit   
berboard M F  hipboards and other wood produ ts  

whi h it distributes pri aril  in urope and Australasia 
through arious selling hannels  whi h in lude retailers  

o pan operated distributors  independent distributors 
and ho e enters

he a ounting poli ies or ea h operating seg ent are 
onsistent with the o pan ’s poli ies or the onsolidated 

Finan ial tate ents  A ounts dis losed or ea h seg ent 
are prior to an  eli ination or onsolidation entries  orporate 

general and ad inistrati e expenses attributable to ea h 
seg ent are esti ated and allo ated a ordingl  eg ent 
per or an e is e aluated based on operating in o e  No 
single usto er a ounted or ore than  o  net sales or 
the ears ended e e ber  2 2  2 22 or 2 2

eg ent in or ation is as ollows

2023 2 22 2 2

Assets
lobal era i $ 4,988,347   

Flooring NA  3,909,943  2  2
Flooring W  4,051,647  2  

orporate and 
interseg ent 
eli inations  609,932  2  

otal $ 13,559,869  2 2  22

eographi  net sales
nited tates $ 6,040,058   2
urope 2  3,380,980   2

Latin A eri a  767,773  2 2  2
ther  946,304   

otal $ 11,135,115   2

Long li ed assets  
nited tates $ 2,312,850  2  2
elgiu  980,855   
ther  2,127,993   

otal $ 5,421,698   2 2
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2023 2 22 2 2

Net sales b  produ t ategories
era i   tone  $ 4,293,084  2 2  
arpet  esilient  3,955,360  2  2 2

La inate  Wood  1,732,614   2
ther  1,154,057  2  

otal  $ 11,135,115   2

Net sales
lobal era i  $ 4,300,107   

Flooring NA  3,829,386  2  
Flooring W  3,005,622  222  

otal  $ 11,135,115   2
(1)  on -li ed a et  a e o o ed o  o e t  lant and e i ent - net  and R  o e atin   

lea e a et
(2) R ia e en e in l ded in o e
( ) t e  in l de  oo n  ele ent  in lation oa d  i oa d  and P ont a t

2023 2 22 2 2

perating in o e loss
lobal era i  $ (166,448)  2  

Flooring NA  (57,182)  2  
Flooring W  69,727   2

orporate and 
interseg ent 
eli inations  (133,905)   2

otal  $ (287,808)  2 2  

epre iation and a orti ation
lobal era i  $ 213,113   2

Flooring NA  221,064  2 2  2 2
Flooring W  187,464   

orporate  8,686  2  2
otal  $ 630,327   

apital expenditures ex luding a uisitions
lobal era i  $ 249,033  2  22

Flooring NA  193,948  2  2
Flooring W  156,767   

orporate  13,181   
otal  $ 612,929  2  2

(19) Subsequent Event
n anuar   2 2  the o pan  prepaid the entiret  o  

the  portion o  the er  Loan Fa ilit  in the a ount o  
 n Februar   2 2  the o pan  prepaid the 

entiret  o  the  portion o  the er  Loan Fa ilit  in the 
a ount o  22

Item .  C an es in an  isa reements it  
Accountants on Accountin  an   
Financial Disclosure

Not appli able

Item A. Controls an  roce ures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
ased on an e aluation o  the e e ti eness o  the 

o pan ’s dis losure ontrols and pro edures as de ned in 
ules a e  and d e  under the e urities x hange 

A t o   as a ended  whi h ha e been designed to pro
ide reasonable assuran e that su h ontrols and pro edures 

will eet their ob e ti es  as o  the end o  the period o ered 
b  this report  the o pan ’s hie  xe uti e er and 

hie  Finan ial er ha e on luded that su h ontrols and 
pro edures were e e ti e at a reasonable assuran e le el or 
the period o ered b  this report



Management’s Report on Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting

he o pan ’s anage ent is responsible or establishing  
and aintaining ade uate internal ontrol o er nan ial 
reporting as de ned in ule a  under the e urities 

x hange A t o   as a ended  he o pan  
aintains internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting designed 

to pro ide reasonable assuran e regarding the reliabilit  o  
nan ial reporting and the preparation o  nan ial state ents  
or external purposes in a ordan e with generall  a epted 

a ounting prin iples

e ause o  its inherent li itations  internal ontrol o er 
nan ial reporting a  not pre ent or dete t isstate ents  

Also  pro e tions o  an  e aluation o  e e ti eness to uture 
periods are sub e t to the risk that ontrols a  be o e 
inade uate be ause o  hanges in onditions  or that the 
degree o  o plian e with the poli ies or pro edures a  
deteriorate  here ore  internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting  
deter ined to be e e ti e pro ides onl  reasonable assuran e  
regarding the reliabilit  o  nan ial reporting and the 
preparation o  nan ial state ents or external purposes in 
a ordan e with generall  a epted a ounting prin iples

nder the super ision and with the parti ipation o   
anage ent  in luding the o pan ’s rin ipal xe uti e 

er and rin ipal Finan ial er  the o pan   
ondu ted an e aluation o  the e e ti eness o  the design 

and operation o  the o pan ’s internal ontrol o er nan ial  
reporting as o  e e ber  2 2  In ondu ting this 
e aluation  the o pan  used the ra ework set orth in the 
report titled Internal ontrol  Integrated Fra ework 2  
issued b  the o ittee o  ponsoring rgani ations o  the  
readwa  o ission  ased on the results o  this e aluation   
anage ent has on luded that the o pan ’s internal 

ontrol o er nan ial reporting was e e ti e as o   
e e ber  2 2  

he e e ti eness o  the o pan ’s internal ontrol 
o er nan ial reporting as o  e e ber  2 2  has been 
audited b  M  LL  an independent registered publi  
a ounting r  as stated in their audit report whi h is 
in luded herein

Changes in Internal Control Over  
Financial Reporting

here were no hanges in the o pan ’s internal  
ontrol o er nan ial reporting during the ear ended 
e e ber  2 2  that ha e ateriall  a e ted  or are 

reasonabl  likel  to ateriall  a e t  the o pan ’s  
internal ontrol o er nan ial reporting

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls
he o pan ’s anage ent re ogni es that a ontrol  

s ste  no atter how well on ei ed and operated  an 
pro ide onl  reasonable  not absolute  assuran e that the 
ob e ti es o  the ontrol s ste  are et  Further  the design 
o  a ontrol s ste  ust re e t the a t that there are resour e 

onstraints  and the bene ts o  ontrols ust be onsidered 
relati e to their osts  e ause o  the inherent li itations in  
all ontrol s ste s  no e aluation o  ontrols an pro ide  
absolute assuran e that all ontrol issues and instan es o  
raud  i  an  within the o pan  ha e been dete ted

Item B. t er Information

None

Item C.  Disclosure Re ar in  Forei n uris ictions 
t at re ent Ins ections

Not appli able
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PART III
 

Item 1 .   Directors  ecuti e fficers an   
Cor orate o ernance

he in or ation re uired b  this ite  is in orporated 
b  re eren e to in or ation ontained in the o pan ’s 

rox  tate ent or the 2 2  Annual Meeting o  
to kholders under the ollowing headings  le tion o  
ire tors ire tor  ire tor No inee and xe uti e er 

In or ation  No inees or ire tor  ontinuing 
ire tors  ontra tual bligations with respe t to the 
le tion o  ire tors  xe uti e ers  Meetings 

and o ittees o  the oard o  ire tors  e tion a  
ene ial wnership eporting o plian e  Audit 
o ittee  and orporate o ernan e  he o pan  has 

adopted the Mohawk Industries  In  tandards o  ondu t 
and thi s  whi h applies to all o  its dire tors  o ers and 
e plo ees  he standards o  ondu t and ethi s are publi l  
a ailable on the o pan ’s website at http www ohawk
ind o  and will be ade a ailable in print without harge to 
an  sto kholder who re uests the  I  the o pan  akes 
an  substanti e a end ents to the standards o  ondu t 
and ethi s  or grants an  wai er  in luding an  i pli it wai er  
ro  a pro ision o  the standards re uired b  regulations o  

the o ission to appl  to the o pan ’s hie  exe uti e 
o er  hie  nan ial o er or hie  a ounting o er  
the o pan  will dis lose the nature o  the a end ent 
or wai er on its website  he o pan  a  ele t to also 
dis lose the a end ent or wai er in a report on For   

led with the  he o pan  has adopted the Mohawk 
Industries  In  oard o  ire tors orporate o ernan e 

uidelines  whi h are publi l  a ailable on the o pan ’s 
website and will be ade a ailable in print without harge  
to an  sto kholder who re uests it

Item 11.  ecuti e Com ensation

he in or ation re uired b  this ite  is in orporated b  
re eren e to in or ation ontained in the o pan ’s rox  

tate ent or the 2 2  Annual Meeting o  to kholders 
under the ollowing headings  o pensation is ussion 
and Anal sis  xe uti e o pensation u ar  

o pensation able  rants o  lan ased Awards  
utstanding uit  Awards at ear nd  ption 

xer ises and to k ested  Non uali ed e erred 
o pensation  ertain elationships and elated 
ransa tions  o pensation o ittee Interlo ks and 

Insider arti ipation  o pensation o ittee eport  
and ire tor o pensation

Item 1 .   ecurit  ners i  of Certain Beneficial 
ners an  ana ement an  Relate  

tock ol er atters

he in or ation re uired b  this ite  is in orporated b  
re eren e to in or ation ontained in the o pan ’s rox  

tate ent or the 2 2  Annual Meeting o  to kholders 
under the ollowing headings  xe uti e o pensation

uit  o pensation lan In or ation  and rin ipal 
to kholders o  the o pan

Item 1 .   Certain Relations i s an  Relate  
Transactions  an  Director In e en ence

he in or ation re uired b  this ite  is in orporated b  
re eren e to in or ation ontained in the o pan ’s rox  

tate ent or the 2 2  Annual Meeting o  to kholders 
under the ollowing heading  le tion o  ire tors
Meetings and o ittees o  the oard o  ire tors  
and xe uti e o pensation ertain elationships and 

elated ransa tions

Item 1 . rinci al Accountin  Fees an  er ices

ur independent registered publi  a ounting r  is 
M  LL  Atlanta  A  Auditor I    

he in or ation re uired b  this ite  is in orporated b  
re eren e to in or ation ontained in the o pan ’s rox  

tate ent or the 2 2  Annual Meeting o  to kholders 
under the ollowing heading  Audit o ittee rin ipal 
A ountant Fees and er i es  and le tion o  ire tors
Meetings and o ittees o  the oard o  ire tors



PART IV

Item 1 . ibits  Financial tatement c e ules

(a) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
he onsolidated Finan ial tate ents o  Mohawk Industries  In  and subsidiaries listed in art II  Ite   o  this For   are 

in orporated b  re eren e into this ite

2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
hedules not listed abo e ha e been o itted be ause the  are not appli able or the re uired in or ation is in luded in the 

onsolidated Finan ial tate ents or notes thereto

3. Exhibits
he exhibit nu ber or the exhibit as originall  led is in luded in parentheses at the end o  the des ription

Mohawk  
Exhibit  
Number Description

2 Agree ent and lan o  Merger dated as o  
e e ber   and a ended as o  anuar  
  a ong Mohawk  AMI A uisition orp  

Aladdin and ertain hareholders o  Aladdin  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit 2 a  

in the o pan ’s egistration tate ent on For  
 egistration No  22

estated erti ate o  In orporation o  Mohawk  
as a ended  In orporated herein b  re eren e to 

xhibit  in the o pan ’s Annual eport on For  
 or the s al ear ended e e ber  

2 estated laws o  Mohawk  In orporated herein 
b  re eren e to xhibit  in the o pan ’s eport 
on For   dated Februar   2
Indenture  dated as o  anuar   2  b  and 
between Mohawk Industries  In  and  ank 
National Asso iation  as rustee In orporated 
herein b  re eren e to xhibit  o  the o pan ’s 

urrent eport on For   dated anuar   2
2 First upple ental Indenture  dated as o  anuar  

 2  b  and between Mohawk Industries  In  
and  ank National Asso iation  as rustee 
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit 2 o  

the o pan ’s urrent eport on For   dated 
anuar   2

For  o  Note or the  enior Notes due 2 2  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit  o  

the o pan ’s urrent eport on For   dated 
anuar   2

Mohawk  
Exhibit  
Number Description

hird upple ental Indenture  dated as o  Ma  
 2 2  b  and between Mohawk Industries  In  

and  ank National Asso iation  as trustee  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit 2 o  

the o pan ’s urrent eport on For   led on 
Ma   2 2
For  o  Note or the 2  enior Notes due 2  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit  o  

the o pan ’s urrent eport on For   dated 
Ma   2 2
Indenture  dated as o  epte ber  2  b  and 
a ong Mohawk apital Finan e A  as issuer  
Mohawk Industries  In  as parent guarantor 
and  ank National Asso iation  as trustee  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit  to 

the o pan ’s urrent eport on For   dated 
epte ber  2

Fourth upple ental Indenture  dated as o  une 
2  2 2  b  and a ong Mohawk apital Finan e 
A  as issuer  Mohawk Industries  In  as parent 

guarantor   ank National Asso iation  as trustee  
registrar and trans er agent and la on Finan ial 

er i es A  as pa ing agent  In orporated herein 
b  re eren e to xhibit 2 o  the o pan ’s urrent 

eport on For   led on une 2  2 2
For  o  Note or the  enior Notes due 2 2  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit  o  

the o pan ’s urrent eport on For   dated 
une 2  2 2
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Mohawk  
Exhibit  
Number Description

Fourth upple ental Indenture  dated as o  
epte ber  2 2  b  and between Mohawk 

Industries  In  and  ank rust o pan  
National Asso iation as su essor in interest 
to  ank National Asso iation  as trustee  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit 2 to 

the o pan ’s urrent eport on For   dated 
epte ber  2 2  

For  o  Note or the  enior Notes due 
2 2  In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit 

 to the o pan ’s urrent eport on For   
dated epte ber  2 2

es ription o  egistrant’s e urities  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit  o  

the o pan ’s Annual eport on For   led 
on Februar  2  2 22

egistration ights Agree ent b  and a ong 
Mohawk and the or er shareholders o  Aladdin  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit 2 

o  the o pan ’s Annual eport on For   
File No   or the s al ear ended 
e e ber  

2 Wai er Agree ent between Alan  Lorberbau  
and Mohawk dated as o  Mar h 2   to the 

egistration ights Agree ent dated as o  Februar  
2   between Mohawk and those other persons 
who are signatories thereto  In orporated herein 
b  re eren e to xhibit  o  the o pan ’s 

uarterl  eport on For   File No   
or the uarter ended ul  2  
e ond A ended and estated redit Fa ilit  

dated tober  2  b  and a ong the 
o pan  and ertain o  its subsidiaries  as 

borrowers  Wells Fargo ank  National Asso iation  
as ad inistrati e agent  swing line lender  and an 
L  issuer  and the other lenders part  thereto  
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit  o  

the o pan ’s urrent eport on For   dated 
tober  2

Mohawk  
Exhibit  
Number Description

First A end ent to e ond A ended and estated 
redit Agree ent  dated as o  April  2 2  b   

and a ong the o pan  and ertain o  its  
subsidiaries  as borrowers  Wells Fargo ank  
National Asso iation  as ad inistrati e agent  
swing line lender  and an L  issuer  and the other 
lenders part  thereto  In orporated herein b  
re eren e to xhibit 2 o  the o pan ’s urrent 

eport on For   led on April  2 2
e ond A end ent to e ond A ended and 
estated redit Agree ent  dated as o  Ma   2 2  

b  and a ong the o pan  and ertain o  its  
subsidiaries  as borrowers  Wells Fargo ank  
National Asso iation  as ad inistrati e agent  and 
the other lenders part  thereto  In orporated 
herein b  re eren e to xhibit 2 o  the o pan ’s 

urrent eport on For   led on Ma   2 2
hird A end ent to e ond A ended and 
estated redit Agree ent  dated as o   

tober 2  2 2  b  and a ong the o pan  and 
ertain o  its subsidiaries  as borrowers  Wells Fargo 
ank  National Asso iation  as ad inistrati e agent  

and the other lenders part  thereto  In orporated 
herein b  re eren e to xhibit  o  the  

o pan ’s Annual eport on For   led on 
Februar  2  2 22
Fourth A end ent to e ond A ended and 

estated redit Agree ent  dated as o  August 
2  2 22  b  and a ong the o pan  and ertain 

o  its subsidiaries  as borrowers  Wells Fargo ank  
National Asso iation  as ad inistrati e agent  
swing line lender  and an L  issuer  and the other 
lenders part  thereto  In orporated herein b  
re eren e to xhibit  o  the o pan ’s urrent 

eport on For   led on August 2  2 22



Mohawk  
Exhibit  
Number Description

redit Agree ent  dated as o  August 2  2 22  
b  and a ong the o pan  and Mohawk 
International oldings  r l  as borrowers  ertain 
o  its subsidiaries  as guarantors  Wells Fargo ank  
National Asso iation  as ad inistrati e agent  and 
the lenders part  thereto  In orporated herein b  
re eren e to xhibit 2 o  the o pan ’s urrent 

eport on For   led on August 2  2 22
First A end ent to redit Agree ent and 
In rease Agree ent  dated as o  tober  2 22   
b  and a ong the o pan  and Mohawk 
International oldings  r l  as borrowers   

ertain o  its subsidiaries  as guarantors  Wells Fargo  
ank  National Asso iation  as ad inistrati e agent  

and the lenders part  thereto  In orporated herein 
b  re eren e to xhibit  o  the o pan ’s 

uarterl  eport on For   led on  
tober 2  2 22

Exhibits Related to Executive Compensation Plans, 
Contracts and other Arrangements:

er i e Agree ent dated e e ber  2  b  
and between Mohawk International er i es A 
and o   ernard hiers  In orporated 
herein b  re eren e to xhibit  o  the 

o pan ’s Annual eport on For   or  
the s al ear ended e e ber  2

plo ent Agree ent dated e e ber 2  2  
b  and between Mohawk arpet  LL  and aul F  e 

o k In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit 
22 o  the o pan ’s Annual eport on For   

or the s al ear ended e e ber  2
2 he Mohawk Industries  In  enior Manage ent 

e erred o pensation lan  as a ended and 
restated as o  anuar   2  In orporated herein 
b  re eren e to xhibit  in the o pan ’s 
annual report on For   or the s al ear 
ended e e ber  2
Mohawk Industries  In  Non plo ee ire tor 

to k o pensation lan  In orporated herein b  
re eren e to xhibit  o  the o pan ’s Annual 

eport on For   led on Februar  2  2 22

Mohawk  
Exhibit  
Number Description

Mohawk Industries  In  2 2 In enti e lan 
In orporated herein b  re eren e to Appendix  

A o  the o pan ’s e niti e rox  tate ent  
on hedule A File No   led with  
the e urities and x hange o ission on  
April  2 2
Mohawk Industries  In  2  In enti e lan 
In orporated herein b  re eren e to Annex  o  the 
o pan ’s e niti e rox  tate ent on hedule 
A File No   led with the e urities 

and x hange o ission on April  2
For  o  estri ted to k nit Award Agree ent 
In orporated herein b  re eren e to xhibit  

o  the o pan ’s Annual eport on For   led 
on Februar  22  2 2

2 ubsidiaries o  the egistrant
22 ubsidiar  uarantors
2 onsent o  Independent egistered ubli  

A ounting Fir  M  LL
erti ation ursuant to ule a a

2 erti ation ursuant to ule a a
2 erti ation ursuant to e tion  o  the 

arbanes xle  A t o  2 2
2 2 erti ation ursuant to e tion  o  the 

arbanes xle  A t o  2 2
Mine a et  is losure pursuant to e tion 

a  o  the odd Frank Wall treet e or  and 
onsu er rote tion A t
oli  elating to e o er  o  rroneousl  Awarded 
o pensation

IN L Instan e o u ent
L axono  xtension he a o u ent

AL L axono  xtension al ulation Linkbase 
o u ent

F L axono  xtension e nition Linkbase 
o u ent

LA L axono  xtension Label Linkbase 
o u ent

L axono  xtension resentation Linkbase 
o u ent
o er age Intera ti e ata File e bedded 

within the Inline L do u ent and ontained  
in xhibit 

 ndi ate  e i it in o o ated  e e en e
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 SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused 

this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Mohawk Industries  In   

Februar  2  2 2    s     FF   L A M
  Jeffrey S. Lorberbaum
  C airman an  C ief ecuti e f cer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following 
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Februar  2  2 2   s     FF   L A M
  Jeffrey S. Lorberbaum
  C airman an  C ief ecuti e f cer
  rinci al e ecuti e of cer

Februar  2  2 2   s     AM  F  N
  James F. Brunk
  C ief Financial f cer
  rinci al nancial of cer

Februar  2  2 2   s     WILLIAM W  A IN
  William W. Harkins
  C ief Accountin  f cer an  Cor orate Controller
  rinci al accountin  of cer

Februar  2  2 2   s       MANN        
  Bruce C. Bruckmann
  Director

Februar  2  2 2   s      W  I
  Jerry W. Burris
  Director

Februar  2  2 2   s     N M  N I
  John M. Engquist
  Director

Februar  2  2 2   s    A  N A         
  Joseph A. Onorato
  Director

Februar  2  2 2   s     WILLIAM  N  III        
  William H. Runge III
  Director

Februar  2  2 2   s     A N A  MI  A         
  Karen A. Smith Bogart
  Director

Februar  2  2 2   
  Bernard P. Thiers
  Director

Februar  2  2 2   s     W  I  W LL N 
  W. Christopher Wellborn
  Director



Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures
Adjusted Net Earnings

ear nding e e ber 

A ounts in thousands  ex ept 2023

Net earnings (loss) attributable to Mohawk Industries, Inc.  $ (439,516)

Adjusting items:  

estru turing  a uisition  integration related and other osts  129,323

In entor  step up ro  pur hase a ounting  4,476

I pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles   877,744

Legal settle ents  reser es and ees  87,824

elease o  inde ni ation asset  (2,957)

uropean tax restru turing  (9,999)

In o e taxes  re ersal o  un ertain tax position  2,957

In o e taxes  i pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles  (12,838)

In o e tax e e t o  ad usting ite s  (50,038)

Adjusted net earnings attributable to Mohawk Industries, Inc.  $ 586,976

Ad usted diluted earnings per share attributable to Mohawk Industries  In  $ 9.19

Weighted a erage o on shares outstanding  diluted  63,892
(1)  in  t e t i d a te  o  2 2  d e to t e i a t o  a i e  A  a oe ono i  ondition  and t e ed tion in t e o an  a et a itali ation  t e o an  e o ed inte i  i ai ent te t  o  

it  ood ill and inde nite-li ed intan i le a et  i  e lted in i ai ent a e  o   illion ( 5 illion net o  ta )

Reconciliation of Net Sales to Net Sales on Constant Shipping Days and on a Constant Exchange Rate

wel e Months nded
A ounts in thousands December 31, 2023 e e ber  2 22

Net sales  $ 11,135,115  
Ad ust ent to net sales or onstant shipping da s  20,707  
Ad ust ent to net sales or onstant ex hange rates  71,553  
Ad ust ent to net sales or a uisition olu e  (389,018)  
Net sales on onstant shipping da s and on a onstant ex hange rate  $ 10,838,357  
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Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures
Adjusted EBITDA

ear nding e e ber 

A ounts in thousands 2023

Net earnings loss  in luding non ontrolling interests  $ (439,371)

Interest expense  77,514 

In o e tax expense  84,862 

Net in o e attributable to non ontrolling interest  (145)

epre iation and a orti ation  630,327 

EBITDA  353,187 

estru turing  a uisition and integration related and other osts  96,218 

In entor  step up ro  pur hase a ounting  4,476 

I pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles 2  877,744 

Legal settle ent  reser es and ees  87,824 

elease o  inde ni ation asset  (2,957)

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 1,416,492 

Ad usted I A as a per ent o  net sales  12.7%

Net debt less short ter  in est ents to ad usted I A  1.5 
(1)  n l de  a ele ated de e iation o  1  o  2 2
(2)  in  t e t i d a te  o  2 2  d e to t e i a t o  a i e  A  a oe ono i  ondition  and t e ed tion in t e o an  a et a itali ation  t e o an  e o ed inte i  i ai ent te t  o  

it  ood ill and inde nite-li ed intan i le a et  i  e lted in i ai ent a e  o   illion ( 5 illion net o  ta )

Net Debt
A ounts in thousands 2023

urrent portion o  long ter  debt and o er ial paper  $  1,001,715

Long ter  debt  less urrent portion   1,701,785

otal debt   2,703,500

Less  ash and ash e ui alents   642,550

Net debt   2,060,950

Net debt less short-term investments  $ 2,060,950 

Liquidity
ear nding e e ber 

A ounts in thousands 2023

otal e ol er A ailabilit  $ 1,950,000

e ol er orrowing  (67,117)

Letter o  redit utstanding  (746)

otal Li uidit  $ 1,882,137

Free Cash Flow

wel e Months nded
A ounts in thousands  ex ept per share data December 31, 2023

Net ash pro ided b  operating a ti ities  $ 1,329,229

Less  apital expenditures  612,929

Free ash ow  $ 716,300



Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Measures
Adjusted Operating Income (Loss)

A ounts in thousands 2023

GLOBAL CERAMIC

Operating income (loss)  $ (166,448)

Adjustments to segment operating income (loss):

estru turing  a uisition and integration related and other osts  37,116

In entor  step up ro  pur hase a ounting  4,112

I pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles  426,868

Adjusted segment operating income  $ 301,648

Ad usted operating in o e as a per ent o  net sales  7.0%

FLOORING NA  

Operating income (loss)  $ (57,182)

Adjustments to segment operating income (loss):  

estru turing  a uisition and integration related and other osts  51,688

I pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles 215,809

Legal settle ent  reser es and ees (3,875)

Adjusted segment operating income  $ 206,440

Ad usted operating in o e as a per ent o  net sales  5.4%

FLOORING ROW 

Operating income  $ 69,727

Adjustments to segment operating income:

estru turing  a uisition and integration related and other osts  43,237

In entor  step up ro  pur hase a ounting  364

I pair ent o  goodwill and inde nite li ed intangibles  235,067

Adjusted segment operating income  $ 348,395

Ad usted operating in o e as a per ent o  net sales  11.6%

CORPORATE AND INTERSEGMENT ELIMINATIONS

Operating (loss)  $ (133,905)

Adjustments to segment operating (loss):

estru turing  a uisition and integration related and other osts  162

Legal settle ents  reser es and ees  91,699

Adjusted segment operating (loss)  $ (42,044)
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Publications
he o pan ’s Annual eport  rox  
tate ent  For    and  

reports are a ailable without harge 
and an be ordered ia our sto kholder 
o uni ations ser i e at  2 22  

or ia the Internet at ohawkind o  under 
In estors  Written re uests should be sent 
to hailesh ettadapur  i e resident 
o  In estor elations  at the o pan ’s 
head uarters address abo e

Product Inquiries
For ore in or ation about Mohawk’s 
produ ts  isit our websites  

ohawk ooring o
karastan o

ohawkgroup o
daltile o
a eri anolean o

ara igroup o
itro ex o

eliane o
eli abethre esti entas o br
pergo o

ui k step o
oduleo o

unilinpanels o
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god re hirst o
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Investor/Analyst Contact
For additional in or ation about Mohawk  
please onta t hailesh ettadapur  i e 

resident o  In estor elations  at  
 2 2  or at the o pan ’s 

head uarters address

Annual Meeting of Stockholders
he Annual Meeting o  to kholders o  

Mohawk Industries  In  will be held at the 
ti e and lo ation spe i ed in our Noti e o  
Annual Meeting o  to kholders or 2 2

Company Stock
Mohawk’s o on sto k is traded on the 
New ork to k x hange under the  
s bol M  

Equal Opportunity
In the  Mohawk is an ual pportunit
A r ati e A tion e plo er o itted to 
attra ting a di erse pool o  appli ants and 
sustaining an in lusi e work or e

Sustainability
For detailed in or ation on Mohawk s 
o it ent to sustainable produ ts  

pro esses and pra ti es  please isit 
ohawksustainabilit o

N SE Af rmation Certi cations
As a listed o pan  with the New ork to k 

x hange N  Mohawk is sub e t to 
ertain orporate o ernan e standards as 

re uired b  the N  and or the e urities 
and x hange o ission  A ong 
other re uire ents  Mohawk’s  as 
re uired b  e tion A 2 a  o  the N  
Listing o pan  Manual  ust erti  to the 
N  ea h ear whether or not he is aware 
o  an  iolations b  the o pan  o  N  

orporate o ernan e listing standards as 
o  the date o  the erti ation  n une  
2 2  Mohawk’s  e re   Lorberbau  
sub itted su h a erti ation to the N  
whi h stated that he was not aware o  an  
iolation b  Mohawk o  the N  orporate 
o ernan e listing standards  

he o pan  has led the erti ations 
o  its hie  xe uti e er and hie  
Finan ial er re uired b  e tion 2 o  

arbanes xle  A t o  2 2 as an exhibit 
to the o pan ’s For   or the ear 
ended e e ber  2 2

STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPHSTOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
he ollowing line graph o pares the earl  hange in the 
o pan ’s u ulati e total sto kholder returns to those o  the 
tandard  oor’s   Index and the   ousehold 
urables Index beginning on e e ber   2  and ending  

on e e ber  2 2

otal return alues were al ulated based on u ulati e total return 
assu ing the alue o  the in est ent in the o pan s o on 

to k and in ea h index on e e ber  2  was  and that 
all di idends were rein ested
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